


2016
 (thousand)  (thousand)

Sales Revenue 1,300,229,397.51 1,181,934

Other Operating Income 149,114,189.21 168,839
thereof from currency translation  32,442,041.22 (previous year  53,045 (thousand))

Personnel Expenses
Wages and Salaries -172,607,137.86 -166,977
Social securities, pensions and other benefits -29,204,554.03 -27,206
 thereof pensions  13,348,209.78 (previous year  13,083 (thousand)) -201,811,691.89 -194,183

Depreciation
of intangible and tangible assets -24,312,255.56 -24,367

Other Operating Expenses -720,012,185.23 -708,438
thereof from currency translation  26,006,321.49 (previous year  88,636 (thousand))

Income from Participating Interests 37,281,900.85 18,174
thereof from affiliated companies  35,094,177.96 (previous year  16,929 (thousand))

Income from Profit and Loss Agreements 167,173,191.40 147,084

Income from Financial Assets: Long-Term Securities and Loans 7,840,661.10 1,497

Interest and Similar Income 19,861,444.68 3,330
thereof from affiliated companies  1,426,548.12 (previous  939 (thousand))
thereof from addition of discounted interest  3,460,640.00 (previous year  0 (thousand))

Depreciation of Current Assets: Financial Assets and Securities -17,996,248.05 -46,689
thereof to affiliated companies  1,182,654.40 (previous year  30,358 (thousand))

Interest and Similar Charges -114,191,665.32 -103,242
thereof to affiliated companies  2,732,426.75 (previous year  3,715 (thousand))
thereof from addition of discounted interest  10,248,024.87 (previous year  26,933 (thousand))

Tax on Profit -49,948,827.39 -128,033

Income after Taxes 553,227,911.31 315,906

Other Taxes 7,338.70 14

Net Income for the Financial Year 553,235,250.01 315,920

Withdrawal from other profit reserves 0 109,080

 Allocations to other profit reserve -108,235,250.01 0

Unappropriated Surplus 445,000,000.00 425,000

2015

Deutsche Börse Aktiengesellschaft, Frankfurt/Main
Profit and Loss Account

for the period 1 January to 31 December 2016
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Notes to the financial statements for financial year 2016 

General information on the Company 

Deutsche Börse AG (the “Company”), which has its registered office in Frankfurt/Main, Germany, is 
registered in Commercial Register B of Frankfurt/Main District Court under the number HRB 32232. 

Accounting policies 

Deutsche Börse AG’s financial statements for financial year 2016 were prepared in accordance with 
the provisions of the Handelsgesetzbuch (HGB, German Commercial Code) and of the Aktiengesetz 
(AktG, the German Stock Corporation Act). 

The total cost accounting method was chosen for the income statement. 

The Company is a large corporation as defined by section 267 (3) HGB. 

Interest expense resulting from the investment of funds at negative interest rates is recognised in the 
“interest and similar charges” item. Interest income resulting from borrowing funds at negative 
interest rates is reported under “interest and similar income”. 

The form of presentation and the structure of the sequential balance sheets and income statements 
has not been maintained. The informative value of comparisons with the figures for previous years 
is limited due to the entry into force of the Bilanzrichtlinie-Umsetzungsgesetz (“BilRUG”, the German 
Act -Implementing the Accounting Directive) on 1 January 2016. The figures for previous years have 
not been adjusted in line with the changed financial reporting regulations. Please refer to our 
comments on sales revenue in particular. 

Fixed assets 

Acquired intangible assets are carried at cost and amortised using the straight-line method or valued 
at the lower fair value. No use was made of the option to capitalise internally generated intangible 
assets. 

Purchased goodwill is capitalised upon acquisition and subjected to scheduled amortisation. 

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost. Depreciable property, plant and equipment is 
depreciated using the straight-line method over its useful life or valued at its lower fair value.  

 

Low-value fixed assets with acquisition costs of up to 410 were written off directly in financial year 
2016 in accordance with section 6 (2) of the Einkommensteuergesetz (EStG, German Income Tax 
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Act). In this respect, no use was made of the option granted by section 6 (2a) EStG to create a 
compound item.  

Investments in affiliated companies stated under financial assets as well as equity investments are 
carried at the lower of cost or fair value. Loans to affiliated companies and other loans are recognised 
at nominal value, taking into account any permanent impairment, where applicable. Securities are 
carried at acquisition cost or at the lower exchange rate on the reporting date, in the event of 
permanent impairment. If the circumstances which led to the non-scheduled write-down of financial 
assets no longer apply, a reversal is recognised up to a maximum of the original acquisition cost. 

Fixed asset line items denominated in foreign currency have been translated into euro amounts using 
the exchange rates valid on the date of acquisition; in cases of permanent impairment, the conversion 
is at the period-end exchange rate. 

Current assets 

Receivables and other assets are always carried at their nominal amount. All discernible risks are 
impaired on an item-by-item basis, while latent risks are considered on a portfolio basis. 

Credit balances with banks are carried at their nominal value. 

Receivables and other assets and credit balances at banks which are held in foreign currencies are 
translated using the ECB’s reference exchange rate or Bloomberg’s exchange rate on the balance 
sheet date, taking section 256a HGB into account. 

 

Equity 

The subscribed capital is carried at nominal value. 
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Provisions 

Provisions for pensions and other employee benefits have been calculated along with the projected 
benefit obligation on the basis of actuarial tables using the modified “2005 G” mortality tables 
(generation tables) developed by Dr Klaus Heubeck and fully adjusted in 2011.  

Actuarial assumptions 

 31.12.2016 31.12.2015 

Pensions and similar obligations % % 

10-year average discount rate 4.01 - 

7-year average discount rate 3.24 3.89 

Salary growth 3.50 3.50 

Pension growth 2.00 2.00 
Staff turnover rate 2.00 2.00 
Deferred compensation programme   
Discount rate 4,01 3.89 

 

In accordance with section 246 (2) HGB, the settlement amount of pension liabilities as at the 
reporting date was offset against the fair value of those assets that are protected from all creditors 
and exclusively serve the purpose of meeting liabilities arising from pension obligations or 
comparable long-term commitments to employees (“plan assets”). 

The values of the provisions for the Stock Bonus Plan and Long-term Sustainable Instrument (LSI) 
are calculated on the basis of the price of Deutsche Börse AG's shares on the reporting date. The 
provision for the Co-Performance Investment Plan (CPIP) was recognised pro rata temporis, taking 
the relationship between the vesting period that has already passed and the overall term of the 
tranches into account. The measurement was based on an option pricing model that takes the 
programme’s key parameters into account. 

The provisions for anniversary payments and early retirement were measured at the amount to be 
paid in accordance with actuarial principles, and for early retirees at present value. The projected 
unit credit method was applied as the basis of this assessment. During the year under review, the 
interest rate of 3.24 per cent (previous year: 3.89 per cent) published by the German Ministry of 
Finance was applied. The modified “2005 G” mortality tables developed by Dr Klaus Heubeck and 
fully adjusted in 2011 were the basis of these projections. 

For all hedge accounting procedures as defined by section 254 HGB, Deutsche Börse AG exercises 
the option of only stating hedges on the balance sheet to the extent that the hedge was ineffective 
and a negative result arises (compensatory valuation/net hedge presentation method). In such an 
event, a provision for contingent losses is recognised. 
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The other provisions have been estimated in consideration of all known risks and unknown liabilities 
as at the balance sheet date and were estimated at the amount which is required to be paid according 
to a reasonable commercial assessment. Provisions with a maturity of more than one year are 
discounted using the market interest rates published by Deutsche Bundesbank according to the 
remainder of their maturity. 

Liabilities 

In accordance with section 253 (1) HGB, these liabilities are recognised at their respective 
settlement amounts. 

Liabilities in foreign currencies are translated using the ECB’s reference exchange rate or Bloomberg’s 
exchange rate on the balance sheet date, taking section 256a HGB into account. 

Deferred taxes 

Deferred taxes are calculated in accordance with section 274 HGB on temporary differences between 
the carrying amounts according to commercial law and their taxable values. Deferred tax liabilities 
are only reported insofar as they exceed deferred tax assets. 

In view of the existing single-entity relationship for tax purposes with Clearstream Holding AG, 
temporary differences between the carrying amounts according to commercial law and their taxable 
values of this company were accounted for at the level of the controlling company, Deutsche Börse 
AG. Calculations of deferred taxes are based on the expected combined income tax rate of all the 
companies comprising a single entity for tax purposes with Deutsche Börse AG, which currently 
stands at 27.5 per cent. 

As at 31 December 2016, the excess of deferred tax assets amounted to 19.9 million (previous 
year: 31.1 million). The excess of deferred tax assets is mainly the result of differences in the 
carrying amounts in the provisions for pensions, their related cover assets and restructuring 
provisions. 

In accordance with section 274 (1) clause 2 HGB, the Company refrained from reporting the excess 
of deferred tax assets. Deferred taxes are calculated on the basis of the tax rates in effect or expected 
in Germany on the date they are recovered. 

There is currently a uniform rate of corporation tax of 15 per cent plus a solidarity surcharge of 5.5 
per cent. Taking trade tax into account, this results in an aggregate tax rate of 27.5 per cent. There 
were no carryforwards of tax losses as at the reporting date. 
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Valuation units 

The Company exercises its option to create valuation units. The main reason it does so is to hedge 
against interest rate and currency risks by creating valuation units comprising assets, liabilities or 
transactions that are highly likely to be concluded as well as suitable hedging transactions. 
Effectiveness is monitored using suitable methods such as the critical term match or hypothetical 
derivative methods. 

Notes to the balance sheet 

Fixed assets 

The changes in fixed assets are described in the statement of changes in fixed assets. 

In financial year 2016, write-downs of 18.0 million (previous year: 41.9 million) were recognised 
on financial assets. Impairment losses totalling 11.3 million were recognised on account of the 
unsatisfactory economic performance of Global Markets Exchange Group International LLP, 
Bondcube Ltd., R5FX Ltd. and Impendium Systems Ltd. A loan granted as part of an asset deal 
( 6.5 million) was also written off because it is thought to be irrecoverable. In addition, impairment 
losses were recognised on loans to companies in which Deutsche Börse AG holds an equity interest 
( 0.2 million). 

 

Goodwill 

A useful life of 10 years is assumed for the goodwill purchased in 2011 as part of an asset deal. 
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Shares in affiliated companies 

As at 31 December 2016, Deutsche Börse AG had investments in affiliated companies as follows: 

Company Domicile Equity 

in  thous. 1) 

2016 net 

profit/loss in  

thous. 

Equity 

interest  

direct 

(indirect) 

Assam SellerCo, Inc. USA 21.907 142 100,00% 

Assam SellerCo Service, Inc. 2) USA n/a n/a (100,00)% 

MNI Financial and Economic Information 

(Beijing) Co. Ltd. 

China 238 22 (100.00)% 

Need to Know News, LLC USA 1.994 0 (100.00)% 

Börse Frankfurt Zertifikate AG Germany 13.168 3.972 100.00% 

Börse Frankfurt Zertifikate Holding S.A. 

in liquidation 

Luxembourg 171 -93 100,00% 

Clearstream Holding AG Germany 2.285.314 167.173 100.00% 

Clearstream International S.A. Luxembourg 1.103.930 188.005 (100.00)% 

Clearstream Banking S.A. Luxembourg 1.193.498 172.084 (100.00)% 

Clearstream Banking Japan, Ltd. Japan 1.379 163 (100.00)% 

REGIS-TR S.A. Luxembourg 6.129 548 (50.00)% 

Clearstream Banking AG Germany 346.133 47.517 (100.00)% 

Clearstream Global Securities Services 

Ltd. 

Ireland 9.870 1.823 (100.00)% 

Clearstream Operations Prague s.r.o. Czech Republic 7.221 425 (100.00)% 

Clearstream Services S.A. Luxembourg 110.557 5.910 (100.00)% 

Deutsche Börse Asia Holding Pte. Ltd. Singapore 15.237 -4.553 100.00% 
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Company Domicile Equity 

in  thous. 1) 

2016 net 

profit/loss in  

thous. 

Equity 

interest  

direct 

(indirect) 

Eurex Clearing Asia Pte. Ltd. Singapore 10.397 176 (100.00)% 

Eurex Exchange Asia Pte. Ltd. Singapore 472 -2.060 (100.00)% 

DB1 Ventures GmbH Germany 12 -13 100,00% 

Deutsche Börse Market Data + Services 

Singapore Pte. Ltd. 

Singapore 315 -619 100.00% 

Deutsche Boerse Systems, Inc. USA 38.020 6.672 100.00% 

Deutsche Börse Photography Foundation 

gGmbH 

Germany 177 16 100.00% 

Deutsche Börse Services s.r.o. Czech Republic 9.598 2.284 100.00% 

Eurex Frankfurt AG Germany 1.635.692 512.630 100.00% 

Eurex Clearing AG Germany 364.813 2.209 (100.00)% 

Eurex Clearing Security Trustee GmbH Germany 79 1 (100.00) % 

Eurex Bonds GmbH Germany 10.785 344 (79.44)% 

Eurex Repo GmbH Germany 7.000 4.237 (100.00)% 

Eurex Global Derivatives AG Switzerland 496.809 62.898 100.00% 

Eurex Zürich AG Switzerland 302.565 5.461 (100.00)% 

European Energy Exchange AG Germany 129.282 66.132 (62.91)% 

Agricultural Commodity Exchange GmbH Germany 2.046 -1.697 (62.91)% 

APX Shipping B.V. Netherlands 0 32 (62,91)% 

Cleartrade Exchange Pte. Ltd. Singapore 2.656 -1.618 (62,91)% 

EEX Link GmbH Germany 51 3 (62,91)% 

European Commodity Clearing AG Germany 73.935 48.195 (62.91)% 
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Company Domicile Equity 

in  thous. 1) 

2016 net 

profit/loss in  

thous. 

Equity 

interest  

direct 

(indirect) 

European Commodity Clearing 

Luxembourg S.à.r.l. 

Luxembourg 82 68 (62.91)% 

EEX Power Derivatives GmbH Germany 6.018 27.666 (62.91)% 

Global Environmental Exchange GmbH Germany 48 -2.690 (62.91)% 

Power Exchange Central Europe a.s. Czech Republic  1.266 146 (41,94)% 

Powernext SA France 29.803 9.927 (55.19)% 

EPEX Spot SE France 65.135 22.845 (28.97)% 

APX Commodities Ltd. United Kingdom 2.146 280 (28.97)% 

EPEX Netherlands B.V. Netherlands 0 0 (28.97)% 

EPEX SPOT Belgium S.A. Belgium 3.782 239 (28,97)% 

EPEX SPOT Schweiz AG Switzerland 146 20 (28.97)% 

JV Epex-Soops B.V. Netherlands 186 11 (17.38)% 

Gaspoint Nordic A/S Denmark 687 688 (55,19)% 

PEGAS CEGH Gas Exchange Services 

GmbH 

Austria 7.117 -367 (28,14)% 

Eurex Services GmbH (dormant) Germany 101 0 100.00% 

Finnovation S.A. Luxembourg 197.876 45.072 100.00% 

Impendium Systems Ltd. United Kingdom 578 -697 100.00% 

STOXX Ltd. Switzerland 117.384 52.797 100.00% 

STOXX Australia Pty Limited Australia 39 19 (100.00)% 

Tradegate Exchange GmbH Germany 1.537 526 78.72% 
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Company Domicile Equity 

in  thous. 1) 

2016 net 

profit/loss in  

thous. 

Equity 

interest  

direct 

(indirect) 

360T Treasury Systems AG Germany 43.434 13.633 100.00% 

360T Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd. Singapore 2.786 -74 (100.00)% 

360 Trading Networks Inc. USA 6.446 116 (100.00)% 

360 Trading Networks LLC UAE 336 41 (100.00)% 

Finbird GmbH Germany 1.424 0 (100.00)% 

Finbird Ltd. Israel -315 -49 (100.00)% 

ThreeSixty Trading Networks (India) 

Pte.Ltd. 

India 898 27 (100.00)% 

1) Includes capital reserves and retained earnings, accumulated gains or losses and net profit or loss for the year and, if necessary, 
further components according to the respective local GAAP 

2) The Assam SellerCo Service, Inc. is contained in the subgroupe of Assam SellerCo, Inc.  

 

The currency exchange rate was used as of December 31, 2016 for the conversion of the equity and 
net profit/loss from foreign currencies. 

 

Equity investments 

As at 31 December 2016, Deutsche Börse AG held the following equity investments: 
 

Company Domicile Equity 
in  thous. 1) 

2016 net 
profit/loss in  

thous. 

Equity 
interest  
direct 

(indirect) 

Bondcube Limited in Administration United Kingdom -426 -251 30,00% 

BrainTrade Gesellschaft für 
Börsensysteme mbH 

Germany 1.614 214 (28.58)% 

China Europe International Exchange AG Germany 21.897 -4.373 40.00% 
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Company Domicile Equity 

in  thous. 1) 
2016 net 

profit/loss in  
thous. 

Equity 
interest  
direct 

(indirect) 

Deutsche Börse Commodities GmbH Germany 4.752 2.126 16,20% 

Digital Vega FX Ltd United Kingdom 912 124 24,03% 

figo GmbH Germany 6.682 -1.975 18,67% 

Global Markets Exchange Group 
International LLP  

United Kingdom 456 -172 45,13% 

Index Marketing Solutions Limited United Kingdom -1 0 31,45% 

LuxCSD S.A. Luxembourg 5.747 425 (50,00)% 

PHINEO gAG Germany 3.647 783 12,00% 

R5FX Ltd United Kingdom 164 -1.375 24,37% 

SEEPEX a.d. Serbia 1.512 -243 (7,24)% 

Switex GmbH Germany 25 0 40,00% 

Tradegate AG Wertpapierhandelsbank Germany 42.637 12.644 14,86% 

ZDB Cloud Exchange GmbH in 
Liquidation 

Germany 158 -902 49,90% 

Zimory GmbH in Liquidation Germany 413 -525 30,03% 

 
The currency exchange rate was used as of December 31, 2016 for the conversion of the equity and 
net profit/loss from foreign currencies. 
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Receivables from affiliated companies 

The item breaks down as follows: 

 31.12.2016 31.12.2015 

 m m 

Receivables from affiliated companies   

 Trade receivables 93.8 71.4 

 Other assets 339.8 177.7 

 Of which resulting from the profit and loss transfer  

 agreement with Clearstream Holding AG 

167.2 147.1 

 Of which resulting from a loan to 

 Deutsche Börse Systems Inc. 

161.6 0.0 

Total receivables from affiliated companies 433.6 249.1 

 

Receivables from companies in which the Company has a participating interest 

This balance sheet item primarily comprises trade receivables from companies in which the Company 
has a participating interest. 

 

Prepaid expenses 

Prepaid expenses contain discounts for bond issues as defined by section 250 (3) HGB of 
8.7 million (previous year: 10.5 million). 

 

Deferred tax assets 

Deutsche Börse AG does not exercise the option to recognise deferred tax assets. 

 

Equity 

The fully paid-in share capital amounts to 193.0 million, and is divided into 193,000,000 no-par 
value registered shares. 

There were 6,194,985 treasury shares held at the end of the year (previous year: 6,276,014), 
representing 3.2 per cent of share capital. As part of employee programmes, 81,029 shares were 
sold at a price of 5.9 million during financial year 2016. On the basis of the share price of 77.62 
as at 31 December 2016, the shares are valued at 480.9 million. This figure results primarily from 
share buybacks since 2005. 
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Subject to the agreement of the Supervisory Board, the Executive Board is authorised to increase the 
subscribed share capital by the following amounts: 

 Amount in  Date of 

shareholder 

approval 

Conclusion of 

approval 

process 

Existing shareholders’ pre-emptive rights 

may be disapplied for fractioning and/or 

may be disapplied if the share issue is: 

Authorised 

share capital 

I* 

13,300,000 11 May 2016 10 May 2021 - N/A 

Authorised 

share capital 

II* 

19,300,000 13 May 2015 12 May 2020 - for cash at an issue price not 

significantly lower than the exchange-

traded share price up to a maximum 

amount of 10 per cent of the nominal 

capital to issue new shares 

- against non-cash contributions for the 

purpose of acquiring companies, parts 

of companies, interests in companies, 

or other assets 

Authorised 

share capital 

III* 

38,600,000 13 May 2015 12 May 2020 N/A 

Authorised 

share capital 

IV 

6,000,000 16 May 2012 15 May 2017 - for the issuance of up to 900,000 new 

shares per year to Executive Board 

members and employees of the 

Company as well as to the management 

and employees of affiliated companies 

within the meaning of sections 15 et 

seq. AktG  

*Shares may only be issued without subscription rights if during the term of the authorisation the total number of new 
shares issued without subscription rights (including those issued in accordance with other authorisations) does not 
constitute more than 20 per cent of the share capital. 
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Contingent capital  

By resolution of the Annual General Meeting on 15 May 2014, the Executive Board was authorised 
– until 14 May 2019 and subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board – to issue individual or 
multiple convertible bonds and/or bonds with warrants or a combination of these instruments having 
a total nominal value of up to 2,500,000,000 and with limited or unlimited terms and to grant the 
holders/creditors conversion rights and/or options on new no-par value registered shares in Deutsche 
Börse AG with a proportionate interest in the share capital totalling up to 19,300,000, subject to 
the terms and conditions of the convertible bonds/the warrants attached to the bonds with warrants.  
 
Subject to the Supervisory Board’s approval, the Executive Board is authorised to disapply 
shareholders’ pre-emptive rights to bonds with conversion rights or options on shares in Deutsche 
Börse AG in the following cases: (i) For the purpose of eliminating fractions; (ii) If a bond’s issue 
price is not significantly lower than the theoretical market value calculated using recognised financial 
and mathematical methods and the sum of the shares attributable to these bonds does not exceed 
10 per cent of the share capital; (iii) To grant the holders of conversion rights and/or options on 
shares in Deutsche Börse AG as many pre-emptive rights as they would be entitled to after exercising 
these rights, for the purpose of eliminating dilution.   
 
The bonds may also be issued by German or foreign-domiciled companies affiliated with Deutsche 
Börse AG in accordance with sections 15 et seq. AktG. As a result, the share capital was increased 
conditionally by up to 19,300,000 (contingent capital 2014). So far, no use has been made of 
the authorisation to issue convertible bonds and/or bonds with warrants. 
 
No other rights to acquire shares existed at 31 December 2016 or 31 December 2015. 
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The Company’s capital reserves and retained earnings performed as follows: 

 Capital reserves Retained earnings 

  Statutory reserve Other retained 

earnings 

Total 

 m m m m 

     

Brought forward as at 

1 January 2016 

1,363.4 0.0 528.9 528.9 

Addition from previous year’s 

net profit 

0.0 0.0 4.9 4.9 

Addition from 2016 net 

income 

0.0 0.0 108.2 108.2 

Addition due to sale of own 

shares 

1.8 0.0 4.0 4.0 

Balance as at 31 December 

2016 

1,365.2 0.0 646.0 646.0 

 

An amount of 27.2 million is generel barred from distribution in accordance with section 268 (8) 
HGB. This comprises the following components: 

 31.12.2016 31.12.2015 

 m m 

Plan assets pursuant to section 246 (2) clause 2 HGB 

(amount from the capitalisation of assets at fair value 

pursuant to section 246 (2) clause 2 HGB less deferred 

tax liabilities owed on this amount) 

9.9 4.5 

Pension provision difference pursuant to section 253 (6) 

HGB (difference between the 10-year and 7-year average 

discount on pension provisions less deferred tax 

liabilities owed on this amount) 

17.3 0.0 

 

However, since the freely available reserves exceed the dividend-restricted amounts, this distribution 
block does not exist in accordance with section 253 (6) clause 2 HGB and section 268 (8) HGB. 
 
A profit carryforward from the previous year amounting to 4.9 million was held in financial year 
2016. 
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Proposal for the appropriation of earnings 
 
The Executive Board proposes appropriating the net profit of EUR 445,000,000 reported in Deutsche 
Börse AG's annual financial statements as follows: 

Distributing EUR 2.35 for each no-par value share granting entitlement to a dividend, i.e. EUR 
438,991,785.25 in total, and adding an amount of EUR 6,008,214.75 to “Other retained 
earnings”. 

The proposed appropriation of earnings takes into account the treasury shares held directly or 
indirectly by the Company, which do not grant entitlement to a dividend pursuant to section 71b 
AktG. The number of shares granting entitlement to a dividend may increase or decrease prior to the 
Annual General Meeting as a result of the acquisition of treasury shares (with or without the 
subsequent withdrawal of the acquired shares) or the sale of treasury shares. In this case, a 
correspondingly amended proposal for a resolution regarding the appropriation of earnings will be 
submitted to the Annual General Meeting, with an unchanged distribution of EUR 2.35. 

Provisions for pensions and other employee benefits 

The cumulative costs of the plan assets amount to 173.8 million (previous year: 161.0 million). 

The plan assets, which correspond to a 71.4 per cent share (previous year: 69.9 per cent) in a 
domestic alternative investment fund as defined by section 1 (10) of the Kapitalanlagegesetzbuch 
(KAGB, German Capital Investment Code), had a fair value at the balance sheet date of 187.4 
million (previous year: 167.2 million), which is equivalent to the current value as defined by section 
278 in conjunction with section 168 KAGB. This special fund is an international mixed fund (mixed 
special fund) with regulatory investment restrictions. In accordance with the investment guidelines, 
an absolute return approach with a capital protection mechanism is applied and investments can be 
made in different asset classes. During the period under review, 7.6 million (previous year: 3.9 
million) was withdrawn. 6.1 million of this amount consisted of ongoing pension payments and 
was immediately added back to the plan assets. A total amount of 20.3 million (previous year: 
19.1 million) was added to the special fund in the year under review. This asset is protected from 

any creditor claims and is thus not repayable on demand.  
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Pension liabilities on the basis of section 246 (2) clause 2 HGB 

  m 

Pension obligations payable 205.4 

Fair value of plan assets -187.4 

Provisions for pensions and other employee benefits  18.0 

 
Netting profit and loss  

  m 

Expenses arising from pension obligations 0.1 

Net income stated under personnel expenses 0.1 

Interest expense arising from pension obligations -4.0 

Reversal of plan assets 7.5 

Income from plan assets 0.1 

Net income stated under financial result 3.6 
 

Due to a change in the HGB relating to the implementation of the Mortgage Credit Directive, the 
pension provisions have been discounted using a 10-year average discount since 2016 (until 
2015: 7-year average discount). The resulting difference is as follows: 

Value of obligation based on different discount rates m 

Pension provision discounted using 10-year average 212,496,277.00 

Pension provision discounted using 7-year average 236,397,995.00 

Difference 23,901,718.00 

 
The difference less deferred taxes may not be distributed pursuant to section 253 (6) HGB. 
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Other provisions 

Other provisions, amounting to 199.1 million, comprise the following: 

 m 

Variable remuneration 42.1 

Provisions made as part of the efficiency programmes 40.5 

Interest relating to tax audit 33.1 

Outstanding invoices 23.9 

Phantom stock option plans and stock bonus plan 17.0 

Other personnel provisions 16.9 

Anticipated losses relating to derivatives and others 9.3 

Obligation to reimburse current and future pension payments to the chamber of commerce (IHK) on 

the basis of the transition agreement 

8.1 

Process risks 2.3 

Anticipated losses from leases and asset retirement obligations 2.2 

Remuneration for the Supervisory Board  1.8 

Miscellaneous provisions 1.9 

Total other provisions 199.1 
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Liabilities 

Liabilities are divided into the categories below. Lien rights or similar rights are not included in 
liabilities. 

Amount in m Total amount Thereof: > 

5 years 

Bonds (previous year) 2,300.0 

(2,660.5) 

1,700.0 

(1,700.0) 

Trade payables (previous year) 19.5 

(36.6) 

0.0 

(0.0) 

Liabilities towards affiliated companies (previous year) 2,399.9 

(1,213.8) 

0.0 

(0.0) 

    - Thereof trade payables (previous year) 82.2 

(59.3) 

0.0 

(0.0) 

    - Thereof other liabilities (previous year) 2,317.7 

(1,154.5) 

0.0 

(0.0) 

Payables to other companies in which the Company has a participating interest 

(previous year) 

0.0 

(0.1) 

0.0 

(0.0) 

    - Thereof trade payables (previous year) 0.0 

(0.1) 

0.0 

(0.0) 

    - Thereof other liabilities (previous year) 0.0 

(0.0) 

0.0 

(0.0) 

Other liabilities (previous year) 39.7 

(33.3) 

0.0 

(0.1) 

   - Thereof taxes (previous year) 3.6 

(3.6) 

0.0 

(0.0) 

   - Thereof social security contributions (previous year) 0.1 

(0.2) 

0.0 

(0.0) 

Total liabilities (previous year) 4,759.1 

(3,944.3) 

1,700.0 

(1,700.1) 

 

Lien rights or similar rights are not included in liabilities. 
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Income statement disclosures 

Sales revenue 

Based on the definition of sales revenue that applied in financial year 2016, sales revenue would 
have amounted to 1,280.5 million in the preceding financial year. The discrepancy of 98.6 
million stems in particular from the classification of non-typical services as sales revenue in 
accordance with BilRUG. In the past, this compensation was reported as other operating income. 

Sales revenue breaks down by field of activity as follows: 

Sales revenue by segment 2016 

Eurex 799.4 

MD+S 275.8 

Xetra 175.8 

Clearstream 49.2 

Total 1,300.2 
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Other operating income 

Other operating income breaks down as follows: 

 2016 2015 

After BilRUG 

2015 

Before BilRUG 

 m m m 

Disposal of equity interests 99.0 5.7 5.7 

Income from currency translation 32.4 53.0 53.0 

Reversal of provisions from previous years 12.8 5.4 5.4 

Income from receivables impaired in previous 

years 

1.3 2.6 2.6 

Other 3.6 3.8 5.2 

Agency agreements for affiliated companies 0.0 0.0 96.9 

Total other operating income 149.1 70.5 168.8 
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Other operating expenses 

Other operating expenses break down as follows: 

 2016 2015 

 m m 

Agency fees to affiliated companies 241.7 252.6 

Legal and consulting expenses 199.5 154.5 

IT services 51.4 43.0 

Lease expenses 39.4 41.0 

Sales of price information 32.5 30.2 

CCP transactions 28.4 6.3 

Non-deductible input tax 13.4 7.3 

Xetra Market Services 12.9 15.0 

Advertising and marketing 9.5 9.1 

Communication network 8.1 9.1 

Price information from regional stock exchanges and 

exchange brokers 

7.8 7.4 

Travel, hospitality and entertainment expenses 6.4 7.2 

Contributions, charges and fees 4.5 3.2 

Incidental personnel costs 3.1 3.3 

Currency translation expenses 

   from exchange rate differences 

   from the valuation of bonds in USD 

 

 

26.0 

0.0 

 

 

47.6 

41.0 

Other 35.4 30.6 

Total other operating expenses 720.0 708.4 
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Expenses of 1.8 million relating to other periods are also included in the “Other” item. These are 
bad debts. 

 

 

Expenses relating to other periods 

 Amount  

m 

Processing of CCP (subsequent charging for the years 2013 – 2015) 14.2 

Bad debts 1.8 

Agency fees to affiliated companies 0.5 

Total expenses relating to other periods 16.5 

 

Auditor’s fee 

The Company is included in the scope of consolidation of Deutsche Börse AG. In accordance with 
section 285 (17) HGB, disclosures as to the auditor’s fee are contained in the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements of Deutsche Börse AG. 

 

Other disclosures 

Disclosures on derivative financial instruments and hedging transactions  

Deutsche Börse AG held derivative financial instruments on the balance sheet date. These are carried 
at fair value, and some have been designated as part of hedging transactions. 

Deutsche Börse AG has made payments in connection with a service agreement whose repayment 
depends on the occurrence of future events. Since these conditions are not closely related to the 
underlying contract, the embedded derivative was carried separately. It had a negative fair value of 
EUR 3.3 million on 31 December 2016. 
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Disclosures on valuation units 

The Company reports the following transactions in derivative financial instruments that are the 
subject of a valuation unit as defined by section 254 HGB as at the balance sheet date: 

  

Risk Underlying transaction Hedging instrument Type of cash-

generating unit 

Prospective 

effectivenes

s 

 Type Type  Amount Risk Amount   

Currency 

risk 

Hedging of 

currency risks 

relating to the 

potential 

devaluation of 

the USD against 

the euro  

Part of a loan to a 

subsidiary of 

Deutsche Börse 

AG that is 

denominated in 

USD 

$170.0 

million 

Forward 

exchange 

transaction: 

sale of USD 

on 31 March 

2017 

$170.0 

million 

Cash flow hedge  Hypothetical 
derivative 
method 

 

The hedge was completely effective during the period under review. Due to changes in the value of 
the USD against the euro, an expense of EUR 6.0 million was recognised with an effect on income. 
This is offset by corresponding income from the valuation of the loan in the foreign currency.  
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Other financial obligations and transactions not included in the balance sheet 

 

Amount in m Total amount Thereof: up to 1 

year 

Thereof: 1-5 

years 

Thereof: > 5 years 

Rental, leasing and maintenance 

contracts (previous year) 

191.0 (239.9) 36.7 (48.0) 95.3 (110.9) 59.0 (81.0) 

Management and agency 

contracts (previous year) 

273.8 (249.4) 273.8 (249.4) 0.0 (0.0) 0.0 (0.0) 

- Thereof to            affiliated or 

associated companies 

(previous year) 

272.3 (249.4) 272.3 (249.4) 0.0 (0.0) 0.0 (0.0) 

Other contracts, including service 

agreements (previous year) 

16.6 (9.2) 4.9 (4.6) 8.2 (4.0) 3.5 (0.6) 

 

Deutsche Börse AG issued a letter of comfort in favour of Eurex Clearing AG on 15 June 2016. In 
it, Deutsche Börse AG undertakes to provide Eurex Clearing AG with the financial resources it requires 
to meet its obligations. The maximum aggregate amount to be provided in accordance with the letter 
of comfort is 600 million. If Deutsche Börse AG makes payments to Eurex Clearing AG in the form 
of borrowed capital on the basis of the letter of comfort dated 15 June 2016, these payments shall 
be made available to Eurex Clearing AG in the form of an interest-free loan. The letter of comfort 
does not grant any rights to third parties. The letter of comfort issued by Deutsche Börse AG on 15 
June 2016 replaced its letter of comfort dated 20 November 2012. Due to the risk management 
system implemented by Eurex Clearing AG, in particular the lines of defence, and the fact that 
Deutsche Börse AG has not been called upon in the event of defaults by clearing participants or 
other situations in the past, Deutsche Börse AG currently believes that utilisation of the comfort letter 
is unlikely. 

In addition, in accordance with section 5 (10) of the statute of the Deposit Protection Fund, an 
unlimited statement of commitment has been issued to Clearstream Banking AG, according to which 
Deutsche Börse AG indemnifies Bundesverband deutscher Banken e.V. from all potential loss claims. 

Moreover, Deutsche Börse AG has provided loan commitments in favour of affiliated companies and 
companies in which the Company has a participating interest of  80 million and GBP 0.3 million. 
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Provisions arising from deferred compensation were recognised in the balance sheet under employee 
expenses for individual subsidiaries. However, as Deutsche Börse AG has an obligation as a provider 
towards participating employees, a contingent liability of  31.0 million (previous year:  29.6 
million) arises which is equivalent to the amount of the provisions made by the individual 
subsidiaries. 

Supervisory Board 

The members of the Supervisory Board are: 

Dr Joachim Faber Independent management consultant, Grünwald 
Chairman 
 
Other appointments  HSBC Holding plc, London 

(member of the Board of Directors) 
Coty Inc., New York 
(member of the Board of Directors) 
Joh. A. Benckiser SARL, Luxembourg 
(Chairman of the Committee of Shareholders) 
Allianz France, Paris (member of the Board of Directors) 
 
 

Richard Berliand   Management consultant, Executive Director, Richard Berliand  
Deputy Chairman Limited, Ashtead, Surrey 
 Chairman of the Management Committee, Renshaw Bay LLP, London 
  
Supervisory Board Eurex Frankfurt AG, Frankfurt/Main  
appointments 
 
Other appointments Earth-i Ltd., Guildford (member of the Board of Directors) 
 Eurex Zürich AG, Zurich (member of the Board of Directors) 

ITRS Group Limited, London (Chairman of the Board of Directors) 
London Wine Agencies, London (Director) 
Mako Europe Limited, London (member of the Board of Directors) 
Man Group plc, London (member of the Board of Directors, since 19 
January 2016) 
Rothesay Assurance Limited, London (member of the Board of 
Directors) 
Rothesay Life Holdco UK Limited, London (member of the Board of 
Directors) 
Rothesay Life Limited, London (member of the Board of Directors) 
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Prof Dr Dr Ann-Kristin Scientific Co-Director of the Center for Entrepreneurial and 
Achleitner Financial Services (CEFS) at the Technical University of Munich, 
(since 11 May 2016)  Munich 
 
Supervisory Board Linde AG, Munich 
appointments Metro AG, Düsseldorf 

Munich Reinsurance Company, Munich 
 
Other appointments ENGIE S.A., Paris (member of the Board of Directors) 
 
 
Karl-Heinz Flöther Independent management consultant, Kronberg 
 
Supervisory Board  Commerzbank AG, Frankfurt/Main 
appointments 
 
 
Marion Fornoff Employee in the HR Europe & US section 
 Deutsche Börse AG, Frankfurt/Main 
 
 
Hans-Peter Gabe Employee in the HR Compensation, Workforce & Talent Management 

section, Deutsche Börse AG, Frankfurt/Main 
 
 
Craig Heimark  Managing Partner, Hawthorne Group LLC, Palo Alto 
 
Other appointments Cohesive Flexible Technologies Corporation, Chicago 

(Chairman of the Board of Directors) 
 
 
Dr Monica Mächler  Member of various supervisory bodies, Pfäffikon 

Other appointments Cembra Money Bank AG, Zurich (member of the Board of Directors) 
 Zurich Insurance Group AG, Zurich (member of the Board of 

Directors) 
 Zurich Insurance Group AG, Zurich (member of the Board of 

Directors) 
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Dr Erhard Schipporeit Independent management consultant, Hanover 
 

Supervisory Board  BDO AG, Hamburg 
appointments    Fuchs Petrolub SE, Mannheim 

Hannover Rück SE, Hanover 
HDI V.a.G., Hanover 
RWE AG, Essen (since 20 April 2016) 
SAP SE, Walldorf 
Talanx AG, Hanover 

 
Other appointments Fidelity Funds SICAV, Luxembourg (member of the Board of Directors, 

until 25 February 2016) 
 
 
Jutta Stuhlfauth Lawyer, M.B.A. (Wales) and Head of Policies 
 and Procedures Unit, Deutsche Börse AG, Frankfurt/Main 
 
 
Johannes Witt Staff member in the Financial Accounting & Controlling Department, 

Deutsche Börse AG, Frankfurt/Main 
 
 
Amy Yip  Member of the management, RAYS Capital Partners Limited,  
 Hong Kong, Executive Director, Vitagreen, Hong Kong 
 
Other appointments AIG Insurance Hong Kong Limited, Hong Kong (member of the Board 

of Directors) 
Temenos Group AG, Geneva (member of the Board of Directors) 

 

Former Supervisory Board members 

Gerhard Roggemann  Senior Advisor, Edmond de Rothschild 
(until 11 May 2016)  Private Merchant Banking LLP, London 
 
Supervisory Board  Deutsche Beteiligungs AG, Frankfurt/Main (Deputy Chairman) 
appointments   GP Günter Papenburg AG, Schwarmstedt (Chairman) 

Fresenius SE & Co. KGaA, Bad Homburg (until 13.05.2016) 
Wave Management AG, Hanover 

 
In the year under review, the members of the Supervisory Board received remuneration of 1.8 
million. 
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The Supervisory Board has established the following committees: 

Audit Committee 

Dr Erhard Schipporeit (Chairman) 

Karl-Heinz Flöther 

Dr Monica Mächler 

Johannes Witt 

 
Nomination Committee 

Dr Joachim Faber (Chairman)  

Prof Dr Dr Ann-Kristin Achleitner (since 11 May 2016) 

Gerhard Roggemann (until 11 May 2016) 
Amy Yip 

 
Personnel Committee 

Dr Joachim Faber (Chairman)  

Prof Dr Dr Ann-Kristin Achleitner (since 11 May 2016) 

Marion Fornoff  

Gerhard Roggemann (until 11 May 2016) 

Amy Yip  
 

Risk Committee 

Richard Berliand (Chairman) 

Dr Monica Mächler 

Dr Erhard Schipporeit 

Jutta Stuhlfauth 
 

Strategy Committee  

Dr Joachim Faber (Chairman) 

Prof Dr Dr Ann-Kristin Achleitner (since 11 May 2016) 

Richard Berliand  

Hans-Peter Gabe  

Gerhard Roggemann (until 11 May 2016) 

Jutta Stuhlfauth  

Amy Yip  

 
Technology Committee  
Richard Berliand (Chairman) 

Karl-Heinz Flöther 

Craig Heimark  

Johannes Witt 
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Executive Board 

The members of the Executive Board are: 

Carsten Kengeter  Chief Executive Officer 
Master of Science (M.Sc.)   
Finance and Accounting 
BA Business Administration 
Graduate degree in Business 
Management (Diplom- 
Betriebswirt (FH)) 

Supervisory Board  China Europe International Exchange AG (Deputy Chairman) 
appointments 
 

Other appointments   b-to-v Partner AG, St. Gallen (Member of the Board of Directors) 
FNZ Group Ltd., London (Non-Executive Director) 
Circuitus Capital LLP, London (Non-Executive Chairman of the 
Supervisory Board) 
 

Andreas Preuss Member of the Executive Board and Deputy Chief Executive Officer  
Graduate Degree in   Responsible for IT & Operations, Data & New Asset Classes 
Business Administration  
(Diplom-Kaufmann) 
 

Supervisory Board China Europe International Exchange AG (member, until 30 June 2016) 
appointments 360 Treasury Systems AG (Chairman) 

Clearstream Holding AG (member, since 1 April 2016) 
European Energy Exchange AG (member, since 16 June 2016) 
 

Other appointments  Clearstream Services S.A. (member of the Board of Directors from 1 
March 2016 to 22 September 2016, Deputy Chairman of the 
Supervisory Board since 22 September 2016) 

  International Securities Exchange, LLC (Vice Chairman and member 
of the Board of Directors until 30 June 2016) 

  International Securities Exchange Holdings, Inc. (Vice Chairman and 
member of the Board of Directors until 30 June 2016) 

  ISE Gemini, LLC (member of the Board of Directors, until 30 June 
2016) 

  ISE Mercury, LLC (member of the Board of Directors, from 1 February 
2016 to 30 June 2016) 

  Eurex Zürich AG (member of the Management Board and CEO, until 
16 March 2016) 

  Eurex Services GmbH (member of the Management Board, until 16 
February 2016)  
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Gregor Pottmeyer  Member of the Executive Board and Chief Financial Officer 
Graduate Degree in 
Business Administration 
(Diplom-Kaufmann) 
 
Supervisory Board  Clearstream Holding AG (Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board) 
appointments   Eurex Clearing AG (Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board) 
 
Other appointments Clearstream Banking S.A. (Deputy Chairman of the Board of Directors 

until 22 September 2016, Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
since 22 September 2016) 
Clearstream International S.A. (Deputy Chairman of the Board of 
Directors until 22 September 2016, Deputy Chairman of the 
Supervisory Board since 22 September 2016) 

 
 
Hauke Stars Member of the Executive Board, Deutsche Börse AG 
Grad. Degree in IT Responsible for Cash Market, Pre-IPO & Growth Financing 
(Dipl.-Ing. Informatik) 
Master of Science (M.Sc.)  
 
Supervisory Board Eurex Frankfurt AG 
appointments Fresenius SE & Co. KgaA (member of the Supervisory Board, since 

13 May 2016) 
GfK SE (member of the Supervisory Board, until 20 May 2016) 
Klöckner & Co. SE (member of the Supervisory Board, until 13 May 
2016) 
 

Other appointments Clearstream Services S.A. (member of the Board of Directors, until 1 
March 2016) 
Eurex Zürich AG (member of the Board of Directors) 
Kuehne + Nagel International AG (member of the Board of Directors, 
since 3 May 2016) 



Deutsche Börse Aktiengesellschaft, Frankfurt/Main Page 31 

 

 

Jeffrey Tessler  Member of the Executive Board, Deutsche Börse AG  
MBA Responsible for Clients, Products & Core Markets 
 
Supervisory Board   China Europe International Exchange AG (member of the 
appointments   Supervisory Board, since 1 April 2016) 

Clearstream Banking AG (Chairman) 
Clearstream Holding AG (Chairman of the Supervisory Board) 
Eurex Clearing AG (member of the Supervisory Board, since 1 April 
2016) 
Eurex Frankfurt AG (member of the Supervisory Board, since 1 April 
2016) 
 

Other appointments Clearstream Banking S.A. (Chairman of the Board of Directors until 
22 September 2016, Chairman of the Supervisory Board since 22 
September 2016) 
Clearstream International S.A. (Chairman of the Board of Directors 
until 22 September 2016, Chairman of the Supervisory Board since 
22 September 2016) 
Clearstream Services S.A. (Chairman of the Board of Directors until 
22 September 2016, Chairman of the Supervisory Board since 22 
September 2016) 
Eurex Zürich AG (member of the Board of Directors since 1 April 
2016, Vice Chairman since 20 June 2016) 
International Securities Exchange, LLC (member of the Board of 
Directors from 4 January to 30 June 2016) 
ISE Mercury, LLC (member of the Board of Directors from 4 January 
to 30 June 2016) 
ISE Gemini, LLC (member of the Board of Directors from 4 January to 
30 June 2016) 
LuxCSD S.A. (member of the Board of Directors until 15 February 
2016) 
REGIS TR. S.A. (Chairman of the Board of Directors) 
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Executive Board 

In 2016, the total remuneration paid to members of the Executive Board amounted to  20.4 million.  

The total compensation includes share-based remuneration of  3.6 million. The shares were valued 
at market price on the balance sheet date. The number of stock options in the amount of 46,393 is 
based on a Deutsche Börse AG share price of  78.35 per share as the average price during the 
calendar month December 2015. 

For additional disclosures regarding Executive Board compensation, please see the Deutsche Börse 
AG management report. 

The remuneration paid to former Executive Board members and their surviving dependants amounted 
to 4.5 million in 2016. Provisions totalling 66.0 million have been set aside for pension 
obligations to former Executive Board members and their surviving dependants. 

 

Employees 

As at 31 December 2016, the number of employees at Deutsche Börse AG was 1,132 (previous 
year: 1,153). During financial year 2016, the average number of employees was 1,118 (previous 
year: 1,131). 

 Male Female Total 

Management employees 121 13 134 

Non-management employees 589 395 984 

Number of employees  710 408 1,118 

 

 

 

Intercompany agreements  

As part of the profit transfer agreement concluded between Clearstream Holding AG and Deutsche 
Börse AG on 4 March 2008, Clearstream Holding AG is obliged to transfer its entire net income for 
the year to Deutsche Börse AG, less any losses carried forward from the previous year and the 
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amount to be added to the reserves, as required by section 300 of the AktG. Simultaneously, 
Deutsche Börse AG is required to equalise any losses incurred at Clearstream Holding AG during the 
year through loss absorption, provided that such losses have not already been balanced by transfers 
from other retained earnings added during the term of the contract. 

On 2 March 2010, Deutsche Börse AG entered into a control agreement (“Beherrschungsvertrag”) 
with Clearstream Banking AG. As part of this agreement, Clearstream Banking AG subordinates the 
management of its company to Deutsche Börse AG, and Deutsche Börse AG has the right to give 
instructions to the Executive Board of Clearstream Banking AG with respect to the management of 
the company. 

Combined management report 

The management report of Deutsche Börse AG and the management report on the consolidated 
financial statements of Deutsche Börse AG have been summarised in accordance with section 315 
(3) HGB in conjunction with section 289 (3) HGB and German Accounting Standard (GAS) 20 (22). 

Group structure 

Deutsche Börse AG, which has its registered office in Frankfurt/Main, Germany, prepares 
consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 
The consolidated financial statements are published in the electronic version of the German Federal 
Gazette and are also available at the Company’s premises. 
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Ownership structure 

Deutsche Börse AG received the following notifications in accordance with section 21 of the 
Wertpapierhandelsgesetz (WpHG, German Securities Trading Act): 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Meldepflichtiger
Sitz und Staat, in dem sich der 
Sitz oder Wohnort des 
Meldepflichtigen befindet

Datum des 
Erreichens, Über- 
oder 
Unterschreitens

Über-
/Unter-
schreitung 
(+/–)

Melde-
schwelle 
in %

Zurechnung gemäß §§ 21,22, 25 und 25a WpHG Beteiligung 
in %

Beteiligung in 
Stimmrechten

Deutsche Börse AG Frankfurt am Main, Deutschland 17.02.2012 – 5,00% keine Angabe 4,94% 9.533.068
§§ 21,22 WpHG 5,11% 9.868.925
§ 25 Abs. 1 Nr. 1/2 WpHG 0,21% 399.896
§§ 21,22 WpHG i.V.m § 25 Abs. 1 Nr.1/2 WpHG 4,91% 9.469.029

BlackRock Advisors Holdings, Inc. New York, USA 01.12.2009 + 3,00% § 22 Abs. 1 Satz 1 Nr. 6 i.V.m. § 22 Abs. 1 Satz 2 WpHG 3,35% 6.526.163
3,01% 5.799.497

§ 22 Abs.1 Satz 1 Nr. 1 WpHG 0,93% 1.787.637
§ 22 Abs.1 Satz 1 Nr. 6 i.V.m § 22 Abs.1 Satz 2 WpHG 2,08% 4.011.860

5,51% 10.632.040
§ 25 WpHG 0,20% 380.000
§§ 21,22 WpHG 5,31% 10.252.040

Black Rock Group Limited London, Großbritannien 07.12.2012 + 3,00% § 22 Abs. 1 Satz 1 Nr. 6 i.V.m. § 22 Abs. 1 Satz 2 WpHG 3,00% 5.790.525
5,51% 10.632.040

§ 25 WpHG 0,20% 380.000
§§  21,22 WpHG 5,31% 10.252.040

3,01% 5.799.497
§ 22 Abs. 1 Satz 1 Nr. 1 WpHG 0,93% 1.787.637
§ 22 Abs. 1 Satz 1 Nr. 6 i.V.m. § 22 Abs. 1 Satz 2 WpHG 2,08% 4.011.860

3,01% 5.799.497
§ 22 Abs. 1 Satz 1 Nr. 1 WpHG 0,93% 1.787.637
§ 22 Abs. 1 Satz 1 Nr. 6 i.V.m. § 22 Abs. 1 Satz 2 WpHG 2,08% 4.011.860

6,12% 11.803.225
§ 25 Abs. 1 Nr. 1 WpHG 0,38% 729.792
§§ 21,22 WpHG 5,74% 11.073.433

BlackRock International Holdings, Inc. New York, USA 02.08.2012 + 3,00% § 22 Abs. 1 Satz 1 Nr. 6 i.V.m. § 22 Abs. 1 Satz 2 WpHG 3,58% 6.981.055
BR Jersey International Holdings, L.P. St. Helier, Jersey, Kanalinseln 08.02.2012 + 3,00% § 22 Abs. 1 Satz 1 Nr. 6 i.V.m. § 22 Abs. 1 Satz 2 WpHG 3,58% 6.981.055
FIL Limited Pembroke, Bermuda 11.10.2016 + 3,00% § 22 Abs. 1 Satz 1 Nr. 6 WpHG 3,00% 5.792.276

5,01% 9.674.103
§§ 21, 22 WpHG 2,91% 5.615.833
§§ 21, 22 WpHG 2,10% 4.058.270

Invesco Advisers, Inc Wilmington, USA 21.10.2015 + 3,00% § 22 Abs, 1 Satz 1 Nr.6 WpHG 3,01% 5.804.518
Invesco Group Services, Inc Wilmington, USA 21.10.2015 + 3,00% § 22 Abs. 1 Satz 1 Nr. 6 i.V.m. § 22 Abs. 1 Satz 2 WpHG 3,01% 5.804.518
Invesco Holding Campany Limited Henley, Großbritannien 21.10.2015 + 3,00% § 22 Abs. 1 Satz 1 Nr. 6 i.V.m. § 22 Abs. 1 Satz 2 WpHG 3,01% 5.804.518
Invesco North American Holdings Inc Wilmington, USA 21.10.2015 + 3,00% § 22 Abs. 1 Satz 1 Nr. 6 i.V.m. § 22 Abs. 1 Satz 2 WpHG 3,01% 5.804.518
Ivesco Management Group, Inc Wilmington, USA 21.10.2015 + 3,00% § 22 Abs. 1 Satz 1 Nr. 6 i.V.m. § 22 Abs. 1 Satz 2 WpHG 3,01% 5.804.518
IVZ, Inc. Wilmington, USA 21.10.2015 + 3,00% § 22 Abs. 1 Satz 1 Nr. 6 i.V.m. § 22 Abs. 1 Satz 2 WpHG 3,01% 5.804.518
IVZ UK Limited Henley, Großbritannien 21.10.2015 + 3,00% § 22 Abs. 1 Satz 1 Nr. 6 i.V.m. § 22 Abs. 1 Satz 2 WpHG 3,01% 5.804.518
Jupiter Fund Management plc UK London, Großbritannien 05.01.2017 – 3,00%  §§ 21, 25 Abs.1 Nr.1 und Nr.2 WpHG 2,99% 5.774.950

4,11% 7.926.928
§§ 21, 22 WpHG 0,23% 448.039
§ 25 WpHG 0,25% 489.195
§ 25a WpHG 3,62% 6.989.694

4,01% 7.734.733
§§ 21, 22 WpHG 0,21% 403.568
§ 25 WpHG 0,18% 341.471
§ 25a WpHG 3,62% 6.989.694

3,70% 7.138.902
§§ 21, 22 WpHG 0,21% 403.568
§ 25a WpHG 3,49% 6.735.334

3,70% 7.138.902
§§ 21, 22 WpHG 0,21% 403.568
§ 25a WpHG 3,49% 6.735.334

3,70% 7.138.902
§§ 21, 22 WpHG 0,21% 403.568
§ 25a WpHG 3,49% 6.735.334
 3,70% 7.138.902
§§ 21, 22 WpHG 0,21% 403.568
§ 25a WpHG 3,49% 6.735.334

4,46% 8.614.620
§ 25a WpHG 4,44% 8.570.359
§ 25 WpHG 0,02% 44.261

Societe General Effekten GmbH Frankfurt am Main, Deutschland 10.08.2015 – 5,00% § 25a WpHG 4,93% 9.505.422
4,60% 8.882.666

§§ 21, 22 WpHG 2,52% 4.865.398
§ 25 WpHG 1,39% 2.687.268
§ 25a WpHG 0,69% 1.330.000

BlackRock Delaware Holding, Inc Wilmington, USA 19.05.2015 + 3,00%

Artisan Partners Funds, Inc Madison, USA 18.07.2016 + 5,00%

BlackRock Holdco 2, Inc. Wilmington, USA 27.10.2015 + 5,00%

BlackRock Financial Management, Inc. Wilmington, USA 27.10.2015 + 5,00%

BlackRock Holdco 6, Inc. Wilmington, USA 19.05.2015 + 3,00%

BlackRock Holdco 4, Inc. Wilmington, USA 19.05.2015 + 3,00%

Invesco Limited Hamilton, Bermuda 03.11.2016 + 5,00%

BlackRock, Inc. Wilmington, USA 27.06.2016 + 3,00%

Morgan Stanley International Holdings Inc Wilmington, USA 21.05.2013 – 5,00%

Morgan Stanley Wilmington, USA 21.05.2013 – 5,00%

Morgan Stanley Group Europe London, Großbritannien 21.05.2013 – 5,00%

Morgan Stanley International Limited London, Großbritannien 21.05.2013 – 5,00%

Morgan Stanley & Co International Plc London, Großbritannien 21.05.2013 – 5,00%

Morgan Stanley UK Group London, Großbritannien 21.05.2013 – 5,00%

Societe General S.A Paris, Frankreich 02.10.2015 – 5,00%

UBS AG Zürich, Schweiz 20.05.2014 – 5,00%
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German corporate governance code 

On 8 December 2016, the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board jointly issued the updated 
declaration of conformity in accordance with section 161 AktG and made it available to shareholders 
on a permanent basis on the website of Deutsche Börse Aktiengesellschaft.  

 

Report on post-balance sheet date events 

On 1 February 2017, Deutsche Börse AG announced that the Public Prosecutor's Office of Frankfurt 
am Main investigated at Deutsche Börse AG in respect of a share purchase by its Chief Executive 
Officer which was carried out on 14 December 2015 in implementation of the Executive Board's 
remuneration programme as approved by the Supervisory Board of Deutsche Börse AG. Such 
programme provides for an investment of the Executive Board members in shares of Deutsche Börse 
AG. Deutsche Börse AG and the Chief Executive Officer fully cooperate with the public prosecutor. 

On 6 February 2017, the relevant bodies of Deutsche Börse AG and London Stock Exchange Group 
plc decided to formally submit the divestment of LCH.Clearnet SA by LCH.Clearnet Group Limited 
as a remedy to the European Commission in order to address anti-trust concerns raised by the 
European Commission in relation to the merger of both companies. 

Following the market test in relation to the remedy proposal of 6 February 2017, the European 
Commission has raised new concerns regarding the viability of LCH SA as a divestment business in 
relation to access to bond and repo trading feeds currently provided for by MTS S.p.A., an Italian 
regulated electronic trading platform. The European Commission has therefore required that 
Deutsche Börse AG (“DBAG”) and London Stock Exchange Group plc (“LSEG”) commit to the 
divestment of LSEG's majority stake in MTS S.p.A. to secure merger clearance. LSEG has resolved 
tonight to not commit to the required divestment of LSEG's majority stake in MTS S.p.A.  

The parties will await the further assessment by the European Commission and currently expect a 
decision by the European Commission on the merger of DBAG and LSEG until April 3, 2017 the 
latest. 
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This combined management report covers both Deutsche Börse Group and Deutsche Börse AG. It has 
been prepared in accordance with sections 289, 315 and 315a of the Handelsgesetzbuch (HGB, German 
Commercial Code) and German Accounting Standard (GAS) 20. This management report also takes into 
account the requirements of the Practice Statement �Management Commentary� issued by the Inter-
national Accounting Standards Board (IASB).  
 
 
Fundamental information about the Group 

Overview of Deutsche Börse Group 

Business operations and Group structure 
Deutsche Börse AG, which is headquartered in Frankfurt/Main, Germany, is the parent company of 
Deutsche Börse Group. As at 31 December 2016, the Group employed 5,176 people at 37 locations 
in 29 countries. As one of the largest market infrastructure providers worldwide, Deutsche Börse 
Group offers its customers a wide range of products and services. These cover the entire financial 
market transactions value chain � from equities and derivatives trading through transaction clearing 
and settlement, securities custody, services for liquidity and collateral management, and the provi-
sion of market information, down to the development and operation of IT systems that support all 
these processes.  
 
Deutsche Börse AG operates the cash market at Frankfurter Wertpapierbörse (FWB®, the Frankfurt Stock 
Exchange) with its fully electronic Xetra® trading platform. It also offers trading in structured products 
(certificates and warrants) in Germany via Börse Frankfurt Zertifikate AG. In addition, Deutsche Börse AG 
operates the Eurex Exchange derivatives market via Eurex Frankfurt AG and Eurex Zürich AG. Com- 
modities spot and derivatives markets are operated by the Group�s indirect subsidiary European Energy 
Exchange AG (EEX). Deutsche Börse AG operates a foreign-exchange trading platform via its subsidiary 
360 Treasury Systems AG (360T). The Group also offers clearing services for the cash and derivatives 
markets (Eurex Clearing AG). Furthermore, Deutsche Börse sells price and reference data as well as other 
trading information; its STOXX Ltd. subsidiary develops and sells indices. All post-trade services that 
Deutsche Börse Group provides for securities are handled by Clearstream Holding AG and its subsidiaries 
(Clearstream Holding group). These include transaction settlement, the administration and custody of 
securities, as well as services for global securities financing, investment funds and hedge funds. Deutsche 
Börse AG and Clearstream Services S.A. develop and operate Deutsche Börse Group�s technological  
infrastructure.  
 
 

Combined management report 
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The  �Equity investments and partnerships strengthen product and service offering� chart gives an 
overview of Deutsche Börse Group�s main shareholdings; its basis of consolidation is presented in 
full in  note 2 to the consolidated financial statements. Material changes in the reporting period in-
clude the sale of US futures and options exchange International Securities Exchange Holdings, Inc. (ISE), 
effective 30 June 2016; details can be found in the  �Changes to the basis of consolidation and to seg-
ment reporting� section.  
 

Equity investments and partnerships strengthen product and service offering 
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Management 
The governing bodies of Deutsche Börse AG, which is a German stock corporation, are the Annual 
General Meeting, the Supervisory Board and the Executive Board, each of which has its own areas  
of responsibility.  
 
The Annual General Meeting resolves on the appropriation of the unappropriated surplus, appoints the 
shareholder representatives on the Supervisory Board and approves the actions of the Executive Board 
and the Supervisory Board. In addition, it resolves on corporate actions and other matters governed by 
the Aktiengesetz (AktG, German Stock Corporation Act).  
 
The Supervisory Board appoints, supervises and advises the Executive Board and is directly involved  
in key decisions affecting the company. Additionally, it approves the consolidated financial statements 
prepared by the Executive Board. Members of the Supervisory Board are appointed for a period of three 
years, although the Annual General Meeting may determine a shorter term of office when electing mem-
bers. The Supervisory Board of Deutsche Börse AG has twelve members: eight shareholder representa-
tives and four employee representatives.  
 
The Executive Board manages the company at its own responsibility; the Chief Executive Officer co- 
ordinates the activities of the Executive Board members. In financial year 2016, the Executive Board  
of Deutsche Börse AG had five members. The remuneration system and the remuneration paid to the 
individual members of the Executive Board are described in detail in the  remuneration report.  
 
Reporting segments 
Deutsche Börse Group classifies its business into four segments: Eurex, Xetra, Clearstream and Market 
Data + Services. This structure serves as a basis for the Group�s internal management and for financial 
reporting (see the  table entitled �Deutsche Börse Group�s reporting segments� for details). 
  

Deutsche Börse Group�s reporting segments 

 
Reporting segment Business areas 

Eurex  Electronic trading of European derivatives (Eurex Exchange), commodities (EEX group) and foreign 
exchange (360T®) 

 Eurex Repo® over-the-counter (OTC) trading platform  

 C7® electronic clearing architecture  

 Central counterparty for on- and off-exchange derivatives and repo transactions 

Xetra  Cash market with the Xetra®, Börse Frankfurt and Tradegate trading venues 

 Eurex Bonds® OTC trading platform  

 Central counterparty for equities and bonds 

 Admission of securities (listing) 

Clearstream  Custody and settlement services for domestic and international securities 

 Global securities financing services and collateral management 

 Investment funds and hedge funds services 

Market Data + Services   Distribution of licences for trading and market signals 

 Development and sales of indices (STOXX) 
 Technology and reporting solutions for external customers 

 Trading participant connectivity 
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Organisational structure 
At the start of 2016, Deutsche Börse AG realigned the assignment of responsibilities within its Execu-
tive Board in order to place client focus at the heart of its organisational structure. The Clients, Products 
& Core Markets division combines Deutsche Börse Group�s derivatives trading businesses, its clearing 
house as well as Clearstream�s settlement and custody business. Clients, Products & Core Markets is re-
sponsible for coordinating Group-wide product development as well as global sales activities. The IT & 
Operations, Data & New Asset Classes division combines Deutsche Börse Group�s IT activities and mar-
ket operations. Technological transformation and digitisation are key issues which are advanced by this 
division � in close coordination with the Chief Executive Officer (CEO). Some of Deutsche Börse Group�s 
fastest growing business areas, such as the market data business, the electronic foreign-exchange trading 
platform 360T®, as well as EEX group also belong to this division. Deutsche Börse Group�s cash market 
businesses � comprising Xetra, the Frankfurt Stock Exchange, and the certificates and warrants business 
� form part of the Cash Market, Pre-IPO & Growth Financing division. The division is also responsible for 
the build-up of a pre-IPO market, as well as for developing and establishing tools for growth financing. 
The portfolio of the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) includes risk management and compliance. The re-
sponsibilities of the CEO include Group Strategy and Human Resources, as well as innovation; moreover, 

Deutsche Börse Group�s management structure as at 1 January 2017 

Ù®±«° Í¬®¿¬»¹§ ñ 

Ó»®¹»® 

ú ß½¯«··¬·±²

Ù®±«° Ý±³³«²·ó

½¿¬·±²ô Ó¿®µ»¬·²¹ 

ú Î»¹ò Í¬®¿¬»¹§

Ù®±«° ß«¼·¬

Ù®±«° Ô»¹¿´ 

ú Î»¹«´¿¬±®§ 

ßºº¿·®

Ø«³¿² Î»±«®½»

Ù®±«° Ê»²¬«®» 

Ð±®¬º±´·± 

Ó¿²¿¹»³»²¬

Ý¸·»º ±º Í¬¿ºº

×²²±ª¿¬·±² Ü»®·ª¿¬·ª» 

Ó¿®µ»¬ Ì®¿¼·²¹

Ý´»¿®·²¹ ñ ÝÝÐ ñ ÝØ

Í»¬¬´»³»²¬ 

ú Ý«¬±¼§ 

Ý±®» Ð®±¼«½¬

×²ª»¬³»²¬ Ú«²¼ 

Í»®ª·½» ú ÙÍÚ

Ù®±«° Í¿´»

Ù®±«° Þ«·²» 

ú Ð®±¼«½¬ 

Ü»ª»´±°³»²¬

Ù®±«° Ý´·»²¬ 

Í»®ª·½» 

ú ß¼³·²·¬®¿¬·±²

Ý±®» Ó¿®µ»¬ 

Ü»ª»´±°³»²¬

ÚÈ ñ íêðÌ

Û«®±°»¿² Û²»®¹§ 

Û¨½¸¿²¹» øÛÛÈ÷

Û¨»½«¬·ª» ÑºB ½»

Ý´»¿®·²¹ ×Ì

Ý±®°±®¿¬» 

Í§¬»³

Ü¿¬¿ ×Ì

Û²»®¹§

Î·µ ×Ì

Í»¬¬´»³»²¬ ×Ì

Ú·²¿²½·¿´ 

ß½½±«²¬·²¹ 

ú Ý±²¬®±´´·²¹

Ý¸·»º Ý±³°´·¿²½» 

ÑºB ½»®

×²ª»¬±® Î»´¿¬·±²

Ì®»¿«®§

Ý¸·»º Î·µ ÑºB ½»®

Ù®±«° Ñ®¹¿²·ó

¿¬·±²¿´ Í»®ª·½»

Í¬®¿¬»¹·½ Ú·²¿²½»

Ù®±«° Ð®±¶»½¬ 

Ð±®¬º±´·± 

Ó¿²¿¹»³»²¬

Ý±³°»²¿¬·±² 

ÑºB ½»®

Ý¿¸ Ó¿®µ»¬

Ü»ª»´±°³»²¬ 

ú Ñ°ò Ó¿²¿¹»³»²¬

Ý¿¸ Ó¿®µ»¬ Í¿´» 

ú Ð¿®¬²»® Ó¿®µ»¬

Ð®»ó×ÐÑ 

ú Ý¿°·¬¿´ Ó¿®µ»¬

Ý±³³«²·¬§ 

Ü»ª»´±°³»²¬

Ü·¹·¬·¿¬·±² ñ 

Ð´¿¬º±®³

Ù®±©¬¸ Ú·²¿²½·²¹

×Ì ×²º®¿¬®«½¬«®» 

ú Ñ°»®¿¬·±²

Ù®±«° ×²º±®³¿¬·±² 

Í»½«®·¬§

Ó¿®µ»¬ Ñ°»®¿¬·±²

ÙÍÚ ×Ì

×ÚÍ ×Ì

ÑºB ½» ß«¬±³¿¬·±²

Ü»®·ª¿¬·ª» 

ú Ý¿¸ Ì®¿¼·²¹ ×Ì

ß»¬ Í»®ª·½·²¹

Ó¿®µ»¬ Ü¿¬¿ 

õ Í»®ª·½»

Ù®±«° Û¨»½«¬·ª» Þ±¿®¼

ÝÛÑ

Ýò Õ»²¹»¬»®

Ý´·»²¬ô Ð®±¼«½¬ 

ú Ý±®» Ó¿®µ»¬

Öò Ì»´»®

Ý¿¸ Ó¿®µ»¬ô Ð®»ó×ÐÑ 

ú Ù®±©¬¸ Ú·²¿²½·²¹

Øò Í¬¿®

×Ì ú Ñ°»®¿¬·±²ô 

Ü¿¬¿ ú Ò»© ß»¬ Ý´¿»

ßò Ð®»«

ÝÚÑ

Ùò Ð±¬¬³»§»®



 

 

  

6  

  

he provides strategic impetus in the areas of technological transformation and digitisation. The current 
organisational set-up is shown in the  �Deutsche Börse Group�s management structure as at 1 Janu-
ary 2017� chart. 
 
 
Objectives and strategies 

Deutsche Börse Group�s objectives and strategies  
Deutsche Börse Group is one of the largest market infrastructure providers worldwide. The Group�s 
business model enhances the capital markets� stability, efficiency and integrity. Issuers benefit from 
the low capital costs it offers, while investors enjoy high liquidity and low transaction costs. At the 
same time, Deutsche Börse stands for transparent, secure capital markets in which organised trading 
is based on free price formation. 
 
Deutsche Börse�s business success is founded on its business model: its broadly diversified product 
and service range covers the entire value chain for financial market transactions. The business model 
aims to offer customers reliable services in an efficient and cost effective manner, based on the fol-
lowing key principles: 
 

 integrating different financial market services such as trading, clearing, settlement, securities  
custody, liquidity and collateral management, as well as index and market data services 

 providing these services for different asset classes such as equities, bonds, funds, commodities,  
FX products, fixed-income products and derivatives on these underlyings 

 developing and operating proprietary electronic systems for all processes along the value chain 
 organising an impartial marketplace to ensure orderly, supervised trading with fair price formation, 
plus providing risk management services 

 
The efficiency of this business model can be seen from the fact that Deutsche Börse Group has generated 
strong cash flows from operating activities for many years and that it is one of the most cost-effective 
providers of trading, clearing and settlement services among comparable products. 
 
In order to maintain its leading position among exchange organisations and to grow further, Deutsche 
Börse Group launched its Group-wide �Accelerate� programme in 2015, with the following objectives:  
to actively participate in global competition among capital markets infrastructure providers � in an agile, 
ambitious and effective manner with a strong client focus � and to turn Deutsche Börse into the global 
market infrastructure provider of choice, being top-ranked in all its activities. In order to achieve this 
strategic objective, Deutsche Börse has launched a broad range of initiatives, and triggered a cultural 
change throughout the company. 
 
In the context of its �Accelerate� growth strategy, Deutsche Börse Group has implemented far-reaching 
organisational changes and defined its financial targets. As part of that, the company is constantly as-
sessing its future competitive positioning, profitability, innovative strength, and strategic benefits of all  
its shareholdings and own activities. Deutsche Börse pursues the goal of becoming the number one or 
number two player in every business area the company operates in � a goal that requires active manage-
ment of the business portfolio. In areas where Deutsche Börse is not able to meet this goal, it evaluates 
other options. As part of its ongoing review of capital allocation, the Group disposed of various invest-
ments during the year under review, including Infobolsa, Market News International and the Interna-
tional Securities Exchange. Moreover, it sold a partial shareholding in BATS Global Markets, Inc. 
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Thanks to a Group-wide approach in marketing, innovation and operations, the Group will be better  
positioned to serve changing client needs and to gradually exploit untapped sales potential. A cross- 
divisional Group Management Committee was established, and responsibilities on the Executive Board 
realigned, in order to promote the Group�s new direction and to intensify collaboration. Besides, the new 
remuneration system for the Executive Board and executive staff, which was introduced during the year 
under review, has created stronger incentives for growth in the individual divisions. Likewise, the Group 
has conducted an in-depth review of its organic growth initiatives, and re-prioritised where appropriate. 
In this context, the Group pursues an accelerated expansion into new markets and asset classes. Within 
the scope of various initiatives, it aims for a markedly higher degree of innovation (please refer to the 

 report on opportunities). As far as external growth opportunities are concerned, on the one hand the 
focus is on strengthening existing high-growth areas, and on exploring new asset classes and services.  
 
Deutsche Börse Group has a scalable business model, which permits higher business volumes at rela-
tively minor additional costs. With a strong business performance and organic or external growth, this 
means that income growth will exceed cost increases. To reinforce the scalability of its business model, 
the Group has introduced clearly defined profit growth targets. Accordingly, it anticipates net revenue in-
creases of between 5 and 10 per cent annually, based on its current business portfolio and assuming 
a continued recovery of the world economy as well as medium-term interest rate rises. The Group is tar-
geting 10 per cent to 15 per cent increases in earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) and consolidated 
net profit for the period attributable to Deutsche Börse AG shareholders.  
 
Deutsche Börse Group�s ability to achieve its organic growth targets depends on the following factors, 
among others:  
 

 The effect of macroeconomic conditions on the financial markets: e.g. greater stock market volatility 
typically leads to higher levels of trading in the cash and derivatives markets and rising interest rates 
drive higher net interest income. 

 Regulatory requirements affecting all market participants: if regulatory initiatives (e.g. EMIR, Capital 
Requirements Directives) strengthen the role of exchanges, this will also benefit Deutsche Börse 
Group. 

 Structural changes in the financial markets: e.g. trading activity increases if investment funds make 
greater use of derivatives to implement their trading strategies.  

 The Group�s innovative strength: if it succeeds in continually introducing new products and services 
for which there is demand on the market, the Group will further grow its business. 

 
Deutsche Börse Group is committed to transparent, reliable and liquid financial markets, although it 
cannot affect how the volume drivers for these markets develop. However, the Group is able to influ-
ence the other factors to some extent or to control them in full; for instance, it can lobby for a favour-
able legal framework for the financial markets or it can develop products and services to support its 
customers� business. This also enables it to reduce its dependence on those factors that are beyond 
its control.  
 
Management approach for a Group-wide commitment to sustainability  
Deutsche Börse Group�s objectives and strategies include discharging its corporate responsibility holis-
tically. In line with this, its management approach is guided by three action-based principles that aim  
to sustainably strengthen and preserve the value added to the economy and to society by Deutsche 
Börse Group: 
 

 Building trust. Deutsche Börse Group aims to organise the capital markets in a way that ensures their 
integrity, transparency and security. The availability of high-quality information is a key aspect in this 
process, and something that the company is working constantly to enhance. In this context, providing 
sustainability information is as significant as engaging in a constructive dialogue on the future viability 
of the international capital markets with both customers and the general public. 
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 Leading by example. As a listed service provider, Deutsche Börse Group aims to ensure that its own 
business activities are conducted responsibly and with a view to the future. In addition, the Group  
pursues a sustainable human resources policy and is committed to the environment and hence to con-
serving resources. It enhances its commitment to sustainability and its reporting on an ongoing basis  
in order to establish itself as a long-term role model on the market. 

 Increasing public awareness. The Group is part of civil society and as such has a responsibility to-
wards it. It is committed to fulfilling this role both in Germany and in its international locations, too.  
It systematically bases its actions on local requirements and, as a good corporate citizen, takes part  
in long-term cooperative initiatives aimed at strengthening structures in the non-profit sector. 

 
Planned merger with London Stock Exchange Group 
The 2016 reporting year was largely characterised by plans for the merger of Deutsche Börse with 
LSEG. The business combination would create a leading global market infrastructure provider with deep 
roots in Europe � a major opportunity for accelerating the growth strategies of both companies. The com-
mitment to a client-focused business model would enable the Combined Group to fulfil client needs in 
the best possible manner. The merger would generate cost synergies of some �450 million (from the 
third year following completion of the transaction) as well as revenue synergies of at least �250 million 
(from the fifth year following completion). 
 
Overall, approximately 89 per cent of Deutsche Börse AG�s shareholders accepted the offer up until 
12 August 2016, exchanging their Deutsche Börse shares into shares of the new company. LSEG share-
holders had already approved the merger, with a large majority, at the extraordinary general meeting that 
took place on 4 July 2016.  
 
At the time of writing this report, the approval process for this project is ongoing. Numerous authorities 
must approve the planned merger, including the European Commission, and the Ministry of Economics, 
Transportation and Regional Development of the State of Hesse.  
 
On 28 September 2016, the European Commission embarked upon Phase II of the merger clearance 
proceedings, which are scheduled to be concluded no later than 3 April 2017. Within the scope of this 
ongoing EU merger control procedure, Deutsche Börse received a so-called �Statement of Objections� 
regarding the merger, which summarises concerns raised by the European Commission with regard to 
the merger. In order to remedy these concerns, LSEG agreed to sell its subsidiary LCH.Clearnet SA sub-
sidiary to Euronext N.V., for a cash consideration of �510 million (subject to customary market price ad-
justments). The possible divestment of LCH.Clearnet SA would be subject to, amongst other things, ex-
amination and approval by the European Commission, in connection with the recommended merger of 
DBAG and LSEG. Moreover, the transaction would be conditional upon the successful completion of the 
merger. Following the market test in relation to this remedy proposal, the European Commission has 
raised new concerns regarding the viability of LCH SA as a divestment business. These concerns relate 
to access to bond and repo trading feeds currently provided for by MTS S.p.A., an Italian regulated elec-
tronic trading platform. The European Commission has therefore required that Deutsche Börse AG and 
LSEG commit to the divestment of LSEG�s majority stake in MTS S.p.A. to secure merger clearance. 
LSEG has resolved to not commit to the required divestment of LSEG�s majority stake in MTS S.p.A. 
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Besides the European Commission�s approval, the merger is subject to a review from the Hesse Ex-
change Supervisory Authority, which is part of the Ministry of Economics, Energy, Transportation and Re-
gional Development of the State of Hesse. The conclusion of this review procedure and the correspond-
ing decision would be expected to take place during the second quarter of 2017.   
 
 
Internal management 

Management systems 
Deutsche Börse Group�s internal management system is based on key performance indicators taken from 
the consolidated income statement (net revenue, operating costs, EBIT, the Group�s net profit for the period 
attributable to Deutsche Börse AG shareholders) and the balance sheet (cash flows from operating activi-
ties, liquidity, equity less intangible assets). Additionally, the system includes key performance indicators 
that are derived from the consolidated income statement and the balance sheet (interest coverage ratio, 
interest-bearing gross debt / EBITDA and return on shareholders� equity).  
 
Net revenue is composed of sales revenue plus net interest income from banking business and from 
other operating income, less volume-related costs. Sales revenue from external customers is gener-
ally dependent on the growth factors described above (the performance of the financial markets, reg-
ulatory and structural changes, and the Group�s innovative strength). Net interest income from bank-
ing business is dependent on how Clearstream�s international settlement business performs, on the 
one hand, and on developments of short-term interest rates, particularly in the euro zone and the 
USA, on the other. In addition to income from the Clearstream segment, net interest income has also 
included interest income and expenses in the Eurex segment. This income is generated by the Group�s 
clearing houses from investing their clients� cash collateral. Other operating income results from ex-
change rate differences, among other things. Volume-related costs normally correlate with sales reve-
nue in the relevant business areas, such as fees and commissions from banking business or the cost 
of purchasing price data. In addition, various licence fees (e.g. for index licences) contribute to vol-
ume-related costs.  
 
Operating costs include staff costs, depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses, and other operat-
ing expenses. Staff costs consist of wages and salaries, social security contributions and the cost of  
retirement benefits. They are subject to inflation adjustments and depend partially on the company�s  
performance, as they also include a variable remuneration. Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 
charges include depreciation and amortisation of, and impairment losses on, intangible assets and  
property, plant and equipment. Other operating expenses mainly comprise the costs of developing and 
operating the Group�s technological infrastructure, office infrastructure costs and marketing costs. 
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Around 80 per cent of Deutsche Börse Group�s costs are fixed costs (excluding special factors). As a 
result, the Group can handle higher volumes of business without a significant increase in costs. Con-
versely, a decline in business volumes has a direct impact on the Group�s profitability. Approximately 
20 per cent of the Group�s costs are volume-related costs.  
 
Deutsche Börse Group manages its EBIT using net revenue and operating costs. At Group level, the 
net profit for the period attributable to Deutsche Börse AG shareholders also serves as a performance 
indicator for internal management. 
 
The balance sheet key performance indicators include cash flows from operating activities, a prede-
fined liquidity target and equity less intangible assets. Liquidity planning aims at maintaining enough 
liquidity to meet operating costs for one quarter (currently between �150 million and �250 million). 
There is no set target for the Group�s management of its equity less intangible assets KPI; rather, the 
objective is to maintain a positive figure.  
 
The interest coverage ratio is the ratio of EBITDA to the interest expense from financing activities. As part 
of its capital management programme, the Group aims to achieve an interest coverage ratio of at least 
16 for Deutsche Börse Group. In addition, the goal is to achieve a maximum ratio of interest-bearing 
gross debt to EBITDA of 1.5 at Group level. The latter performance indicator is particularly important at 
present in protecting the Group�s current AA rating. The goal of the Clearstream subgroup is to maintain 
an interest coverage ratio of 25 and to comply with other capital adequacy measures to protect its cur-
rent AA rating. Because Clearstream had no financial liabilities from non-banking business in either the 
reporting period or the previous year, no interest coverage ratio had to be calculated for the subgroup. 
 
Group projects are prioritised and steered using strategic and financial criteria, taking project-specific 
risks into account. The main criterion used to assess the strategic attractiveness of projects is their 
(expected) contribution to the strategic objectives for Deutsche Börse Group and its business areas. 
The main financial criteria are key performance indicators such as net present value (NPV), the pay-
back period and the return after tax, which are calculated on the basis of the project or business 
plans. Risks are monitored at all levels of project work, i.e. both when prioritising and steering pro-
jects and during ongoing project management. 
 
Further information on the Group�s financial position is presented in the  �Financial position� section  
of this combined management report.  
 
Internal control system as part of the financial reporting process 
Deutsche Börse has established a Group-wide internal control system (ICS). The ICS comprises a set 
of rules for the management of corporate activities as well as guidelines which help to ensure that 
such rules are being observed. Monitoring tasks are implemented through process-integrated measures 
(such as organisational safeguards and controls) as well as through process-independent measures. 
All business divisions are responsible that Group-wide ICS requirements are met in their respective 
areas of responsibility.  
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The purpose of the accounting-related ICS is to ensure orderly accounting practices. The central Finan-
cial Accounting and Controlling (FA&C) division is primarily responsible for preparing the accounts at 
Deutsche Börse AG and its consolidated subsidiaries. FA&C is supported in this task by decentralised 
units, which have to comply with the standards set by FA&C. The head of FA&C is responsible for the 
process, including effective safeguards and controls. The goal is to ensure that risks in the accounting 
process are identified early on so that remedial action can be taken in good time.  
 
In order to maintain consistent and continuous accounting processes, FA&C provides regularly up-
dated accounting manuals as well as guidelines and work instructions for the material accounting 
processes � as part of the preparation of the annual financial statements and consolidated financial 
statements of Deutsche Börse AG. All FA&C employees have access to this documentation, account-
ing manuals and account allocation guidelines, allowing them to obtain information on the manage-
ment judgements and accounting options exercised by Deutsche Börse Group. 
 
Moreover, Deutsche Börse Group continuously monitors and analyses changes in the accounting environ-
ment and adjusts its processes in line with them. This applies in particular to national and international 
accounting standards.  
 
Another key feature of the ICS is the principle of the separation of functions: tasks and responsibilities 
are clearly defined and allocated within the organisation. Incompatible tasks � such as modifying master 
data on the one hand and issuing payment instructions on the other � are strictly segregated at a func-
tional level. An independent control unit grants individual employees access rights to the accounting  
system and monitors these permissions continuously using an incompatibility matrix. Transactions are 
initially recorded in the general ledger or the appropriate subledgers on the basis of the chart of accounts 
and the account allocation guidelines. The principle of dual control applies to all closing entries made 
and to preparation of the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Major Deutsche Börse Group subsidiaries maintain and consolidate their general ledgers in the same 
system. Accounting data from the other companies is uploaded for inclusion in the consolidated financial 
statements. Liabilities, expenses and income for individual transactions are recorded in separate accounts 
under the name of the counterparty concerned. Any consolidation differences are reviewed centrally and 
sent to the accounting departments of the companies concerned for clarification.  
 
The processes, systems and controls described above aim to provide reasonable assurance that the 
accounting system complies with the applicable principles and laws. In addition, Compliance and 
Internal Audit act as a further line of defence, performing risk-based, process-independent controls 
on whether the ICS is appropriate and effective. The Executive Board and the Audit Committee estab-
lished by the Supervisory Board receive regular reports on the effectiveness of the ICS with respect  
to the financial reporting process. 
 
 
Research and development activities 

As a service provider, Deutsche Börse Group does not engage in research and development activities 
comparable to those of manufacturing companies. As a result, this combined management report does 
not contain a detailed research and development report. However, Deutsche Börse does develop and  
operate its own trading and clearing systems as well as system solutions designed to achieve its struc-
tural growth objectives. The company works constantly to maintain and enhance the technology leader-
ship and stability of its electronic systems in the interests of its customers and the systemic stability of 
the financial markets. This is why Deutsche Börse has significantly overhauled its trading and clearing 
systems, which go by the trade names T7® and C7®. Other technically challenging projects include im-
plementing the European Central Bank�s plans to create a uniform, pan-European securities settlement 
platform (TARGET2-Securities).  
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In 2016, research and development expenses amounted to �171.0 million (2015: �202.2 million);  
of this figure, approximately 52 per cent (2015: 47 per cent) was attributable to development costs that 
were capitalised as internally developed software. In addition, �48.7 million of capitalised development 
costs were amortised in 2016. This means that research and development costs amounted to 7 per cent 
of net revenue (2015: 8 per cent). In the Eurex and Clearstream segments, which mainly invest in sys-
tems upgrades, research and development costs amounted to 6 per cent and 10 per cent of net revenue, 
respectively. Details can be found in  note 7 to the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Further details of product and services development activities can be found in the  report on opportunities 
and the  report on expected developments. 
 
 
Takeover-related disclosures 

Disclosures in accordance with sections 289 (4) and 315 (4) of the HGB  
In accordance with sections 289 (4) and 315 (4) of the Handelsgesetzbuch (HGB, German Commercial 
Code), Deutsche Börse AG hereby makes the following disclosures as at 31 December 2016:  
 
The share capital of Deutsche Börse AG amounted to �193.0 million on the above-mentioned report-
ing date and was composed of 193 million no-par value registered shares. There are no other classes 
of shares besides these ordinary shares. 
 
The share capital has been contingently increased by up to �19.3 million by issuing up to 19.3 million 
no-par value registered shares (contingent capital 2014). The contingent capital increase will be  
implemented only to the extent that holders of convertible bonds or warrants attaching to bonds with 
warrants issued by the company or a Group company in the period until 14 May 2019 on the basis  
of the authorisation granted to the Executive Board in accordance with the resolution of the Annual  
General Meeting on 15 May 2014 on item 5 (a) of the agenda exercise their conversion or option rights, 
that they meet their conversion or option obligations, or that shares are tendered, and no other means 
are used to settle such rights or obligations. More details can be found in Article 4 (7) of the Articles of 
Association of Deutsche Börse AG. 
 
The Executive Board is only aware of limitations to voting rights that result from the German Stock 
Corporation Act, according to which voting rights arising from shares affected by section 136 of the 
AktG may not be exercised. Furthermore, shares held by Deutsche Börse AG as treasury shares are 
exempted from the exercise of any rights according to section 71b of the AktG.  
 
Under the Wertpapierhandelsgesetz (WpHG, German Securities Trading Act), any investor whose share-
holding reaches, exceeds or falls below specified voting right thresholds as a result of purchase, sale or 
any other transaction is required to notify the company and the Bundesanstalt für Finanzdienstleistungs-
aufsicht (BaFin, German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority). The lowest threshold for this disclosure 
requirement is 3 per cent. Deutsche Börse AG is not aware of any direct or indirect equity interests in its 
capital exceeding 10 per cent of the voting rights. 
 
There are no shares with special rights granting the holder supervisory powers. 
 
Employees holding shares in Deutsche Börse AG exercise their rights in the same way as other 
shareholders in accordance with the statutory provisions and the Articles of Association.  
 
Members of the Executive Board are appointed and dismissed in accordance with sections 84 and 
85 of the AktG and with Article 6 of the Articles of Association of Deutsche Börse AG. Amendments 
to the Articles of Association of Deutsche Börse AG are adopted by resolution of the Annual General 
Meeting in accordance with section 119 (1) No. 5 of the AktG. Under Article 12 (4) of the Articles of 
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Association of Deutsche Börse AG, the Supervisory Board has the power to make changes to the Arti-
cles of Association that relate to the wording only. In accordance with Article 18 (1) of the Articles of 
Association of Deutsche Börse AG, resolutions of the Annual General Meeting are passed by a simple 
majority of the votes cast, unless otherwise mandated by the AktG. Insofar as the AktG additionally 
prescribes a majority of the share capital represented at the time of a resolution, a simple majority of 
the share capital represented is sufficient where this is legally permissible. 
 
Subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board, the Executive Board is authorised to increase the share 
capital by up to a total of �13.3 million on one or more occasions in the period up to 10 May 2021 by 
issuing new no-par value registered shares in exchange for cash and/or non-cash contributions (author-
ised capital I). Shareholders must be granted pre-emptive rights. However, subject to the approval of the 
Supervisory Board, the Executive Board may exclude shareholders� pre-emptive rights with respect to 
fractional amounts. Pursuant to the authorisation, however, the exclusion of shareholders� pre-emptive 
rights is subject to the proviso that shares issued during the term of the authorisation, excluding share-
holders� pre-emptive rights, shall not exceed twenty per cent of the registered share capital. Full authori-
sation, and particularly the conditions under which shareholders� pre-emptive rights can be excluded, 
derive from Article 4 (3) of the Articles of Association of Deutsche Börse AG. 
 
The Executive Board is also authorised to increase the share capital by up to a total of �19.3 million  
on one or more occasions in the period up to 12 May 2020, subject to the approval of the Supervisory 
Board, by issuing new no-par value registered shares against cash and/or non-cash contributions  
(authorised capital II). Shareholders must be granted pre-emptive rights, which the Executive Board can 
disapply in certain cases, subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board in each case. The Executive 
Board is authorised to exclude shareholders� pre-emptive rights: (i) in the case of cash capital increases, 
provided that the issue price of the new shares is not significantly lower than the prevailing exchange 
price, and the total number of shares issued under exclusion of shareholders� pre-emptive rights does  
not exceed 10 per cent of the share capital; (ii) in the case of capital increases in exchange for non-cash 
contributions for the purpose of acquiring companies, parts of companies, interests in companies, or 
other assets; and (iii) with respect to fractional amounts. However, according to the authorisation, the 
Executive Board may only exclude shareholders� pre-emptive rights if the total number of shares issued 
during the term of authorisation does not exceed 20 per cent of the share capital. The full authorisation, 
and particularly the conditions under which shareholders� pre-emptive rights can be disapplied, derive 
from Article 4 (4) of the Articles of Association of Deutsche Börse AG. 
 
In addition, the Executive Board is authorised to increase the share capital by up to a total of �38.6 mil-
lion on one or more occasions in the period up to 12 May 2020, subject to the approval of the Super-
visory Board, by issuing new no-par value registered shares in exchange for cash contributions (author-
ised capital III). Shareholders must be granted pre-emptive rights, which the Executive Board can  
exclude, subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board, only for fractional amounts. However, accord-
ing to the authorisation, the Executive Board may only exclude shareholders� pre-emptive rights if the  
total number of shares issued during the term of authorisation does not exceed 20 per cent of the share 
capital. The exact content of this authorisation derives from Article 4 (5) of the Articles of Association of 
Deutsche Börse AG. 
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Furthermore, the Executive Board is authorised to increase the share capital by up to a total of �6.0 mil-
lion on one or more occasions in the period up to 15 May 2017, subject to the approval of the Super-
visory Board, by issuing new no-par value registered shares against cash and/or non-cash contributions 
(authorised capital IV). Shareholders must be granted pre-emptive rights unless the Executive Board 
makes use of the authorisation granted to it to disapply such rights, subject to the approval of the Super-
visory Board. The Executive Board is authorised to disapply shareholders� pre-emptive rights for fractional 
amounts with the approval of the Supervisory Board. The Executive Board is also authorised, subject to 
the approval of the Supervisory Board, to exclude shareholders� pre-emptive rights in order to issue up  
to 900,000 new shares per financial year from authorised capital IV to members of the Executive Board 
and employees of the company as well as to members of the executive boards or management and  
employees of its affiliated companies in accordance with sections 15ff. of the AktG. Full authorisation 
derives from Article 4 (6) of the Articles of Association of Deutsche Börse AG. 
 
The Executive Board is authorised to acquire treasury shares amounting to up to 10 per cent of the share 
capital. However, the acquired shares, together with any treasury shares acquired for other reasons that 
are held by the company or attributed to it in accordance with sections 71a ff. of the AktG, may at no 
time exceed 10 per cent of the company�s share capital. The authorisation to acquire treasury shares is 
valid until 12 May 2017 and may be exercised by the company in full or in part on one or more occa-
sions. However, it may also be exercised by dependent companies, by companies in which Deutsche 
Börse AG holds a majority interest or by third parties on its or their behalf. The Executive Board may 
elect to acquire the shares (1) on the stock exchange, (2) via a public tender offer addressed to all 
shareholders or via a public request for offers of sale addressed to the company�s shareholders, (3) by 
issuing tender rights to shareholders or (4) using derivatives (put or call options or a combination of the 
two). The full and exact wording of the authorisation to acquire treasury shares, and particularly the  
permissible uses to which the shares may be put, can be found in items 8 and 9 of the agenda for the 
Annual General Meeting held on 13 May 2015. 
 
The following material agreements of the company are subject to a change of control following a 
takeover bid: 
 

 On 18 March 2013, Deutsche Börse AG and its subsidiary Clearstream Banking S.A. entered into  
a multicurrency revolving facility agreement with a banking syndicate for a working capital credit  
totalling up to �750 million. If there is a change of control, the credit relationship between Deutsche 
Börse AG and the lenders can be reviewed in negotiations within a period of no more than 60 days.  
In this process, each lender has the right, at its own discretion, to terminate its credit commitment  
and demand partial or full repayment of the amounts owing to it. A change of control has occurred if 
Deutsche Börse AG no longer directly or indirectly holds the majority of Clearstream Banking S.A. or  
if a person or a group of persons acting in concert acquires more than 50 per cent of the voting shares 
of Deutsche Börse AG. 

 Under the terms of Deutsche Börse AG�s �600.0 million fixed-rate bond issue 2015/2041 (hybrid 
bond), Deutsche Börse AG has a termination right in the event of a change of control which, if exer-
cised, entitles Deutsche Börse AG to redeem the bonds at par, plus accrued interest. If Deutsche 
Börse AG does not exercise this termination right, the affected bonds� coupon will increase by 5 per-
centage points. A change of control will take place if a person or a group of persons acting in concert,  
or third parties acting on their behalf, has or have acquired more than 50 per cent of the shares of 
Deutsche Börse AG or the number of Deutsche Börse AG shares required to exercise more than 50 per 
cent of the voting rights at Annual General Meetings of Deutsche Börse AG. In addition, the relevant 
bond terms require that the change of control must adversely affect the long-term rating given to 
Deutsche Börse AG by Moody�s Investors Services, Inc., Standard & Poor�s Rating Services or Fitch 
Ratings Limited. Further details can be found in the applicable bond terms.  
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 The terms of the �500.0 million fixed-rate bonds 2015/2025, the �600.0 million fixed-rate bonds 
2013/2018, and the �600.0 million fixed-rate bonds 2012/2022, which were all issued by Deutsche 
Börse AG, all provide Deutsche Börse AG with a termination right in the event of a change of control.  
If these cancellation rights are exercised, the bonds are repayable at par plus any accrued interest. A 
change of control has taken place if a person or a group of persons acting in concert, or third parties 
acting on their behalf, has or have acquired more than 50 per cent of the shares of Deutsche Börse AG 
or the number of Deutsche Börse AG shares required to exercise more than 50 per cent of the voting 
rights at Annual General Meetings of Deutsche Börse AG. In addition, the respective sets of bond terms 
require that the change of control must adversely affect the rating given to one of the preferential un-
secured debt instruments of Deutsche Börse AG by Moody�s Investors Services, Inc., Standard & Poor�s 
Rating Services or Fitch Ratings Limited. Further details can be found in the applicable bond terms. 

 Furthermore, the Co-operation Agreement entered into on 16 March 2016 between Deutsche Börse AG, 
London Stock Exchange Group plc, and HLDCO123 plc concerning the planned merger of Deutsche 
Börse AG and London Stock Exchange Group plc provides for certain termination rights in the event  
of a takeover offer by third parties. Pursuant to this, Deutsche Börse AG and London Stock Exchange 
Group plc are each entitled to terminate the Co-operation Agreement if a takeover offer for Deutsche 
Börse AG has been announced, and (i) the Executive Board and Supervisory Board of Deutsche 
Börse AG have issued a recommendation for acceptance of such takeover offer; or (ii) the takeover offer 
has been completed. A termination of the Co-operation Agreement would not automatically prevent 
completion of the merger of Deutsche Börse AG and London Stock Exchange Group plc, but would 
merely end the Co-operation Agreement. Please refer to the Co-operation Agreement for further details. 

 Under certain conditions, members of Deutsche Börse AG�s Executive Board have a special right to  
terminate their contracts of service in the event of a change of control. According to the agreements 
made with all Executive Board members, a change of control has occurred if (i) a shareholder or third 
party discloses that it owns more than 50 per cent of the voting rights in Deutsche Börse AG in accord-
ance with sections 21 and 22 of the WpHG, (ii) an intercompany agreement in accordance with sec-
tion 291 of the AktG is entered into with Deutsche Börse AG as a dependent company, or Deutsche 
Börse AG is absorbed in accordance with section 319 of the AktG or (iii) Deutsche Börse AG is merged 
in accordance with section 2 of the Umwandlungsgesetz (UmwG, German Reorganisation and Trans-
formation Act). 

 
Moreover, change-of-control agreements have been entered into with the members of the Executive 
Board. A description of these agreements, which are in line with customary national and international 
practice, can also be found in the  remuneration report.  
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Deutsche Börse AG shares 

The average annual return since Deutsche Börse AG�s initial public offering in 2001 has been 13 per 
cent. Thus Deutsche Börse AG shares prove to be an attractive long-term investment. They closed finan-
cial year 2016 with a slight decline by 5 per cent � in line with the performance of the STOXX® Europe 
600 Financials Return (minus 7 per cent), but underperforming the DAX® blue-chip index (plus 4 per 
cent) as well as the Dow Jones Global Exchanges Index, which tracks other exchange organisations and 
rose by 7 per cent during 2016 (see the  �Share price development of Deutsche Börse AG and bench-
mark indices in 2016� chart). 
 
    

Deutsche Börse AG shares: key figures1)    

   
2016 2015

  
Earnings per share (basic)2) � 4.34 3.85

Dividend per share � 2.353) 2.25

Dividend distribution ratio2) % 54 55

Dividend yield4) % 3.1 3.0

Opening price (as at 1 Jan)5) � 81.39 59.22

High6) � 83.00 87.41

Low6) � 67.19 58.65

Closing price (as at 31 Dec) � 77.54 81.39

Average daily trading volume on Xetra® m shares 0.5 0.7

Number of shares (as at 31 Dec) m 193.0 193.0

thereof outstanding (as at 31 Dec) m 186.8 186.7

Free float (as at 31 Dec) % 100 100

Price-earnings ratio4) 17.3 18.3

Market capitalisation (as at 31 Dec) �bn 14.5 14.7

Average annual return since IPO in 2001  % 13.2 14.4

Attendance of share capital at the Annual General Meeting  % 65.8 42.2

Share of investors from Germany / UK / USA / other countries % 17/29/30/24 15/28/31/26

Institutional investors % 94 95

Shareholders appr. 60,000  appr. 57,000

Analyst recommendations buy / hold / sell (as at 31 Dec) % 43/50/7 52/39/9

Average target price set by analysts at year-end  � 84.00 85.00

1) Since 18 July 2016, all information related to share prices has been based on Deutsche Börse shares tendered for exchange (ISIN DE000A2AA253). 
2)  Adjusted for exceptional items 
3)  For financial year 2016, proposal to the Annual General Meeting 2017 
4)  Based on the volume-weighted average of the daily closing prices 
5)  Closing price on preceding trading day 
6)  Intraday price 
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Report on economic position 

Macroeconomic and sector-specific environment 

Macroeconomic developments had and continue to have a significant impact on the overall economic 
environment and on trading activity on the markets. For Deutsche Börse Group, the macroeconomic  
environment during the year under review was rather complex; whilst some factors have a stimulating 
effect on business, others have the potential of unsettling market participants, burdening their business 
activity:  
 

 the slight overall slowdown during 2016 in economies which are relevant to Deutsche Börse Group 
(Central Europe, USA)  

 the major central banks� low interest rate policy and the resulting large volumes of liquidity, in  
Europe especially as a result of the European Central Bank�s quantitative easing (QE), and in  
the US as a result of the Federal Reserve�s interest rate policy (albeit with two minor interest rate 
hikes in December 2015 and December 2016)   

 the fragile economic situation in the euro area (burdened by the high national debt levels of individual 
European countries), the result of the UK referendum in June 2016, the US elections in November 2016 
� and as a result, the devaluation of the euro and pound sterling against the US dollar, which reached 
its highest level in 14 years in December 2016 

 unstable political conditions in some parts of Eastern Europe and recurring flashpoints in the Arab 
world and their impact on the Western world 

 regulatory projects and the resulting stricter requirements for capital market participants (see the  
next section entitled �Regulatory environment�)  
 

  

Share price development of Deutsche Börse AG and benchmark indices in 2016 
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Against this background, the economies of industrialised nations showed somewhat weaker growth in 
2016 compared to the previous year, as estimated by the International Monetary Fund (IMF). According 
to these estimates, real gross domestic product (GDP) rose by 1.6 per cent in 2016, compared to a 
growth rate of 2.1 per cent in 2015. Global economic growth was 3.1 per cent in 2016 (2015: real 
growth rate of 3.2 per cent).  
 
Despite a minor slowdown in global economic growth, German GDP for 2016 slightly outperformed the 
previous year�s levels, according to initial estimates. The IMF�s January 2017 estimates put growth in 
German economic output at 1.7 per cent in 2016 (2015: increase in real terms of 1.5 per cent).  
 
Economic performance throughout the euro area deteriorated again somewhat in 2016: even though no 
country was in recession during 2016, economic growth weakened in some states within the European 
Economic Area such as Spain, the Netherlands and Portugal. Hence, the European Central Bank contin-
ues to assess the economic situation in the EU as relatively fragile. It lowered the deposit rate for banks 
further in March 2016, from �0.30 per cent to �0.40 per cent. Moreover, it extended its bond-buying 
programme until the end of 2017, albeit cutting monthly volumes from �80 billion to �60 billion per 
month from April 2017 on.  
 
The IMF expects US economic output to have posted a real 1.6 per cent increase for 2016, compared  
to a 2.6 per cent increase the year before. Given further relief on the labour market and higher expected 
economic growth for 2017 (not least as a result of the US elections), the US Federal Reserve raised its 
key interest rate again in December 2016, to a range between 0.50 per cent and 0.75 per cent. 
 
All told, stagnating economic growth, political uncertainty in Europe, and the continued low interest 
rate policy pursued by the European Central Bank had a dampening effect on European capital markets 
during 2016. As a result, traded volumes on Deutsche Börse Group�s cash markets showed a marked 
decline, whilst the Group�s derivatives markets posted a slight increase. 
 
 
  

  

Development of trading activity on 
selected European cash markets 

 2016
Change 

vs 2015
 �bn %

London Stock Exchange1)  1,566.3 8

Euronext2)  1,802.0 15

Deutsche Börse Group  1,377.0 16

Borsa Italiana1) 755.3 20

Bolsas y Mercados Españoles2) 652.9 32
 

1) Part of London Stock Exchange Group 
2) Trading volume in electronic trading (single-counted) 
 
Source: Exchanges listed 

 
 

Development of contracts traded on  
selected derivatives markets 

 2016 

Change 

vs 2015
 m contracts %

Shanghai Futures Exchange 1,680.7 60

Moscow Exchange 1,950.1 19

CME Group 3,942.2 12

Deutsche Börse Group � Eurex® 1,727.5 3

Intercontinental Exchange 2,037.5 2

National Stock Exchange of India  2,134.7 30
  

Source: Exchanges listed 
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Regulatory environment 

The international financial crisis has demonstrated the necessity for increased transparency and stability 
in the global financial markets and has sparked a discussion about the role and details of the necessary 
financial market infrastructure. 
 
As a provider of a highly regulated financial market infrastructure, Deutsche Börse Group shares the  
objective of the national legislator, the European Union as well as the G20 to strengthen transparent  
and regulated markets. Being a constructive partner, we contribute to the political discussion on suitable 
national and European initiatives for financial market regulation.  
 
The considerable increase in regulatory requirements has a twofold impact on Deutsche Börse Group:  
as a market infrastructure provider, the Group must meet regulatory duties and at the same time strive  
to offer products tailored exactly to meet the needs of its customers. It therefore holds an important posi-
tion as a link between regulators and customers. As such, Deutsche Börse Group supports its customers 
in measures ensuring their compliance with regulatory requirements and thereby minimising their risks. 
The various regulatory dossiers have different impacts and/or offer opportunities for the entities contrib-
uting to Deutsche Börse Group�s value chain. Accordingly, the Group views regulation not just as an  
obligation to comply but also as an opportunity to grow (see also the  report on opportunities). 
 
Financial markets infrastructure regulation 
Regulation of markets in financial instruments (MiFID II, MiFIR) 
The revised directive (MiFID II) and the accompanying regulation (MiFIR) entered into force in July 2014. 
However, the date of application has been postponed to 3 January 2018 in order to give market partici-
pants and supervisory authorities sufficient time to prepare to the new requirements, particularly with 
regard to establishing technical reporting and monitoring systems. In Germany, the Second Financial 
Market Amendment Act (Zweites Finanzmarktnovellierungsgesetz, 2nd FiMaNoG) will transpose the new 
rules into national law and make these provisions applicable by July 2017 at the latest; a first legislative 
proposal also contains provisions on further EU Benchmark Regulation as well as the Securities Financ-
ing Transactions Regulation (SFTR) (see also below).  
 
The European Parliament, the European Commission as well as the Council of Member States have 
agreed on the large majority of implementing measures (Level 2). The European Securities and Markets 
Authority (ESMA) in close cooperation with national supervisors is currently developing a set of common 
standards guiding the interpretation and application of the new rules (Level 3).  
 
The new directive and regulation will fundamentally transform the European financial market by expand-
ing transparency provisions, strengthening the stability and integrity of its infrastructure, revising the 
market�s microstructure and improving the quality and availability of market data. The new rules will 
have a profound impact on Deutsche Börse Group, too, in particular on its trading and clearing activities, 
as well as on its market data business. We will continue our intense exchange with regulators, super-
visors as well as market participants to apply the new rules consistently and will proceed in the develop-
ment of new services and solutions which will support market participants in implementing regulatory 
objectives efficiently. Thereby, our focus lies on the areas of transparency provisions and disclosure re-
quirements, market making and algorithmic trading as well as amending the organisational requirements 
with regard to the security mechanisms of trading venues and market participants.  
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EMIR: implementation and review 
The European Market Infrastructure Regulation (EMIR), which entered into force in 2012, is a significant 
regulation for central counterparties. With the step-by-step introduction of a clearing obligation, which 
started in June 2016, implementation is about to enter the final phase. The European Commission com-
menced the official revision process for the regulation in the summer of 2015. The EU Commission�s 
draft revision with amendments to EMIR has been published on 6 January 2017. The revision is centred 
around the following issues: liquidity of central counterparties, supervisory structures as well as risk 
management aspects and infrastructure reporting requirements.  
 
Recovery and resolution regulation for central counterparties  
The recovery and resolution plans complement EMIR with the aim of providing central counterparties 
with greater stability against market disruptions. In this context, one key aspect is to establish a sound 
incentive structure at a European and global level which helps to exclude the use of tax payers� money. 
 
On a European level, the EU Commission published a proposed legislation on recovery and resolution 
plans for central counterparties in November 2016. On a global scale, the Committee on Payments and 
Market Infrastructures (CPMI), together with the International Organization of Securities Commissions 
(IOSCO), published first considerations for consultation back in 2012. CPMI/IOSCO provided global 
standards for recovery plans in October 2014. At the same time, the Financial Stability Board (FSB) 
published a framework for resolution plans in close cooperation with CPMI/IOSCO. The organisations 
published consultations in mid-2016 aiming to specify initial reports. It is expected that CPMI/IOSCO 
and FSB will publish respective results in the first half of 2017. 
 
Central Securities Depository Regulation (CSDR) 
With the CSDR, a uniform European regulatory framework for central securities depositories was estab-
lished for the first time in September 2014. The EU Commission and ESMA are currently specifying the 
requirements, by way of technical standards; these are expected to apply from March 2017 onwards. 
The CSDR will harmonise the securities settlement systems and supervisory rules for central securities 
depositories throughout Europe. This will strengthen Clearstream�s business model, because the provi-
sion of integrated banking services will still be permitted. Clearstream, Deutsche Börse Group�s provider 
of central securities depository (CSD) services, is actively involved in the legislative process and will sub-
mit its authorisation files for licences by November 2017.  
 
Regulation on benchmarks and indices  
The regulation on indices used as benchmarks in financial instruments and financial contracts (Bench-
mark Regulation) entered into force on 30 June 2016. The final application of the regulation will take 
place on 1 January 2018. The regulation largely follows the global IOSCO principles for financial bench-
marks. The IOSCO principles were developed, back in 2013, as a response to the manipulation of cer-
tain indices or reference rates (such as LIBOR and Euribor). 
 
Deutsche Börse Group, which successfully implemented the IOSCO principles in 2014 for its DAX® indi-
ces as well as for the indices of its subsidiary STOXX Ltd., welcomes the agreement reached between 
the EU Parliament and the Council. The regulation�s specific impact on the Group�s business activities 
depends on the implementation measures still to be laid out in the form of delegated acts and technical 
standards by the EU Commission and ESMA. 
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BIS FX Code of Conduct 
In May 2016, the Bank for International Settlements (BIS) released a new global Code of Conduct de-
signed to restore confidence in the foreign-exchange (FX) market following a number of scandals. The 
code is an industry-wide attempt, developed in close cooperation with regulators, to lay down common 
standards for the FX market. Phase 1 laid its focus on banks, while phase 2, due to be published in  
May 2017, will cover market issues such as electronic and high-speed trading and expand the original 
text to cover governance and risk management.  
 
Capital Markets Union 
Following the economic, monetary and banking unions, the Capital Markets Union (CMU) is the next 
step towards an integrated European financial market. The main objectives are to promote growth and 
job creation on a sustainable basis, and to develop a diversified financial system which complements 
bank-based financing with highly developed capital markets. Small and medium-sized enterprises in  
Europe still face a credit crunch, and thus a funding bottleneck. In the current financial climate, it has 
become increasingly difficult for them to obtain the financing they need to start and to grow. Another  
objective is further harmonisation and financial integration to release inactive capital throughout Europe, 
in order to offer savers a wider variety of investment forms and increase corporate financing opportuni-
ties at the same time. Current plans also include the simultaneous creation of an EU domestic capital 
market, to promote cross-border investments and enable companies to tap different sources of finance, 
independent of their domicile. 
 

 

1) Not in scope of legislative proposal  

Overview of regulatory initiatives and their impact on Deutsche Börse Group�s business areas  

  

 

Cash 
Market  Eurex EEX 360T 

Eurex 
Clearing 

Clear-
stream 

IT & 
MD+S Status as at 31 December 2016 

Financial market 
infrastructure  

      
 

MiFID II, MiFIR X X X X X X Published in 2014; application to 
start in 2018  

EMIR   X X X X  Became effective in 2012; clearing 
obligation for derivatives 
implemented successively from 
Q2/2016 onwards; draft for a 
revision expected in 2017 

Recovery and resolution 
plans for FMIs 

  X  X 1)(X)1)  New proposal for recovery and 
resolution for CCPs issued in 
November 2016 

CSDR X X   X X  Became effective in 2014; 
application expected from November 
2017 onwards 

Regulation on 
benchmarks and indices 

 X X  X X Entered into force on 30 June 2016; 
application to start in 2018 

BIS FX Code of Conduct    X   Phase 1 published in May 2016; 
Phase 2 expected in May 2017  

Capital Markets Union X X X  X X X Development of an action plan in 
2015; implementation by 2019 

Banks        

CRD IV, CRR   X  X X  Effective since 2014; transitional 
regulations applicable until 2019 

CRD V, CRR II   X  X X  Finalisation expected in 2017/2018, 
with subsequent implementation 
throughout the EU 

SFTR      X  Entry into force in January 2016; 
implementing measures (Level 2) still 
outstanding   
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The EU Commission presented an action plan in September 2015, with the aim of implementing it by 
2019. It has become increasingly clear that the goal of a CMU may not be realised by one particular  
initiative; instead, this goal requires a series of small steps, which � taken together � will most likely 
have a significant impact. This is reflected in a package of more than 33 measures identified by the  
European Commission, from which 15 initiatives have already been completed. 
 
With Brexit advancing, the EU Commission officials continue to strongly back the CMU Action Plan,  
arguing that the project is more than ever necessary for the remaining 27 Member States to improve  
financing conditions, but also to function as a risk transfer mechanism between them. On 14 Septem-
ber 2016, the Commission announced its intention to accelerate the reform, launching a more ambitious 
second phase in early 2017 to tackle some challenging long-term issues such as insolvency laws and 
withholding tax procedures. In January 2017, the European Commission launched a CMU mid-term  
review. This public consultation shall help shape the next phase in building a single market for capital 
in Europe. Market participants were invited to provide feedback by 17 March 2017. 
 
The CMU affects Deutsche Börse Group�s entire value chain. Thus, the Group actively supports the pro-
ject and assumes an active role in the political debate. In fact, Deutsche Börse is already taking steps  
to support the goals of the CMU (e.g. with its Deutsche Börse Venture Network® or its FinTech Hub); 
indeed, enabling growth in the real economy is an integral part of the company�s mission.  
 
Brexit  
On 23 June 2016, the British population voted that the United Kingdom should leave the European  
Union. Deutsche Börse Group deeply regrets this decision. Against this background, we strongly believe 
that the economic connection between Continental Europe and the United Kingdom should be reinforced 
by an integrated financial market structure. 
 
Once the UK has formally declared its intention to exit the EU � which it intends to do, but has not done 
yet � there will be a two-year period during which the UK will negotiate an exit treaty with the EU; this 
period may be extended. Until then, the UK will remain a full EU member. Hence, there will be no change 
to the existing legal framework for the time being.  
 
After the British referendum, a stable financial market connection with the United Kingdom seems to be 
more important than ever before. From our perspective, Frankfurt should promote a stable connection 
between the largest economy in Continental Europe and London, the largest financial hub in the world. 
 
For further regulatory information, please visit Deutsche Börse Group�s regulation webpages at 

www.deutsche-boerse.com/dbg-en/regulation. 
 
Banking regulations 
Basel III 
In consequence of the recent financial crisis and based on G20 decisions, the Basel Committee on 
Banking Supervision (BCBS) has substantially amended and updated the preceding banking framework, 
known as Basel II. Substantial cornerstones were published in 2011 and additional changes have been 
issued since then. Changes which have already been implemented include: 
  

http://www.deutsche-boerse.com/dbg-en/regulation
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 stricter definition of the term �capital� 
 increased capital levels 
 revised market risk framework 
 introduction of a leverage ratio 

 
The revised framework, known as Basel III, is supposed to be finalised by adding revisions of the credit 
risk framework (standardised and model-based approaches) and the operational risk framework. The  
final elements are currently under discussion but the outstanding items have not yet been agreed upon 
by the BCBS members. How and when those elements will be implemented is currently unknown. 
 
CRD IV/CRR 
By issuing the Capital Requirements Directive (CRD IV) and the Capital Requirements Regulation (CRR), 
which both became effective on 1 January 2014, the EU implemented the first cornerstones of the  
Basel III framework. Implementation with some transitional and phase-in arrangements is scheduled to  
be completed by 2019. 
 
CRD V/CRR II 
In November 2016, the European Commission proposed amendments to CRD IV and CRR which take 
into account the ongoing changes regarding the Basel III framework and other elements of banking regu-
lation. The proposed legislative package also reflects changes related to legislation on the Minimum Re-
quirement for own funds and Eligible Liabilities (MREL) and the Total Loss-Absorbing Capacity (TLAC) 
which leads to adjustments mainly affecting the Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive (BRRD).  
 
Key elements of the legislative proposal beside the MREL/TLAC adjustments are: 
 

 the introduction of a binding leverage ratio of 3 per cent 
 the introduction of a binding net stable funding ratio (NSFR) 
 a revised framework for market risk 

 
The legislative proposal is supposed to be finalised by early 2018 and will enter into force not before 
2019. As the legislative process is at an early stage and the proposal is still subject to change, its impact 
on financial market infrastructures cannot be assessed yet. Deutsche Börse Group takes an active part in 
the discussion process regarding the modification of banking regulations, and thus addresses the regula-
tion�s specific impact on financial market infrastructures with (limited) authorisation to engage in bank-
ing business. Furthermore, Deutsche Börse Group will continuously analyse the capitalisation of its regu-
lated entities, making any necessary adjustments in order to ensure that risks are adequately covered. 
 
Transparency of securities financing transactions 
The EU bodies resolved a regulation on the transparency of securities financing transactions, which 
complements the proposed regulation on the introduction of a segregated banking system that ring-
fences proprietary trading from the deposit and lending business. The regulation was published on 
23 December 2015 in the Official Journal of the European Union. It introduces a requirement to  
report securities lending and repo transactions to central trade repositories. In addition, it introduces 
rules for repledging collateral and regulates the reporting requirements of investment fund providers 
with securities lending activities. The impact of comprehensive reporting requirements for securities 
lending transactions is different for Clearstream, Eurex Clearing AG and REGIS-TR S.A. For their own 
securities financing transactions, higher expenditures are to be expected. The fact that transactions 
must be reported to a trade repository however also bears business potential for REGIS-TR. 
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Deposit Guarantee Schemes 
The implementation into national law of the Deposit Guarantee Schemes Directive only has a minor im-
pact on Deutsche Börse Group entities. In November 2015, the European Commission presented a pro-
posal on the further modification of deposit guarantee schemes, with a view to completing the banking 
union. The current status of political discussions does not yet allow for any projections on the possible 
impact of the legislative process on Deutsche Börse Group.  
 
 
Business developments 

Given the overall framework conditions outlined at the beginning of the economic report, the situation on 
the capital markets for financial services providers in the reporting period was somewhat less favourable 
compared to 2015. Slowing economic growth, the beginning of the turnaround in US interest rate policy, 
as well as uncertainty regarding the potential development of the European Union following the UK�s 
Brexit referendum, all had a dampening effect on numerous business areas of the Group. Europe saw 
significant cash inflows from US investors during 2015. This trend reversed during the year under re-
view, which placed an additional burden upon the Group�s business. For instance, volumes in equities 
and equity derivatives declined; settlement and custody volumes in domestic securities also decreased. 
On the other hand, index derivatives volumes rose thanks to stock market volatility, which was elevated 
at times. Moreover, the Group�s growth areas � such as commodities traded at the EEX group, invest-
ment funds services offered by Clearstream, and foreign exchange trading at 360T � continued to de-
velop positively. Thanks to the turnaround in US interest rates in late 2015, Clearstream�s net interest 
income also finally showed a marked increase. Looking at developments during the course of the year, 
business was strongest in the fourth quarter, whereas the third quarter turned out to be the weakest one, 
not least due to reticence amongst market participants� after the UK�s referendum. 
 
Changes to the basis of consolidation and to segment reporting 
As at 30 June 2016, Deutsche Börse Group sold International Securities Exchange Holdings, Inc. (ISE), 
operator of three US equity options exchanges, as well as ISE�s parent company, U.S. Exchange Hold-
ings, Inc., to Nasdaq, Inc., against a total cash consideration of US$1.1 billion. The stakes held in  
BATS Global Markets, Inc, in Digital Asset Holdings LLC, and in ICE US Holding Company, Inc were  
not part of this agreement; Deutsche Börse Group continues to hold these investments. On 26 Octo-
ber 2016, Deutsche Börse sold parts of its stakes held in BATS Global Markets, Inc. The �23.1 million 
capital gain after taxes achieved upon disposal is reported in the Eurex segment. Following the sale of 
ISE as at 30 June 2016, this subsidiary has represented a discontinued operation as defined in IFRS 5. 
In accordance with IFRS requirements, the Group is now reporting its financial indicators in its com-
bined management report without this discontinued operation. The comparative prior-year figures for  
the 2015 financial year were adjusted accordingly.  
 
Effective 25 February 2016, Deutsche Börse AG sold its interest in Infobolsa S.A. Until that date,  
Bolsas y Mercados Españoles (BME) and Deutsche Börse had each held 50 per cent of the interests  
in Infobolsa S.A. and its subsidiaries (Market Data + Services segment). Effective 8 July 2016, Deutsche 
Börse AG sold the assets and liabilities related to its subsidiary Market News International Inc. (MNI) to 
Hale Global as part of an asset deal. In 2015, MNI contributed less than 1 per cent to the Group�s net 
revenue (Market Data + Services segment). 
  
Within Deutsche Börse Group, a series of organisational changes took place, affecting segment reporting: 
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Xetra segment 
 explicit recognition of revenue from listings (which was previously recognised under the �other� item) 

 
Clearstream segment 

 breakdown of custody and settlement revenue into international business (ICSD), domestic business 
(CSD) and Investment Funds Services (prior to this, breakdown was only into custody and settlement) 

 
Market Data + Services segment 

 merger of the Tools and Market Solutions business segments into Infrastructure Services 
 information business segment was renamed Data Services 
 reassignment of revenue from regulatory services, from Tools to Data Services 
 reassignment of EEX connection revenue to Eurex 

 
 
Results of operations 

Although Deutsche Börse Group�s revenue resources were influenced differently by the macroeconomic 
environment, the Group was able to prove the capabilities of its diversified business model during the 
year under review.  
 
Compared to the previous financial year, cash markets profited less from the expansive monetary policy 
and excess market liquidity, although the ECB pushed deposit rates further negative during the first quar-
ter of 2016, and extended its bond-buying programme. On the contrary, in light of the uncertainty sur-
rounding the future of the European Economic Area, investors (notably from the US) increasingly with-
draw their capital from European markets, and invested in their domestic markets, or emerging markets. 
The Brexit referendum held in June, and the presidential elections in the US in November contributed  
to the capital outflow from Europe, even though Deutsche Börse registered high trading volumes imme-
diately before and after these events, as expected. Moreover, an increasing share of investments was 
bound towards alternative investment forms. Index levels of the benchmark indices DAX and STOXX® did 

Net revenue by segment 
 

EBIT by segment 
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not quite reach the annual average of the previous year, which was due, among other things, to the reve-
nue achieved with cash markets, Clearstream�s domestic business, and the MD+S segment. Benchmark 
indices only accelerated towards the end of the year � after the US elections. However, equity index deriv-
atives generated constant growth rates throughout the year, while interest rate derivatives accelerated only 
during the fourth quarter, following the turnaround in US interest rates. Deutsche Börse�s commodities 
business, operated by the European Energy Exchange (EEX) and its subsidiaries, clearly increased in all 
areas, expanding its market position vis-à-vis competitors, and OTC trading. Regarding FX trading, oper-
ated by Deutsche Börse�s subsidiary 360T, new customer business in particular provided the ground to 
achieve growth in a decelerating market. With regard to the post-trade business, Clearstream took ad-
vantage of rising interest rates in the US and the expansion of its international business, while the do-
mestic business � given the weaker German cash market � lagged the previous year. The technology and 
market data business of Deutsche Börse Group (Market Data + Services segment) achieved growth, in 
particular with the index business. The Group benefited from additional tailwinds in selected business 
divisions, such as the lower valuation of the euro compared to the US dollar, or the stable economic cycles 
prevailing in relevant economies (e.g. Germany, US). 
 
Deutsche Börse Group�s net revenue increased by 8 per cent in the 2016 financial year, with the Eurex 
segment generating the strongest growth rate of 16 per cent. Net revenue of the Clearstream and Market 
Data + Services segments increased by 5 per cent and 2 per cent, respectively, while the cash market 
lacked 11 per cent behind the previous year, at very high trading activities and increased index levels. 
Net revenue attributable to changes in the basis of consolidation totalled �41.3 million. Net revenue 
is composed of sales revenue plus net interest income from banking business and of other operating in-
come, less volume-related costs.  
 
Some of Deutsche Börse Group�s markets allocated to the Eurex segment and traded on its systems sig-
nificantly increased their volume compared to the previous year. The number of futures and options con-
tracts traded on Eurex Exchange increased by 3 per cent, trading in electricity products soared by 46 per 
cent, trading in gas products by 71 per cent, and emissions trading rose by 40 per cent. Net revenue in 
the Eurex segment increased by a total of 16 per cent. Besides the higher number of contracts, this was 
particularly attributable to the growth rate achieved by EEX, which more than doubled its net revenue 
through organic growth, and to 360T, which was fully consolidated on an annual basis for the first time. 
 
However, trading volumes declined on all cash market trading platforms. Moreover, the � compared  
to the previous year � relatively low index levels had a negative impact on the realised revenues, given 
that cash market fees are based on transaction value. Hence, net revenue decreased by 11 per cent.  
 
The Clearstream segment provides post-trade services and generated solid growth rates during the year 
under review: in the international business, and the Global Securities Financing (GSF) business, the seg-
ment grew by 3 per cent, and 8 per cent, respectively. Funds business generated stable revenues, while 
the domestic business deteriorated by 7 per cent, in line with the weaker cash market. Net interest in-
come from the banking business grew by 84 per cent compared to the previous year based on the turna-
round in US interest rates and the charging of negative deposit rates. 
 
Net revenue of the Market Data + Services segment was slightly above the previous year�s figure �  
the index business in particular developed strongly on a sustained basis and increased net revenue  
by 12 per cent. 
 
Operating costs were up 3 per cent year-on-year, including non-recurring effects of �143.2 million 
(2015: �124.8 million). Non-recurring effects are partially related to the planned merger with London 
Stock Exchange Group (LSEG) (�65.8 million), the integration of acquired companies or the devolving  
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of sold companies (�42.7 million), criminal proceedings against Clearstream Banking S.A. in the US 
(�19.7 million) as well as efficiency programmes (�11.1 million). Adjusted for these non-recurring fac-
tors, operating costs increased by 1 per cent compared to the previous year. This year-on-year increase 
was exclusively due to consolidation activities; excluding consolidation effects, costs slightly declined  
by �15.1 million or 1 per cent (2015: �1,189.3 million). 
 
Staff costs are a key driver for operating costs. Adjusted staff costs increased by �32.4 million to 
�573.0 million (2015: �540.6 million) due to a series of reasons:  
 

 full consolidation of 360T on an annual basis  
 salary increase of 2.5 per cent 
 higher bonus payments to employees due to successful financial year  
 increased average number of employees during the year under review 

 
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses increased by 8 per cent (adjusted) in the year under 
review. This was mainly due to the amortisation of hidden reserves which were revealed in connection 
with the full consolidation of 360T in 2015, in the amount of �10.1 million (2015: �2.1 million). 
 
Other operating expenses relate primarily to the costs of enhancing and operating Deutsche Börse Group�s 
technological infrastructure, including, for example, costs for IT services providers and data processing. 
In addition, other operating expenses include the cost of the office infrastructure at all the Group�s loca-
tions as well as travel expenses, most of which are incurred in connection with sales activities. Because 
of the Group�s business model and the fact that the company does not normally distribute its products 
and services to end customers, advertising and marketing costs only account for a very small portion of 
the company�s operating expenses. Adjusted for non-recurring effects, the other operating expenses de-
clined by 5 per cent. 
 
The result from equity investments amounted to �36.9 million (2015: ��1.5 million). The significant in-
crease was due in particular to non-recurring income in connection with the disposal of the shares held 
in BATS Global Markets, Inc during the fourth quarter 2016. Adjusted for this non-recurring effect, the 
result from equity investments was �5.7 million (2015: �2.7 million). 
 
Deutsche Börse Group�s earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) increased by 18 per cent during the 
year under review. Adjusted for non-recurring items in costs and the result from equity investments, the 
Group�s EBIT increased by 15 per cent.  
 
  

   

Deutsche Börse Group key performance figures 

 unadjusted   adjusted   

 2016 2015 Change 2016 2015 Change 
 �m �m % �m �m % 

Net revenue 2,388.7 2,220.3 8 2,388.7 2,220.3 8 

Operating costs 1,317.4 1,283.2 3 1,174.2 1,158.4 1 

EBIT 1,108.2 935.6 18 1,220.2 1,064.6 15 

Consolidated net profit for the period attributable 
to Deutsche Börse AG shareholders  722.1 613.3 18 810.8 712.1 14 

Earnings per share (basic) in � 3.87 3.31 17 4.34 3.85 13 
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The Group�s financial result was ��74.6 million (2015: ��57.5 million).   The change compared with 
the previous year was due in particular to positive currency effects attributable to the first quarter 2015 
in the amount of �18.1 million. 
 
The effective Group tax rate 2016 was 27.7 per cent. Adjusted for non-recurring effects, it was 27.0 per 
cent as expected.  
 
The net profit for the period attributable to Deutsche Börse AG shareholders (hereinafter referred to as con-
solidated net profit) increased by 18 per cent compared with the previous year (adjusted: 14 per cent).  
 
Non-controlling interests in consolidated net profit attributable to Deutsche Börse AG shareholders for the 
period amounted to �25.5 million (2015: �35.7 million).   Non-controlling shareholders of EEX group 
received a considerable portion of net profits. The decline was due, among other things, to the full con-
solidation of STOXX in 2015. 
 
Basic earnings per share, based on the weighted average of 186.8 million shares, amounted to �3.87 
(2015: �3.31 for an average of 185.0 million shares outstanding). Adjusted for the non-recurring in-
come items described above, basic earnings per share rose to �4.34 (2015: �3.85).  
 
Comparison of results of operations with the forecast for 2016 
For 2016, Deutsche Börse Group originally expected an increase in net revenue between 5 and 10 per 
cent given the cyclical market environment showing improving already in 2015, and the multiple struc-
tural growth initiatives being part of the �Accelerate� programme. Although the average stock market  
volatility remained under the previous year�s figure, and the low interest rate environment in Europe  
prevailed throughout the year under review, the conditions described earlier in the  �Business develop-
ments� section partly reflected the assumptions used in the forecast. Based on its highly diversified  
business model, Deutsche Börse Group increased its net revenue by 8 per cent, and thus reached the 
mean of its forecast for 2016.  
 
In 2015, Deutsche Börse Group introduced principles for managing operating costs in order to ensure 
the scalability of the Group�s business model. Since then, the Group has continuously managed operat-
ing costs relative to the development of net revenue. For 2016, the Group forecast an adjusted operating 
costs growth range of between 0 and 5 per cent, depending on the net revenue increase. With the dis-
closure of a modest growth figure of 1 per cent, at a revenue increase of 8 per cent, the Group met  
expectations. 
 
Deutsche Börse Group projected an increase in net revenue of between 5 and 10 per cent, and of oper-
ating costs in a corresponding range. Furthermore, the Group expected an increase in EBIT and in the  

Key figures by quarter (adjusted) 
            

  Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

  2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
  �m �m �m �m �m �m �m �m

Net revenue 610.5 564.7 600.7 547.1 558.5 555.0 619.0 553.5

Operating costs 279.8 260.5 275.8 273.4 275.7 290.6 342.9 333.9

EBIT 332.3 305.8 325.6 273.5 286.0 265.9 276.3 219.4

Consolidated net profit for the period  
attributable to Deutsche Börse AG  
shareholders  221.3 205.6 218.5 180.8 190.7 179.2 180.3 146.5

Earnings per share (basic) in � 1.18 1.12 1.17 0.98 1.02 0.97 0.97 0.78
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consolidated net profit of between 10 and 15 per cent. With an EBIT increase of 15 per cent, and an 
increase in net profit for the period attributable to Deutsche Börse AG shareholders (consolidated net 
profit) of 14 per cent on an adjusted basis, Deutsche Börse Group�s performance lies at the upper end  
of the projection range. Moreover, the Group achieved a ratio of interest-bearing gross debt to adjusted 
EBITDA of 1.5 at Group level, exactly in line with the target value of 1.5. The adjusted tax rate was 
27.0 per cent, as planned. In line with projections, the operating cash flow was clearly positive. Invest-
ments in the continued business in property, plant and equipment, as well as intangible assets in the 
amount of �152.6 million were in line with the forecast. After increasing its target figures, the Group 
aimed to distribute dividends equivalent to the mean of the projected range of 40 to 60 per cent of (ad-
justed) consolidated net profit. According to the proposal made to the Annual General Meeting, a figure  
of 54 per cent will be reached. 
 
Eurex segment 
The performance of the Eurex derivatives segment largely depends on the trading activities of institu-
tional investors and proprietary trading by professional market participants. The segment�s revenue is 
therefore generated primarily from the combined transaction fees that Eurex charges for trading and 
clearing derivatives contracts. 
 
Revenue generated from Deutsche Börse Group�s derivatives markets is primarily driven by the deriva-
tives traded on Eurex Exchange: equity index derivatives accounted for 42 per cent of net revenue, inter-
est rate derivatives 18 per cent and equity derivatives 4 per cent. Energy products traded on the EEX and 
its subsidiaries and/or shareholdings, and derivatives based thereon (commodities), contributed 21 per 
cent; foreign-exchange trading on 360T® contributed approximately a further 6 per cent. The �other� 
item (9 per cent) includes, among other things, the repo business, the participation fees paid by trading 
and clearing participants, as well as interest income generated by the Group�s clearing houses from in-
vesting their clients� cash collateral. Deutsche Börse Group sold US options ISE to Nasdaq, Inc. as at 
30 June 2016. The sale represents a discontinued operation as defined in IFRS 5. In accordance with 
IFRS 5 requirements, the Group is now reporting its financial key figures in its combined management 
report without this discontinued operation. The prior-year figures for the 2015 financial year were ad-
justed accordingly.  
 
The derivatives market benefited from a trading environment that was very active overall. Even though 
average volatility was lower than in the previous year, demand for Eurex products rose during the course 
of the year as a whole � also due to changes in the political environment, such as the UK�s �Brexit� ref-
erendum on the country�s EU membership in June or the US presidential election in November. More-
over, the turnaround in US interest rates � initiated in December 2015 and affirmed in December 2016 � 
stimulated business in interest rate derivatives during the second half of the year. Thanks to its broad 
product portfolio, Eurex is in a prime position to service investors� hedging strategies in all situations. 
Nonetheless, the macroeconomic environment continued to present challenges. The ECB continued its  
  

  

Comparison of results of operations with the forecast for 2016 

 Forecast Result 
 % % 

 
Net revenue +5 10 +8 

Operating costs (adjusted) 0 5 +1 

EBIT (adjusted) +10 15 +15 

Net profit for the period attributable to Deutsche Börse AG shareholders (adjusted) +10 15 +14 
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bond-buying programme and lowered its key interest rates once again in March 2016, cutting the de-
posit facility rate to �0.4 per cent, and the rate for its main refinancing operations in the euro area to 
0 per cent. This was exacerbated by the persistently fragile economic situation in some countries and  
the low inflation environment during much of the year, with deflationary trends in some cases. Higher 
capital requirements � compared to the levels prevailing just a few years ago � and stricter rules for  
proprietary trading were additional burdens for investors. 
 
Against this background, the Eurex segment once again improved on the previous year�s result during  
the year under review. In total, 1,727.5 million futures and options contracts were traded on Eurex  
Exchange during 2016, up 3 per cent year-on-year (2015: 1,672.6 million). Commodities trading  
flourished, posting double-digit growth rates for electricity and gas products, as well as in emissions 
trading. The foreign-exchange business advanced slightly, against a decline in the overall market.  
 
Net segment revenue increased by 16 per cent, operating costs rose by 8 per cent. �54.2 million (2015: 
�49.8 million) were attributable to non-recurring effects, especially in the context of the planned merger 
with LSEG and the integration of 360T and Powernext. 360T, which was consolidated in Q4/2015 ac-
counted for �64.2 million of net revenue; its share in costs was �48.5 million. EBIT rose by 36 per cent, 
adjusted for non-recurring effects by 26 per cent.  
 
As in the previous year, Eurex equity index derivatives were the product group with the highest trading 
volume. Contracts on the EURO STOXX 50® index were by far the most commonly traded products 
(374.5 million futures and 301.5 million options). The volume of Eurex�s equity derivatives contracts 
(single-stock options and futures) traded in the year under review declined by 7 per cent. The volume  
of interest rate derivatives traded rose by 3 per cent during the year under review.  
 
A rising proportion of Eurex segment revenue is contributed by relatively new products, such as volatility 
derivatives or derivatives on Italian and French government bonds, which Eurex launched to gradually 
supplement its range of benchmark products. Traded volumes in these products posted double-digit 
growth rates during the year under review. 
 

Segment key figures (adjusted) 

  Eurex Xetra Clearstream Market Data + Services 

  2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
  �m �m �m �m �m �m �m �m

Net revenue 1,032.2 887.5 164.6 184.8 781.9 746.4 410.0 401.6

Operating costs 495.5 457.6 95.1 81.0 398.8 402.8 184.8 217.0

EBIT 540.6 430.3 71.1 106.0 383.3 343.7 225.2 184.6
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EEX is the leading European energy exchange: it develops, operates and connects secure, liquid and 
transparent markets for energy and commodity products. The products traded on markets operated by 
EEX Group are electricity, natural gas, environmental products (such as emission allowances), agricul-
tural products, as well as other commodities (in particular, freight rates, bunker fuel, and metals). EEX 
completed additional inorganic growth initiatives during 2016, thus strengthening its position as the 
central market for energy, energy-related products and commodities in Europe. The most important stra-
tegic steps in 2016 included the acquisition of a majority stake in Power Exchange Central Europe a.s. 
(PXE), based in Prague, which is EEX Group�s first presence in the East European trading markets; the 
cooperation between Powernext and Austrian Central European Gas Hub AG (CEGH) for the joint deve-
lopment of gas markets in Austria, as well as in Central and Eastern Europe; and the full acquisition of 
Danish gas exchange Gaspoint Nordic A/S. Moreover, EEX Group succeeded in markedly growing its 
market share, compared to off-exchange markets, in the relevant products. On this basis, EEX Group 
posted substantial double-digit growth rates in its three core business segments during the 2016 finan-
cial year: up 46 per cent in the spot and forward electricity markets, up 71 per cent in the gas market, 
and up 40 per cent in emission rights trading. 
 

  

Eurex segment: key figures 

  2016 2015 Change 
  

Financial key figures �m �m % 

Net revenue 1,032.2 887.5 16 

Operational costs 549.7 507.4 8 

EBIT 517.6 381.7 36 

EBIT (adjusted) 540.6 430.3 26 

   

Financial derivatives: trading volume on Eurex Exchange  m contracts m contracts % 

Derivatives1) 1,727.5 1,672.6 3 

 Equity index derivatives2) 894.0 837.7 7 

 Interest rate derivatives 526.6 509.1 3 

 Equity derivatives2) 291.1 311.8 7 

   

Commodities: trading volume on EEX3) 4) TWh / m t C02 TWh / m t C02 % 

Electricity 4,455.6 3,061.5 46 

Gas 1,756.2 1,024.9 71 

Emissions trading 949.9 677.6 40 

   

Foreign exchange business: traded volume on 360T® �bn �bn % 

Average daily volume on 360T® 57.6 55.3 4 

1) The total deviates from the sum of individual figures since it includes additional traded products, such as ETF, volatility, currency and precious metals derivatives.  
2) Dividend derivatives are assigned to equity index and equity derivatives. 
3) Volumes traded on EEX � in terawatt hours (TWh) for power and gas contracts, and in million tonnes of CO2 for emissions trading 
4) Including volumes traded in the power segment on EPEX, APX/Belpex (or SEEPEX, since 17 February 2016), and in the gas segment on Powernext and Gaspoint 

Nordic (the latter added in 2016) 
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Global foreign exchange trading was characterised by declining traded volumes during the year under 
review, due to various factors including political uncertainty, changes in the regulatory framework, and 
reduced prime brokerage capacity, which burdened trading activity. Nonetheless, 360T®, one of the 
world�s leading foreign-exchange platforms (winning awards such as �Best Professional E-trading Venue� 
and �Best e-FX Platform for Corporates�), which was acquired in 2015, managed to buck this trend, in-
creasing its foreign-exchange trading volumes by 4 per cent. This growth was mainly driven by trading 
activity of new clients. 360T continued to grow its client portfolio across all regions and market seg-
ments; its integration into Deutsche Börse Group is making dynamic progress. During the year under  
review, this included joint client calls and joint cooperation in developing new offerings � for example, 
the FX trading order book, FX futures products and preparing a clearing offer for FX OTC contracts. 
 
Xetra segment 
The Xetra segment generates most of its net revenue from trading and clearing cash market securities. 
The primary sales driver, accounting for 64 per cent, was net revenue from trading. The central counter-
party (CCP) for equities and exchange-traded products (ETPs) operated by Eurex Clearing AG contributed 
16 per cent to the segment�s net revenue; the net revenue of the CCP is determined to a significant ex-
tent by trading activities on Xetra®. Listing revenue (which accounts for around 9 per cent) is primarily 
generated from existing listings and new admissions. The �other� item (accounting for a total of 10 per 
cent of net revenue) includes, among others, net revenue generated by Eurex Bonds. 
 
Net revenue in the Xetra segment declined by 11 per cent during the year under review. Operating costs 
rose by 21 per cent, mainly due to non-recurring effects. These non-recurring effects had burdened the  
  

 

Net revenue in the Eurex segment 
 

Net revenue in the Xetra segment 
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financial year 2015 (�3.9 million) and amounted to �7.3 million in the year under review, amongst oth-
ers driven by the planned business combination with LSEG. As a result of significantly higher costs, EBIT 
decreased by 34 per cent. 
 
During the year under review, cash markets in Europe failed to match the high trading volumes seen in 
2015�s record year � a development which Deutsche Börse and its marketplaces Xetra, the Frankfurt 
Stock Exchange, and Tradegate, were not immune to either. In the previous year, cash markets had bene- 
fited strongly from the launch of the ECB�s bond-buying programme (as part of its quantitative easing 
policy, QE), and from strong market liquidity. This effect was reduced during the second year of QE, and 
investors were increasingly looking at alternative investment opportunities again. This was exacerbated 
by the continued fragile state of economies in Europe, plus the UK�s decision to leave this economic area 
� developments which dented investors� confidence in the European capital markets. As a result, US in-
vestors in particular pulled capital from Europe, shifting investments to other markets.  
 
In the 2016 financial year, securities with a total volume of �1.38 trillion were traded on Deutsche Börse 
Group�s cash markets (2015: �1.64 trillion). They included shares and bonds from German and inter-
national issuers, exchange-traded funds (ETFs) and exchange-traded commodities (ETCs) as well as 
units in actively managed mutual funds and structured products. Institutional, private and international 
investors primarily trade on Xetra, the electronic trading platform. As a result, Xetra generates by far the 
highest trading volumes within the segment. In addition to Xetra, Deutsche Börse operates trading at the 
Frankfurt Stock Exchange and holds a 75 per cent stake in Tradegate Exchange GmbH � Germany�s lead-
ing stock exchange for retail investors. At the end of the reporting year, Deutsche Börse increased its stake 
in Tradegate AG Wertpapierhandelsbank, which holds the remaining shares in Tradegate Exchange, from 
just under 15 per cent to just under 20 per cent, subject to regulatory approval. 
 
Deutsche Börse has been operating Europe�s leading marketplace for ETFs since 2000. It offers investors 
the largest selection of ETFs of all European exchanges: as at 31 December 2016, 1,133 ETFs were 
listed (2015: 1,116 ETFs). Assets under management held by ETF issuers totalled �411.6 billion at the 
end of the year, a year-on-year increase of 17 per cent (31 December 2015: �351.6 billion). Trading 
volumes declined by 16 per cent to �158.0 billion (2015: �188.9 billion). The most heavily traded ETFs 
are based on the European STOXX equity indices and on the DAX index.  
 
Xetra-Gold®, a bearer bond issued by Deutsche Börse Commodities, benefited from the ECB�s low inter-
est rate policy as well as from investor unrest following the UK�s Brexit referendum. Xetra-Gold has gen- 
  

Xetra segment: key figures 

 2016 2015 Change 
  

Financial key figures �m �m % 

Net revenue 164.6 184.8 11 

Operating costs 102.4 84.9 21 

EBIT 63.8 96.7 34 

EBIT (adjusted) 71.1 106.0 33 

   

Cash market: trading volume (single-counted) �bn �bn % 

Xetra® 1,262.1 1,505.8  16 

Frankfurt Stock Exchange 43.9 54.6 19 

Tradegate 71.0 75.3 6 
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erated the most turnover among all ETCs traded on Xetra: aggregate order book turnover was around 
�2.7 billion in 2016. Likewise, assets under management in Xetra-Gold stood at a record level of  
approximately �4.2 billion as at 31 December 2016. 
 
The number of IPOs declined on a global scale during 2016, reflecting political and economic uncer-
tainty. Accordingly, IPO activity at Frankfurter Wertpapierbörse (FWB®, the Frankfurt Stock Exchange) 
showed a mixed picture, with 19 new companies listed (2015: 24 new listings), bringing aggregate  
new issue volume to around �5.2 billion (2015: �7 billion). Despite the challenging market environ-
ment for IPOs, innogy SE, a subsidiary of RWE AG, managed to place the biggest IPO since 2000 in 
early October: a total of 555.6 million shares were admitted to trading, bringing the issue volume to 
some �5 billion. 
 
The purpose of an exchange is to provide financing to, and foster growth for the real economy � this is at 
the very heart of an exchange�s business. This is why Deutsche Börse has decisively expanded the pre-
IPO business in its �Pre-IPO and Growth Financing� franchise. Alongside established on-exchange busi-
ness (including trading in equities, bonds and other securities, as well as IPOs), this business has (once 
again) formed part of a separate Executive Board portfolio since 2016. Over a medium-term horizon, co-
ordinated initiatives in the pre-IPO area are designed to lead to IPOs at the Frankfurt Stock Exchange.  
 
It is Deutsche Börse�s goal to establish an ecosystem for growth, designed to facilitate a better flow of 
investments and to enhance financing options for enterprises of any size (whether it is start-ups, small 
and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs), or large corporate groups). One of the building blocks in this de-
velopment is the FinTech Hub in Frankfurt/Main, which supports start-ups on the Frankfurt financial 
marketplace and thus fosters a lively entrepreneurial culture. Launched in 2015, Deutsche Börse Ven-
ture Network® is designed to support companies in their growth phase which require more substantial 
follow-up financing. It brings these enterprises together with international investors, facilitating the rais-
ing of capital and enabling companies to build an extensive network � paving the way for their IPO.  
At the end of September 2016, Würzburg-based va-Q-tec was the first Venture Network company to  
go public, with an IPO in the Prime Standard segment. The exclusive Venture Network online platform 
allows investors and entrepreneurs to establish initial contacts, exchanging information within a pro-
tected area. Deutsche Börse Venture Network is continuously growing: at the end of the reporting year, 
120 growth companies and 211 investors were active on the platform. Since the launch of the Venture 
Network, enterprises have raised around �1 billion in growth financing. With the new Venture Match 
service, introduced in September 2016, experts from Deutsche Börse now offer a more targeted match-
ing of investors and companies, thus simplifying and enhancing access to growth capital as well as in-
vestment opportunities. 
 
In its listing business, Deutsche Börse has announced the launch of Scale, a new segment for established 
small to medium-sized � and predominantly German � companies. The segment started operations on 
1 March 2017. Companies seeking a listing in the new SME segment must fulfil certain minimum criteria: 
besides quantitative requirements, the focus here is on transparency and visibility � e.g. through manda-
tory research reports. 
 
Clearstream segment 
The segment provides the post-trade infrastructure for the Eurobond market, and offers custody services 
for domestic securities from more than 50 markets worldwide. In doing so, Clearstream ensures that 
once a trade has been executed, cash and securities change hands. Clearstream is responsible for securi-
ties issuance, settlement, management and custody. As an international central securities depository 
(ICSD), Clearstream provides these settlement and custody services for securities held in Luxembourg. 
The ICSD business contributed 52 per cent to net revenue during the year under review. As a central se-
curities depository (CSD), Clearstream services the market for German securities; this business accounts for 
15 per cent of net revenue. Investment fund services are the segment�s third pillar, accounting for 16 per 
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cent of net revenue. Using Clearstream�s Vestima® fund processing platform, clients can manage settle-
ments and custody for their entire fund portfolio. Net revenue from the Global Securities Financing (GSF) 
franchise � which encompasses triparty repo, GC Pooling®, securities lending and collateral management 
� contributed 9 per cent of the segment�s net revenue. Net interest income from Clearstream's banking 
operations accounted for 8 per cent of net revenue. 
 
Within the ICSD and CSD business, custody services provide the greater contribution. Net revenue in 
this business is mainly driven by the volume and value of securities under custody, which determines 
the deposit fees. The settlement business � the second pillar � depends heavily on the number of settle-
ment transactions processed by Clearstream, both via stock exchanges and over the counter (OTC).  
 
During the year under review, Clearstream saw growth in its ICSD business, in its Global Securities Financ-
ing services and in its net interest income from banking business. The segment increased its net revenue 
by 5 per cent. Operating costs declined by 2 per cent. Non-recurring effects totalled �47.9 million in 2016. 
In addition to costs for the planned business combination with LSEG they were attributable in particular 
to criminal investigations against Clearstream Banking S.A. in the US (2015: non-recurring effects of 
�54.9 million). EBIT thus increased by 16 per cent, adjusted for non-recurring effects of 12 per cent.  
 
The Clearstream segment grew its ICSD business by 3 per cent: the value of international assets held in 
custody (which predominantly comprise bonds traded on the OTC market) increased slightly year-on-year, 
as did the number of transactions.  
 
  

    

Clearstream segment: key figures  

  2016 2015 Change 
  

Financial key figures �m �m % 

Net revenue 781.9 746.4 5 

Operating costs 446.7 457.7 2 

EBIT 335.4 288.8 16 

EBIT (adjusted) 383.3 343.7 12 

   

Business key figures   

International business (ICSD) �tn �tn % 

Value of securities under custody (average value during the year) 6.8 6.7 1 

   

Domestic business (CSD) �tn �tn % 

Value of securities under custody (average value during the year) 4.4 4.8 7 

   

Investment Funds Services �tn �tn % 

Value of securities under custody (average value during the year) 1.9 1.8 5 

   

Global Securities Financing �bn �bn % 

Outstanding volume (average value during the year)  515.9 598.6 14 

   

Net interest income from banking business �bn �bn % 

Average daily cash balances1) 13.1 12.4 5 
  

1) Includes some �1.5 billion currently or formerly blocked by EU and US sanctions (2015: �1.5 billion) 
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The domestic CSD business reflects the business development on the German cash markets, whereby 
custody volumes are largely determined by the market values of equities, funds and structured products 
traded. Given lower trading activity, settlement volumes were down 8 per cent, whilst the value of assets 
held in custody declined by 7 per cent, due to lower average index levels compared to the previous year.  
 
In the funds business, Clearstream saw slight increases in the volume of assets held in custody, reflect-
ing the positive overall performance on the international fund markets throughout the year. However, the 
number of transactions settled was down 5 per cent. Clearstream owns Clearstream Global Securities 
Services (CGSS) based in Cork, Ireland, previously Citco�s custody operations for financial institutions� 
hedge funds. 
 
Average outstanding volumes in GSF decreased by 14 per cent. After the ECB flooded markets with  
liquidity within the scope of its quantitative easing policy, volumes were down significantly, especially  
in GC Pooling. At the same time, order flows shifted towards smaller, higher-priced lending volumes, 
raising GSF net revenue overall.  
 
Average cash customer deposits were up 5 per cent year-on-year. Besides the effect of this increase in 
volume, net interest income benefited from the charging of negative interest rates to clients (in some 
cases with a mark-up). In addition, the US Federal Reserve had raised its US dollar interest rates for the 
first time after a long period in December 2015, following up with another increase in December 2016. 
This provided an added boost to net interest income (over and above the higher liquidity levels), given 
that around 49 per cent of cash deposits is denominated in US dollars.  
 
The TARGET2-Securities (T2S) settlement service, designed by the Eurosystem, commenced operations 
in 2016. Once T2S is fully functional in 2017 � according to schedule � it will harmonise cross-border 
securities settlements in central bank money throughout Europe. Directly following the launch date, Clear-
stream provided its clients with the full range of benefits that the new settlement system offers. This ena-
bles clients to bundle their assets in a single pool, using the respective CSD as their access point to T2S.  
  

Net revenue in the Clearstream segment 
 

Net revenue in the Market Data + Services 
segment 
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At the same time, they can benefit from the ICSD�s securities lending and collateral management services. 
For instance, it is now possible to settle triparty repos using commercial bank money (i.e. in multiple 
currencies) or central bank money (in euros), with positions being held with the ICSD and CSDs. On 
6 February 2017, Clearstream Banking AG and LuxCSD S.A. migrated � on schedule and in full � to  
the ECB�s settlement systems. Clearstream�s systems, which were initially running in parallel during the 
test phase, have been switched off. The segment envisages at least compensating for lost settlement 
fees, through a sensitive pricing policy and additional offers to clients. 
 
Market Data + Services segment  
The core business of the Market Data + Services segment is the distribution of capital market informa-
tion, technology and infrastructure services to clients worldwide. These services include real-time trading 
and market signals, as well as indices such as EURO STOXX 50® and DAX. Capital market participants 
subscribe to this information, or licence it for their own use, processing, or dissemination. The segment 
generates much of its net revenue on the basis of long-term client relationships; it is relatively independ-
ent of trading volumes and capital markets volatility. The assets and liabilities related to its MNI subsidi-
ary were sold by way of an asset deal, effective 8 July 2016. Deutsche Börse AG already sold its 50 per 
cent stake in Infobolsa S.A. in February. 
 
Despite the deconsolidation of MNI and Infobolsa, Market Data + Services slightly increased net revenue 
during the year under review. Operating costs showed a significant marked decline, due to deconsolidation 
(amongst other factors), but also through strict cost management: they included non-recurring effects of 
�33.8 million (2015: �16.2 million), largely related to the planned business combination with LSEG as 
well as to the integration respective disintegration of companies (STOXX, MNI). Accordingly, the segment�s 
EBIT rose considerably by 14 per cent, excluding non-recurring effects by 22 per cent.  
 
The net revenue of the segment comprises the business areas Data Services (40 per cent), Index (28 per 
cent), and Infrastructure Services (32 per cent). 
 
The Data Services business area mainly involves the distribution of licences for real-time trading and 
market signals, and for the provision of historical data to banks, trading firms, and fund management 
companies. The most important products in this respect are order book data from the cash and derivatives 
markets, as well as reference data of Deutsche Börse and its partner exchanges. Business remained 
largely stable during the year under review, despite the deconsolidation of MNI. 
 
In its Index business area, which it conducts through its STOXX Ltd. subsidiary, Deutsche Börse gener-
ates revenue from calculating and marketing indices and benchmarks, which banks and fund manage-
ment companies use as underlying instruments or benchmark references for financial instruments and 
investment vehicles. The extensive range of indices offered by STOXX Ltd. provides issuers with a wealth 
of opportunities for creating financial instruments for most diverse investment strategies. The Index busi-
ness continued its growth path, driven especially by a vivid issuance of structured products on STOXX 
indices that are designed for investors to realise their investment strategies and higher trading volumes of 
Eurex contracts based on STOXX and Deutsche Börse indices. Conversely, assets under management in 
ETFs declined, due to investors withdrawing capital particularly from those ETFs which track the Euro-
pean capital markets � these make up a large part of the STOXX portfolio.  
 
The Infrastructure Services business area generates revenue primarily from connectivity services for trad-
ing and clearing participants. Revenue generated from these services rose during the year under review, 
thanks to the segment�s success in convincing a constantly rising number of clients to opt for data con-
nections with higher bandwidth. In addition, Infrastructure Services provides development and opera-
tional services for technology clients outside the Group � such as partner exchanges, banks acting as 
Designated Sponsors, or the German regional stock exchanges. Deutsche Börse operates technology on  
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behalf of partner exchanges in Dublin, Vienna, Sofia, Ljubljana, Prague, Budapest, on Malta and the  
Cayman Islands, as well as domestic exchanges operated by brokers and banks in Frankfurt/Main,  
Berlin, Dusseldorf, Hamburg/Hanover and Munich.  
 
Development of profitability 
Deutsche Börse Group�s return on shareholders� equity expresses the ratio of net income after taxes  
to average equity available to the Group during the course of 2016. Mainly due to the increase in  
net income and equity, return on shareholders� equity remained largely unchanged at 17.3 per cent 
(2015: 17.0 per cent) in the 2016 financial year. Adjusted for the non-recurring effects described in the 

 �Results of operations� section, the return on equity amounted to 19.4 per cent (2015: 19.6 per cent).  
 
 
Financial position 

Cash flow 
Cash and cash equivalents at Deutsche Börse Group comprise cash and bank balances to the extent that 
these do not result from reinvesting current liabilities from cash deposits by market participants as well 
as receivables and liabilities from banking business with an original maturity of three months or less. 
Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2016 amounted to ��146.9 million (31 December 2015: 
��1,579.4 million). The technical closing-date item is negative especially due to finan-cial assets with a 
maturity of more than three months. The latter do not qualify as cash and cash equivalents and the cash 
flows associated with them have been allocated to investing activities. Cash and bank balances amounted 
to �1,458.1 million as at 31 December 2016 (31 December 2015: �711.1 million). 
 
Deutsche Börse Group�s cash flow from operating activities is relevant only to a limited extent as it in-
cludes in particular CCP positions, which are subject to significant fluctuations on the reporting date. 
Due to this, the following refers in particular to the cash flow from operating activities excluding CCP  
positions. In the 2016 financial year, Deutsche Börse Group generated �856.6 million (2015: �796.6 mil-
lion) in cash flow from operating activities, excluding changes in CCP positions on the reporting date.  
 
Moreover, Deutsche Börse Group paid taxes in the amount of �277.8 million during the 2016 financial 
year (2015: �207.7 million). Higher tax payments were partly attributable to the sale of shares in U.S. 
Exchange Holdings, Inc. 
 
Other non-cash income amounted to �52.3 million (2015: other non-cash expenses of �7.0 million); 
this was, in particular, due to income from the sale of shares in BATS Global Markets Inc. The trans-
action generated cash of �80.3 million, reported under cash flows from investing activities. 
 
  

    

Market Data + Services segment: key figures 

  2016 2015 Change

Financial key figures �m �m %

Net revenue 410.0 401.6 2 

Operating costs 218.6 233.2 6 

EBIT 191.4 168.4 14 

EBIT (adjusted) 225.2 184.6 22 
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Taking CCP positions into account, cash flow from operating activities totalled �1,621.4 million (2015: 
�10.1 million). The change in CCP positions was influenced by non-delivered GC Pooling transactions in 
a total amount of US$869.5 million; these could not be delivered on the due date (31 December 
2015), but only on 4 January 2016. The reason was a clearing participant�s failure to provide the 
necessary cash in good time.  
 
Cash inflows from investing activities amounted to �578.5 million in the 2016 financial year (2015: cash 
outflows of �1,592.3 million). These were attributable, in particular, to the sale of shares in ISE Group, 
which generated cash of �916.3 million (adjusted for cash and cash equivalents sold of �13.0 million 
that were originally included in the cash amount). Furthermore, the sale of shares in Infobolsa S.A. gen-
erated cash of �1.1 million (adjusted for cash and cash equivalents sold of �7.1 million).  
 
In addition, cash inflows of �149.9 million (2015: �208.3 million) resulted from maturities and disposals 
of securities with an original maturity of more than one year.  
 
Cash outflows of �178.9 million (2015: �815.5 million) were due to the acquisition of long-term  
financial instruments.  
 
At �164.9 million, investments in intangible assets and property, plant and equipment were above  
the prior-year level (2015: �154.5 million); most were made in the Clearstream and Eurex segments. 
Clearstream�s investments related primarily to the expansion of its settlement and collateral management 
systems, while Eurex invested in its trading and clearing systems.  
 
  

  

Consolidated cash flow statement (condensed) 
  

 2016 2015 
 �m �m 

Cash flows from operating activities (excluding CCP positions) 856.6 796.6 

Cash flows from operating activities 1,621.4 10.1 

Cash flows from investing activities 578.5 1,592.3 

Cash flows from financing activities 848.8 76.1 

Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 146.9 1,579.4 

Cash and other bank balances as at 31 December 1,458.1 711.1 
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Cash outflows for the acquisition of subsidiaries totalled �3.9 million (2015: �641.5 million). Cash out-
flows included �676.6 million for the acquisition of shares in 360T in the previous year. Full consolida-
tion of Powernext and EPEX at 1 January 2015 increased cash by �40.1 million. Since no purchase 
price was payable in the acquisition of Powernext and EPEX during the business year 2015, there were 
no cash outflows.  
 
Cash outflows stood at �848.8 million in the 2016 financial year (2015: cash inflows of �76.1 million). 
 
During the 2016 financial year Deutsche Börse AG repaid series B and C of private placements issued in 
2008, prior to maturity and within the scope of the ISE acquisition; this led to cash outflows of �321.6 mil- 
lion. In the previous year, cash outflows of �150.5 million were attributable to the maturity of series A of 
private placements issued in 2008.  
 
The acquisition of a 49.9 per cent stake in STOXX Ltd. led to aggregate cash outflows of �653.8 million 
in the 2015 financial year. This transaction was financed through the issue of a debt security with a 
nominal amount of �600.0 million. Moreover, the company placed Treasury shares in the amount of 
�200.0 million as well as a bond with a nominal amount of �500.0 million within the scope of the 
360T acquisition. 
 
Moreover, the company placed commercial paper of �400.0 million (2015: �2,100.0 million), and 
paid out �495.0 million (2015: �2,065.0 million) due to maturing commercial paper issues. No com-
mercial paper was outstanding as at 31 December 2016.  
 
In addition, Deutsche Börse AG distributed �420.1 million in dividends for the 2015 financial year  
(dividends for the 2014 financial year: �386.8 million). 
 
As in previous years, the Group assumes it will have a strong liquidity base in financial year 2016 due 
to its positive cash flows from operating activities, adequate credit lines and flexible management and 
planning systems.  
 
  

  

Deutsche Börse Group�s interest coverage ratio 

Interest expense from financing activities Issue volume 2016 2015
 �m �m

Fixed-rate bearer bond (term until March 2018) �600 m 7.4 7.4

Fixed-rate bearer bond (term until October 2022) �600 m 14.8 14.8

Fixed-rate bearer bond (term until October 2025) �500 m 8.7 2.0

Fixed-rate bearer bond (hybrid bond) �600 m 17.2 7.0

Private placements1) US$290 m 9.3 18.5

Commercial paper �142 m � 20152)

�35 m � 20162) � 

0.1

Other interest expense 4.5 4.5

Total interest expense (incl. 50 per cent of the hybrid coupon) 53.3 50.8

EBITDA (adjusted) 1,345.7 1,180.7

Interest coverage3) 25.3 23.2

1) Bought back with the proceeds from the sale of ISE mid-2016 
2) Annual average 
3) EBITDA / interest expense from financing activities (includes 50 per cent of the interest on the hybrid bond) 
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Operating leases 
Deutsche Börse Group mainly uses operating leases for the office building in Eschborn that the Group 
moved into in the second half of 2010 and for the buildings used by Clearstream Inter-national S.A.  
in Luxembourg (see  note 38 to the consolidated financial statements for details).  
 
Liquidity management 
Deutsche Börse primarily meets its operating liquidity requirements from internal financing, i.e. by  
retaining generated funds. The aim is to provide enough liquidity to cover operating costs for one 
quarter (currently between �150 million and �250 million). An intra-Group cash pool is used for pool-
ing surplus cash as far as regulatory and legal provisions allow. All of the Group�s cash investments  
are short-term in order to ensure rapid availability and are largely collateralised using liquid bonds from 
prime-rated issuers. Moreover, Deutsche Börse AG has access to external sources of financing, such as 
bilateral and syndicated credit lines, and a commercial paper programme (see  note 36 to the consoli-
dated financial statements for details on financial risk management). In recent years, Deutsche Börse AG 
has leveraged its access to the capital markets to issue corporate bonds in order to meet its structural 
financing needs. 
 
Capital management 
The company�s clients generally expect it to maintain conservative interest service cover and leverage 
ratios, and to achieve good credit ratings. Therefore, the Group targets a minimum consolidated interest 
service cover ratio (defined as the ratio of EBITDA to interest expenses from financing activities) of 16. 
During the reporting period, Deutsche Börse Group achieved this target, with an interest service cover 
ratio of 25.3 (2015: 23.2). This figure is based on relevant interest expenses of �53.3 million and ad-
justed EBITDA of �1,345.7 million.  
 
Data included for the purpose of calculating interest service cover comprises interest expenses incurred for 
financing Deutsche Börse Group, less interest expenses incurred by subsidiaries which are also financial 
institutions, including Clearstream Banking S.A., Clearstream Banking AG and Eurex Clearing AG. Interest 
expenses incurred which are not related to Group financing are not included in the calculation of interest 
service cover. 
 
Moreover, Deutsche Börse targets a maximum ratio of interest-bearing gross debt to EBITDA of 1.5 at 
Group level. During the reporting period, the Group achieved a 1.5 ratio of gross debt to EBITDA. This  
figure is based on gross debt of �1,984.7 million, and adjusted EBITDA of �1,345.7 million. Gross debt 
consisted of interest-bearing liabilities of �1,984.7 million. 
 
 
  

   

Debt instruments issued by Deutsche Börse AG (outstanding as at 31 December 2016)  

Type Issue volume ISIN Term Maturity Coupon p.a. Listing 

Fixed-rate bearer bond �600 m DE000A1R1BC6 5 years March 2018 1.125 % Luxembourg/ 
Frankfurt 

Fixed-rate bearer bond �600 m DE000A1RE1W1 10 years October 2022 2.375 % Luxembourg/ 
Frankfurt 

Fixed-rate bearer bond �500 m DE000A1684V3 10 years October 2025 1.625 % Luxembourg/ 
 Frankfurt 

Fixed-rate bearer bond  
(hybrid bond) 

�600 m DE000A161W62 Call date
 5.5 years/

final maturity in 
25.5 years

February 2021/
February 2041

2.75 % 
(until call 

date) 

Luxembourg/ 
Frankfurt 
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The decline in gross debt is a result of the full repurchase of outstanding US private placements, in  
the amount of US$290 million, which also led to the ratio of gross debt to EBITDA reaching the target  
at the end of the year.  
 
Furthermore, the company endeavours to maintain the strong AA credit rating of Clearstream Bank-
ing S.A., in order to ensure the long-term success of its Clearstream securities settlement and custody 
segment. The activities of the Eurex Clearing AG subsidiary also require Deutsche Börse AG to have and 
maintain a strong credit quality. 
 
Also, Deutsche Börse AG has publicly stated its intention to maintain certain additional financial indica-
tors for Clearstream entities which the company believes to be consistent with an AA rating. Specif-
ically, this involves a commitment to maintain minimum tangible equity (equity less intangible assets)  
of �700 million for Clearstream International S.A., and of �400 million for Clearstream Banking S.A. 
During the reporting period, Clearstream International S.A. fulfilled this commitment, reporting tangible 
equity of �1,092.1 million; the figure for Clearstream Banking S.A. was �1,179.4 million, also in line 
with this target. To the extent that the Clearstream sub-group has financial liabilities to non-banks, the 
sub-group is committed to a minimum interest service cover ratio of 25. During the reporting period as  
in the previous year, Clearstream had no financial liabilities to non-banks; for this reason, no interest 
cover ratio is being reported. 
 
Deutsche Börse Group generally aims to distribute dividends equivalent to between 40 and 60 per cent 
of adjusted net profit for the period attributable to Deutsche Börse AG shareholders. In recent years (where 
the Group�s net profit was lower), the dividend payout ratio was kept at the upper end of this range, in 
order to distribute stable dividends to shareholders. Given that the Group�s profit targets were raised in 
2015 in connection with the announcement of the �Accelerate� growth strategy, the company aims for a 
dividend payout ratio in the middle of the range between 40 and 60 per cent going forward.  
 
Moreover, until 2012 the company distributed a part of freely available funds to shareholders, via share 
buy-backs. Since 2013, these funds have been used predominantly to support the company�s develop-
ment, as well as to fulfil credit rating and regulatory capital requirements. Against the background of the 
�Accelerate� growth strategy, the company anticipates that in future, freely available funds will increasingly 
be applied not only to support the Group�s organic growth, but also to complementary external growth 
options. 
 
Dividends  
For financial year 2016, Deutsche Börse AG is proposing that the Annual General Meeting resolve to 
pay a dividend of �2.35 per no-par value share (2015: �2.25). This dividend corresponds to a dis-
tribution ratio of 54 per cent of net profit for the period attributable to Deutsche Börse AG shareholders, 
adjusted for the special factors described in the  �Results of operations� section (2015: 55 per cent, 
also adjusted for special items). Given 186.8 million no-par value shares bearing dividend rights, this 
would result in a total dividend of �439.0 million (2015: �420.1 million). The aggregate number of 

      

Relevant key performance indicators 
  

 2016 2015

 �m �m

Tangible equity of Clearstream Inter-national 
S.A. (as at the reporting date)  1,092.1 1,079.2

Tangible equity of Clearstream Banking 
S.A. (as at the reporting date) 1,179.4 1,071.6
    

 
  

Credit ratings  
 

 Long-term Short-term

Deutsche Börse AG  

Standard & Poor�s AA A�1+ 

Clearstream Banking S.A.  

Fitch AA F1+ 

Standard & Poor�s AA A�1+ 
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shares bearing dividend rights is produced by deducting the 6.2 million treasury shares from the or-
dinary share capital of 193.0 million shares.  
 
Credit ratings 
Deutsche Börse AG regularly has its credit quality reviewed by the Standard & Poor�s (S&P) rating 
agency, while Clearstream Banking S.A. is rated by Fitch and S&P.  
 
On 7 October 2016, Fitch Ratings affirmed the AA credit rating of Clearstream Banking S.A. with a stable 
outlook. The rating reflects Clearstream Banking�s leading position in the post-trade business and its very 
low risk appetite, combined with strict risk management systems, diligent liquidity management, as well 
as its impeccable capitalisation. 
 
On 19 December 2016, S&P affirmed the AA credit rating of Deutsche Börse AG, but maintained the neg-
ative outlook it had set in 2015, in connection with the acquisition of 360T.  
 
On the same date, S&P affirmed the AA credit rating of Clearstream Banking S.A. with a stable outlook. 
The rating reflects the strong risk management, minimum debt levels, as well as Clearstream�s strong 
position on the international capital markets, especially through its international custody and transaction 
business. 
 
As at 31 December 2016, Deutsche Börse AG was one of only two DAX-listed companies that had 
been awarded an AA rating by S&P. The ratings histories of Deutsche Börse AG and Clearstream are 
given in the  five-year overview.  
 
 
Net assets 

Material changes to net assets are described below; the full consolidated balance sheet is shown in the 
 consolidated financial statements.  

 
Deutsche Börse Group�s non-current assets include primarily of intangible assets and financial assets as 
well as financial instruments held by central counterparties. The last category represented the largest 
item. This asset item is matched by a liability item in the same amount. Receivables and securities from 
the banking business, which Deutsche Börse Group holds as financial assets, declined during the year 
under review, in line with goodwill and other intangible assets. This decline mainly results from the dis-
posal of ISE. 
 
Current assets also decreased, driven in particular by financial instruments held by central counterparties, 
while receivables and securities from banking business (as well as restricted bank balances) increased 
slightly. This was mainly driven by two factors: higher client cash deposits at Clearstream, and higher cash 
collateral provided by the clearing members of Eurex Clearing AG during the year under review. Cash and 
bank balances clearly improved due to the disposal of ISE. 
 
The financing of assets was provided through equity and debt capital. Equity increased year-on-year, driven 
particularly by the accounting profit realised with the disposal of ISE. 
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Non-current liabilities declined, driven mainly by two factors: Firstly, financial instruments held by central 
counterparties decreased. This liability item is matched by an asset item in the same amount. Secondly, 
interest-bearing liabilities declined. In July, Deutsche Börse redeemed series B and C bonds for an 
amount of US$290 million. 
 
The main changes within the non-current liabilities item occurred in the following areas: 
 

 a decline in financial instruments held by central counterparties 
 an increase of liabilities from cash deposits by market participants as a result of higher cash collat-
eral provided by the clearing members of Eurex Clearing AG; the main reason for this increase was 
that clearing participants provided a larger proportion of cash compared to securities as collateral 
for Eurex Clearing AG in the reporting period  

 
Overall, Deutsche Börse Group invested �152.6 million in the continued business in intangible assets and 
property, plant and equipment (capital expenditure or capex) in the reporting period (2015: �147.7 mil-
lion). The Group�s largest investments were made in the Clearstream and Eurex segments. 
 
Working capital 
Working capital comprises current assets less current liabilities, excluding technical closing-date  
items and commercial paper. Current assets excluding technical closing-date items amounted to 
�1,293.6 million (2015: �1,675.3 million). As Deutsche Börse Group collects fees for most of its  
services on a monthly basis, the trade receivables of �669.8 million included in current assets as at  
  

  

Consolidated balance sheet (extracts)  

  31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015
  m� m�

ASSETS  

Non-current assets 11,940.4 14,386.9

thereof intangible assets 3,973.7 4,633.0

thereof goodwill 2,721.1 2,898.8

thereof financial assets 1,920.9 2,309.0

thereof receivables and securities from banking business 1,604.8 2,018.6

thereof financial instruments held by central counterparties 5,856.6 7,175.2

Current assets 151,904.4 165,688.9

thereof financial instruments held by central counterparties 107,909.6 126,289.6

thereof restricted bank balances 27,777.6 26,870.0

thereof other cash and bank balances 1,458.1 711.1

  

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  

Equity 4,624.5 3,695.1

Liabilities 159,220.3 176,380.7

thereof non-current liabilities 8,669.9 10,585.4

thereof financial instruments held by central counterparties 5,856.6 7,175.2

thereof interest-bearing liabilities 2,284.7 2,546.5

thereof current liabilities 150,550.5 165,795.3

thereof financial instruments held by central counterparties 107,479.4 126,006.5

thereof cash deposits by market participants 27,777.6 26,869.0
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31 December 2016 (31 December 2015: �554.1 million) were relatively low compared with net reve-
nue. The current liabilities of the Group, excluding technical closing-date items, amounted to �1,453.0 mil-
lion (2015: �1,196.2 million, excluding technical closing-date items). The Group therefore had slightly 
negative working capital of �159.4 million at the end of the year (2015: �479.1 million). 
 
Technical closing-date items 
The �receivables and securities from banking business� and �liabilities from banking business� bal-
ance sheet items on the balance sheet are technical closing date items that were strongly correlated 
in the reporting period and that fluctuated between approximately �14 billion and �20 billion 
(2015: between �10 billion and �15 billion). These amounts mainly represent customer balances in 
Clearstream�s international settlement business. 
 
The �financial instruments of the central counterparties� item relates to the function performed by 
Eurex Clearing AG and European Commodity Clearing AG: since the latter act as the central counter 
parties for Deutsche Börse Group�s various markets, their financial instruments are carried in the bal-
ance sheet at their fair value. The financial instruments of the central counterparties are described in 
detail in the  risk report and in  notes 3, 15 and 36 to the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Market participants linked to the Group�s clearing houses partly provide collateral in the form of cash 
deposits, which are subject to daily adjustments. The cash deposits are generally invested on a se-
cured basis overnight by the central counterparties and reported in the balance sheet under �re-
stricted bank balances�. The total value of cash deposits at the reporting dates relevant for the re-
porting period (31 March, 30 June, 30 September and 31 December) varied between �24 billion 
and �29 billion (2015: between �27 billion and �36 billion). 
 
Value added: breakdown of company performance   
Deutsche Börse Group�s commercial activity contributes to private and public income � this contribu-
tion is made transparent in the value added statement. Value added is calculated by subtracting de-
preciation and amortisation as well as external costs from the company performance. In 2016, the 
value added by Deutsche Börse Group amounted to �1,627.1 million (2015: �1,541.0 million). 
The breakdown shows that large portions of the generated value added flow back into the econ-
omy: 28 per cent (�454.3 million) benefit shareholders in the form of dividend payments, while 
37 per cent (�607.5 million) was attributable to staff costs in the form of salaries and other remu-

neration components. Taxes accounted for 18 per cent (�291.8 million), while 4 per cent 

Origination of value added 
 

Distribution of value added 
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(�56.8 million) was attributable to external creditors. The 13 per cent value added that remained in 
the company (�216.7 million) is available for investments in growth initiatives, among other things 
(see  �Origination of value added� and �Distribution of value added� charts).  
 
 
Overall assessment of the economic position by the Executive Board 

Deutsche Börse Group�s financial performance during the 2016 financial year was in line with the range 
expected by the Executive Board, given the Group�s success on the derivatives and energy markets and � 
at least in the US � the accelerating interest rate curve. In total, the Group recorded an 8 per cent in-
crease in net revenue. Operating costs were up 3 per cent year-on-year, a modest increase compared to 
2015, despite consolidation effects. The increase was due in particular to costs incurred in connection 
with mergers and acquisitions. Adjusted by such effects, costs incurred during the year under review in-
creased by only 1 per cent compared to the previous year, despite the consolidation of new subsidiaries. 
EBIT, as well as net profit for the period attributable to Deutsche Börse AG shareholders, increased con-
siderably over the previous year, reaching the upper end of the forecast range. 
 
The Executive Board believes that Deutsche Börse Group�s financial position was extremely sound during 
the reporting period. The Group generated high operating cash flows, as in the previous year. Given the 
considerable increase in adjusted EBIT, Deutsche Börse Group was able to improve the ratio of interest-
bearing gross debt to EBITDA at Group level: at 1.5, it was at the target value of 1.5. 
 
Rating agencies again affirmed the Group�s credit quality, awarding it excellent ratings in 2016.  
On 19 December 2016, Standard & Poor�s affirmed the AA credit rating of Deutsche Börse AG, but 
maintained the negative outlook in connection with the acquisition of 360T, financed with equity and 
debt capital. Furthermore, Standard & Poor�s � just like Fitch Ratings on 7 October 2016 � affirmed the 
AA credit rating of Clearstream Banking S.A. Both ratings were assigned a stable outlook.  
 
Deutsche Börse AG has offered its shareholders attractive returns for years � and financial year 2016 
is no exception. At �2.35 (2015: �2.25), the dividend proposed for distribution to shareholders is 
above the prior-year level. In addition, the distribution ratio decreased slightly as a result of the im-
provement in earnings, falling from 55 per cent in the previous year to 54 per cent in the year under re-
view (adjusted for non-recurring effects in both cases), and was thus in line with the Executive Board�s 
forecast range of 40 to 60 per cent. 
 
The Group�s net assets, financial position and results of operations can be considered to be in an or-
derly state. 
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Deutsche Börse Group: five-year overview 

   
   2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 

   
Consolidated income statement   

Net revenue  �m 1,932.3 1,912.3 2,047.8 2,220.31) 2,388.7 

thereof net interest income from banking business �m 52.0 35.9 37.62) 50.62) 84.0 

Operating costs �m 958.6 1,182.8 1,114.8 1,283.21) 1,317.4 

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) �m 969.4 738.8 1,011.3 935.61) 1,108.2 

Net profit for the period attributable to  
Deutsche Börse AG shareholders �m 645.0 478.4 762.3 613.31) 722.1 

Earnings per share (basic) � 3.44 2.60 4.14 3.311) 3.87 

Consolidated cash flow statement   

Cash flows from operating activities �m 707.7 728.3 677.3 10.1 1,621.4 

Consolidated balance sheet   

Non-current assets �m 5,113.9 8,796.9 11,267.2 14,386.9 11,940.4 

Equity �m 3,169.6 3,268.0 3,752.1 3,695.1 4,624.5 

Non-current interest-bearing liabilities �m 1,737.43) 1,521.9 1,428.53) 2,546.5 2,284.7 

Performance indicators   

Dividend per share � 2.10 2.10 2.10 2.25 2.354) 

Dividend payout ratio % 585) 6) 7) 8) 619) 10) 11) 586) 7) 11) 55 5412) 

Employees (average annual FTEs) 3,416 3,515 3,911 4,4601) 4,731 

Personnel expense ratio (staff costs / net revenue) % 216) 2213) 239) 27 25 

EBIT margin, based on net revenue % 50 39 49 42 46 

Tax rate % 26.07) 26.08) 13) 26.014) 26.0 27.0 

Return on shareholders� equity (annual average)15) % 22 21 21 2016) 1916) 

Deutsche Börse shares   

Year-end closing price � 46.21 60.20 59.22 81.39 77.54 

Average market capitalisation �bn 8.5 10.0 10.8 14.7 14.0 

Rating key figures   

Gross debt / EBITDA 1.66) 1.56) 1.56) 1.96) 11) 1.5 

Interest coverage ratio % 15.26) 20.16) 26.06) 23.21) 25.3 

Deutsche Börse AG: Standard & Poor�s  Rating AA AA AA AA AA 

Clearstream Banking S.A.: Standard & Poor�s  Rating AA AA AA AA AA 

 Fitch Rating AA AA AA AA AA 

Market indicators   

Xetra®, Frankfurt Stock Exchange and Tradegate   

Trading volume (single-counted)17) �bn 1,160.2 1,157.6 1,282.6 1,635.7 1,377.0 

Eurex®   

Number of contracts m 2,292.0 2,191.9 2,097.9 1,672.61) 1,727.5 

Clearstream   

Value of securities deposited (annual average) �bn 11,111 11,626 12,215 13,274 13,075 

Global Securities Financing (average outstanding 
volume for the period) �bn 570.3 576.5 609.8 598.6 515.9 

   

1) Figures for 2015 without consideration of ISE, which represents a discontinued operation due to its disposal as at 30 June 2016   2) Clearstream and Eurex seg-
ments   3) Bonds that will mature in the following year are reported under �other current liabilities� (2012: �577.4 million; 2014: �139.8 million).   4) Proposal to 
the Annual General Meeting 2017   5) Adjusted for the non-taxable income related to the revaluation of the share component of the purchase price paid for the acqui-
sition of the shares of Eurex Zürich AG held by SIX Group AG   6) Adjusted for the costs of mergers and acquisitions and of efficiency programmes   7) Adjusted for 
expenditure relating to the revaluation of the share component of the purchase price paid for the acquisition of the shares of Eurex Zürich AG held by SIX Group AG, a 
one-off gain from the reversal of deferred tax liabilities for STOXX Ltd. resulting from a decision by the Swiss Financial Supervisory Authority and a one-off gain from 
the recognition of deferred tax assets resulting from the future possible offsetting of losses carried forward by Eurex Global Derivatives AG   8) Adjusted for the tax 
benefit from initial recognition of deferred tax assets on tax loss carryforwards at a Group company   9) Adjusted for efficiency programme effects and costs incurred 
for the change of CEO in 2015   10) Adjusted for costs for mergers and acquisitions   11) Adjusted for costs largely related to criminal proceedings against Clear-
stream Banking S.A. in the US   12) Amount based on the proposal to the Annual General Meeting 2017   13) Adjusted for the costs of the OFAC settlement   
14) Adjusted for a one-off gain from the dissolution of the financing structure established in connection with the acquisition of ISE, and a one-off expense mainly 
attributable to the reduction in deferred tax assets in respect of a tax loss carryforward   15) Net profit for the period attributable to Deutsche Börse AG shareholders / 
average shareholders� equity for the financial year based on the quarter-end balance of shareholders� equity   16) Adjusted for non-recurring effects   17) Since 
Q3/2013, this figure has included warrants and certificates due to the consolidation of Börse Frankfurt Zertifikate AG.   
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Report on post-balance sheet date events 

On 1 February 2017, Deutsche Börse AG announced that the Public Prosecutor�s Office of Frank-
furt/Main investigated at Deutsche Börse AG in respect of a share purchase by its Chief Executive Officer 
which was carried out on 14 December 2015 in implementation of the Executive Board�s remuneration 
programme as approved by the Supervisory Board of Deutsche Börse AG. Such programme provides for 
an investment of the Executive Board members in shares of Deutsche Börse AG. Deutsche Börse AG and 
the Chief Executive Officer fully cooperate with the public prosecutor. 
 
On 6 February 2017, the relevant bodies of Deutsche Börse AG and London Stock Exchange Group plc 
(LSEG) decided to formally submit the divestment of LCH.Clearnet SA by LCH.Clearnet Group Limited as 
a remedy to the European Commission in order to address anti-trust concerns raised by the European 
Commission in relation to the merger of both companies. 
 
Following the market test in relation to the remedy proposal of 6 February 2017, the European Commis-
sion has raised new concerns regarding the viability of LCH SA as a divestment business in relation to 
access to bond and repo trading feeds currently provided for by MTS S.p.A., an Italian regulated elec-
tronic trading platform. The European Commission has therefore required that Deutsche Börse AG and 
LSEG commit to the divestment of LSEG�s majority stake in MTS S.p.A. to secure merger clearance. 
LSEG has resolved to not commit to the required divestment of LSEG�s majority stake in MTS S.p.A. 
 
The parties will await the further assessment by the European Commission and currently expect a  
decision by the European Commission on the merger of Deutsche Börse AG and LSEG no later than 
3 April 2017. 
 
On 2 March 2017, Deutsche Börse Group announced that it had completed the divestiture of its remain-
ing shareholding in BATS Global Markets, Inc. (BATS). After receiving a cash and share consideration as 
part of the acquisition of BATS by Chicago Board Options Exchange, Inc. (CBOE), the CBOE shares were 
sold in the market. Deutsche Börse AG expects a positive impact on its net profit for the period attributa-
ble to Deutsche Börse AG shareholders of around �68 million in the first quarter of 2017. In Q4/2016, 
Deutsche Börse already realised a net profit contribution of around �23 million by selling one third of its 
stake in BATS. This stake resulted from a participation of the divested International Securities Exchange 
Holdings, Inc. (ISE) in Direct Edge Holdings, LLC, which later merged with BATS. 
 
On 3 March 2017, the Executive Board of Deutsche Börse AG communicated that its indirectly held 
subsidiary European Energy Exchange AG has reached an agreement in principle with the shareholders 
of Nodal Exchange Holdings, LLC on the purchase of all shares in Nodal Exchange Holdings, LLC. The 
total purchase price for all shares amounts to a low nine-digit sum (in US dollars). The execution of 
binding agreements is intended to take place shortly. The closing of the acquisition is still subject to cus-
tomary conditions such as required regulatory approvals. 
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Non-financial key performance indicators  

Employees   

Committed, highly skilled employees are one of the cornerstones of Deutsche Börse Group�s business 
success. Their dedication, flexibility and will to deliver outstanding performance shape its corporate cul-
ture. Deutsche Börse Group aims to make sure that staff with these qualities continue to join the com-
pany in the future and, ideally, that they stay for the long term. It does this by adopting a sustainable hu-
man resources policy. Within the scope of its �Accelerate� programme, the Group increased its emphasis 
upon a high-performance culture, with a more distinct focus on clients� needs and on innovation. This 
culture is supported by a remuneration system for executive staff which incorporates growth, perfor-
mance, and financial indicators to a higher extent than before. 
 
Deutsche Börse Group employs an international workforce at 37 locations worldwide: as at 31 Decem-
ber 2016, Deutsche Börse Group had 5,176 employees (31 December 2015: 5,100), while the aver-
age number of employees in the reporting period was 5,095 (2015: 4,760). The decrease in staffing 
levels was predominantly attributable to the deconsolidation of International Securities Exchange Hold-
ings, Inc. (�183), Infobolsa S.A. (�79) and Market News International Inc. (�91) and their respective 
subsidiaries. On the other hand new jobs were created (+246) mainly in the context of the �Accelerate� 
growth initiatives and other strategically important projects, such as IT sourcing and outsourcing initia-
tives.  
 
To recruit and retain the best talent for the company, Deutsche Börse Group offers flexible working time 
models. Including part-time employees, there was an average of 4,731 full-time equivalents during 
the year (2015: 4,460). As at 31 December 2016, the proportion of part-time employees was 
higher in the general workforce than in management, and it was higher among women than among 
men.  
 
It is Deutsche Börse Group�s declared intention to achieve a reasonable work-life balance. The com-
pany offers a number of options designed to achieve a positive work-life balance as part of its �Job, 
Life & Family� initiative: 
 

 option to work from home (teleworking) 
 childcare service for emergencies and during school holidays (a service used in Germany on a total 
of 78 days)  

 emergency parent-child offices at the Eschborn, Luxembourg and Prague locations 
  

      

Employees per countries/regions 

  31 Dec 2016 %

Germany 2,226 43

Luxembourg 1,076 21

Czech Republic 793 15

Ireland 314 6

United Kingdom 167 3

Rest of Europe 302 6

North America 97 2

South America 2 0

Asia 192 4

Middle East 7 0

Total 5,176 100
    

 
 

Employees by segment 

  31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015 

Eurex 1,851 1,651  

Xetra 323 326  

Clearstream 2,443 2,397  

Market Data + Services 559 726  

Total 5,176 5,100 
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 reservation of places for employees� children aged between six months and three years at a day care 
centre in Eschborn, whereby the number of dedicated places depends on demand within the com-
pany 

 an �Elder and Family Care� programme to facilitate support for family members requiring care 
 the option to take sabbaticals, used by three employees in Luxembourg and six in Prague in 2016 

 
A total of 67 male and 81 female employees took parental leave in financial year 2016, thereof one 
male and one female in management positions. In the reporting period, 61 male and 53 female employ-
ees returned to the company after taking parental leave, while three male and five female employees left 
the company after their parental leave. Deutsche Börse Group supported its employees by subsidising 
childcare in the amount of �791 thousand in the reporting period (2015: �789 thousand). All employ-
ees receive a monthly net amount of up to �255.65 per child until it is six years old or starts school. 
 
Employees may attend sports or relaxation courses. The purpose of these measures is to achieve a 
good work-life balance. One of the objectives pursued with these measures is to ensure that employees 
remain healthy, in spite of high workloads, and to keep sickness levels within the company as low as 
possible. For instance, the company assigns increased importance to the fact that employees take their 
annual vacation during the course of the year. The sickness ratio within Deutsche Börse Group 
amounted to 2.9 per cent in the year under review (2015: 3.1 per cent).  
 
As at 31 December 2016, 70 per cent of Deutsche Börse Group employees were graduates 
(2015: 69 per cent). This figure is calculated on the basis of the number of employees holding a de-
gree from a university, university of applied sciences or university of cooperative education; it also 
includes employees who have completed comparable studies abroad. In the area of continuing pro-
fessional development, the Group invested an average total of 3.8 days per employee in 2016 
(2015: 3.6 days) and, among other things, conducted 1,524 internal training events (2015: 1,079 
internal training events). Of these, 40 per cent were on business-related issues, 26 per cent covered 
specialist topics, 10 per cent dealt with the work-life balance, 24 per cent were on IT subjects and  
  

Deutsche Börse Group employee age structure Deutsche Börse Group employee age structure 
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were part of induction training. The digital �Future Workplace� environment supports collaboration 
throughout the Group; it brings colleagues around the world closer together and facilitates everyday work 
routines for all members of staff. The Future Workplace comprises the Microsoft SharePoint collaboration 
platform, the Skype for Business messenger and video call service, as well as Good Work for mobile 
business communications. Numerous information sessions and training courses were held to train staff 
in using the Future Workplace. 
 
Adjusted for efficiency programme costs, staff costs per employee stood at �121 thousand and corre-
sponded approximately to those of the previous year (2015: �125 thousand). Deutsche Börse 
Group�s Executive Board resolved a voluntary salary increase of 2.5 per cent in Germany in financial 
year 2016. Salaries were also adjusted at the Group�s other locations. 
 
The average age of Deutsche Börse Group�s employees at the end of the reporting period was 39.7 years 
(2015: 39.8 years). The  charts entitled �Deutsche Börse Group employee age structure� show the em-
ployee age structure as at 31 December 2016. In the course of the year, a total of 386 employees left 
Deutsche Börse Group (not including deconsolidation effects and colleagues who accepted one of the 
company�s offers under the efficiency programmes and left the company or took early retirement). A total 
of 755 people joined the Group (excluding consolidation effects). The staff turnover rate was 9.8 per cent 
(adjusted: 7.7 per cent), an increase year-on-year (2015: 7.6 per cent and 7.2 per cent respectively). 
The average length of service at the end of the reporting period was 8.9 years (2015: 9.7 years). 
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Intensified talent promotion 
To motivate and promote top talent is a key instrument for Deutsche Börse Group to remain sustainably 
successful in this digital age. Two new programmes were launched to this end: the �Evolving Leaders� 
programme, which is designed to identify and promote future managers, and the �Show Your Talent� ini-
tiative, which is set to create visibility for � and to support � employees� entrepreneurial and innovative 
potential. The previous nomination process was replaced by an application scheme, which provides for a 
better overview of existing talent within the company. At the same time, the programmes are designed to 
strengthen staff commitment and their performance orientation, as outlined above.  
 
360-degree feedback introduced for executive staff 
During the year under review, executives� performance was for the first time not only assessed by their 
respective superiors but also by employees within their area of responsibility, and by fellow executives. 
The over 90 per cent response rate shows that the programme was very well received. The experience 
gained will be incorporated into career development planning for executive staff. 
 
 

  

Key data on Deutsche Börse Group�s workforce as at 31 December 2016 
 

  Global thereof in Germany thereof in Luxembourg 

  Male Female Total Male Female Total Male Female Total
   

Employees 3,080 2,096 5,176 1,364 862 2,226 646 430 1,076 

Senior and middle 
management 282 48 330 151 29 180 70 14 84 

Junior 
management 230 88 318 111 31 142 57 27 84 

Staff 2,568 1,960 4,528 1,102 802 1,904 519 389 908 

Part-time employees          

Senior and middle 
management 5 4 9 4 1 5 1 3 4 

Junior 
management 0 9 9 0 4 4 0 5 5 

Staff 80 432 512 54 251 305 19 122 141 

Disabled employees 32 28 60 28 27 55 3 0 3 

Proportion of 
graduates (%) 73 66 70 76 65 72 57 54 56 

Apprentices 18 6 24 18 6 24 � � � 

Interns and students1) 105 116 221 90 105 195 15 11 26 

Length of service          

Under 5 years (%) 42 42 42 36 39 37 23 28 25 

5�15 years (%) 33 35 34 31 30 31 31 31 31 

Over 15 years (%) 25 23 24 33 31 32 46 41 44 

Staff turnover           

Joiners 439 316 755 160 132 292 35 35 70 

Leavers 309 192 501 126 61 187 45 25 70 

Training days per staff 
member 3.57 4.14 3.80 3.70 4.96 4.19 4.16 4.14 4.15 

Promotions 131 132 263 34 45 79 37 19 56 

Employees covered by 
collective bargaining 
agreements 1,525 1,102 2,627 966 689 1,655 559 413 972 

1) The global figures reported here refer solely to the locations in Germany, Luxembourg and the Czech Republic; this corresponds to 80 per cent of Group staff. 
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Target female quotas adopted 

In accordance with the Gesetz für die gleichberechtigte Teilhabe von Frauen und Männern an Führung-
spositionen in der Privatwirtschaft und im öffentlichen Dienst (German Act on the Equal Participation of 
Women and Men in Leadership Positions in the Private and Public Sectors), Deutsche Börse AG�s Super-
visory Board and Executive Board have defined target quotas for women on these boards and for the two 
management levels directly beneath the Executive Board. These target quotas relate to Deutsche Börse 
AG (excluding subsidiaries) and will be valid until 30 June 2017.  
 
At the time the Executive Board resolved the target quotas (15 September 2015), the share of female 
employees amounted to 6 per cent for the first management level, and 10 per cent for the second man-
agement level. The Executive Board resolved as a minimum target to maintain those quotas until 
30 June 2017. As at 31 December 2016, female proportion for the first and second management level 
below Deutsche Börse AG�s Executive Board was 11 per cent and 15 per cent, respectively.  
 
In 2010, the Executive Board had already set a voluntary target for Deutsche Börse Group to increase the 
proportion of women in middle and senior management to 20 per cent, and in junior management to 
30 per cent, by 2020. The Group has affirmed this ambition. These targets relate to Deutsche Börse 
Group worldwide, including subsidiaries. In contrast to statutory obligations, the voluntary commitment is 
based on a wider definition of management levels, including team leaders, for example. In Deutsche 
Börse Group�s global operations, as at 31 December 2016, these quotas stood at 15 per cent (2015: 15 
per cent) for middle and senior management and 28 per cent (2015: 27 per cent) for junior management 
levels. In the Group�s German locations, they were 16 per cent (2015: 14 per cent) and 22 per cent 
(2015: 23 per cent), respectively. 
 
In order to raise the share of women in executive positions, the company explicitly ensures that women 
are included in proposals for executive positions. In principle, however, qualifications are decisive when 
filling such vacancies. In addition, Deutsche Börse Group offers numerous additional tools to promote fe-
male employees, such as targeted succession planning, a mentoring programme involving internal and 
external mentors, a women�s network, as well as training courses designed specifically for women. 12 of 
the current 25 members of the High Potential Circle, Deutsche Börse Group�s training programme for po-
tential future executives, are female (48 per cent). 
 
Furthermore, the Group analyses at regular intervals whether there are remuneration differences be-
tween men and women. No systematic discrimination against men or women was detected. In fact, 
any differences in remuneration are based on qualifications, the length of service and function. 
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Sustainable economic activity 

Deutsche Börse Group acts �with an eye to the future�. Its sustainability strategy of the same name de-
fines the Group�s understanding of entrepreneurial responsibility, and guides its operations. As an inter-
national capital markets organiser, Deutsche Börse aims to build and grow trust in market structures. As 
a listed company included in DAX®, it wants to lead by example. And as a corporate citizen, it endeav-
ours to use its core business competence to contribute to resolving social challenges.  
 
Building trust  
Sustainable index products 
To provide investors with responsible investment options that meet ecological, social and economic crite-
ria, Deutsche Börse Group develops sustainable indices. Deutsche Börse Group aims to strengthen the 
future viability of capital markets by offering a wide variety of indices. The indices capture public atten-
tion for sustainably operating businesses and increase transparency. 
 
STOXX Ltd., a subsidiary of Deutsche Börse AG, offers a broad spectrum of transparent sustainability in-
dices. With the STOXX® Low Carbon index family, Deutsche Börse more than doubled its offering of indi-
ces from 35 to 100 in 2016. It comprises amongst others the index families STOXX® Global ESG Lead-
ers and STOXX® Sustainability. The STOXX Global ESG Leaders indices are based on sustainability 
ratings covering environmental, social and governance (ESG) criteria. The STOXX Sustainability indices 
show the performance of sustainable companies. 
 
The STOXX Low Carbon index family was introduced in February 2016. It was designed for investors 
wishing to �decarbonise�, i.e. limit the exposure of their portfolios to reduce climate-related risks, such 
as stricter regulation or physical damage, while participating in the growth of low-carbon industries. To 
cater to different investment strategies, STOXX developed fully tailored solutions based on broad index 
universes, with four sub-families offering additional diversification potential across varying degrees of 
carbon exposure.  
 
Transparency and standardisation  
As a marketplace organiser, Deutsche Börse Group considers ensuring transparency in the capital mar-
kets as its direct responsibility. In doing so, it fosters stability in these markets, thereby promoting their 
economic success. Positioning itself in this manner, Deutsche Börse Group is geared to the needs of 
market participants. 
 
Today, ESG factors account for a considerable share of enterprise value, which is why institutional inves-
tors place more and more importance on this information in their decision-making processes. To support 
these processes, Deutsche Börse Group has conducted surveys amongst companies listed in the DAX, 
MDAX®, SDAX® and TecDAX® indices on their sustainability reporting every year since 2014. The results 
are openly accessible on  en.boerse-frankfurt.de/sustainable-securities and provide an overview of the 
reporting formats the companies choose (annual report, separate sustainability report or combined/inte-
grated report), the standards they apply as well as the contact details for sustainability-related questions 
for each company.  
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Leading by example  
Sustainability indices and ratings inform on the reporting and performance of companies in the area of 
sustainability, including a company�s ecological, social and corporate governance performance, together 
with its management of opportunities and risks. As a listed company, Deutsche Börse itself is also sub-
ject to regular audits carried out by independent third-party providers. Given thoroughly positive assess-
ments during the year under review, Deutsche Börse Group was again included in numerous sustainabil-
ity indices: 
 

 Dow Jones Sustainability Indices (DJSI) Europe: since 2005; World: since 2015; result of Robeco 
SAM rating: total score 71; average sector score 43  

 ECPI Euro Ethical Equity Index: since 2008; ECPI EMU Ethical Equity Index: since 2008; ECPI Global 
Developed ESG Best in Class Equity Index: since 2013 (launch year); result of ECPI ESG rating 

 Ethibel Sustainability Index (ESI) Excellence Europe: since 2013; based on Forum Ethibel rating (part 
of Vigeo) 

 Euronext Vigeo � Eurozone 120 Index: since 2014; based on Vigeo rating 
 FTSE4Good Indices (Global and Europe): since 2009; result of FTSE ESG rating: total score 4.0 out of 
5; supersector relative: 96 out of 100 

 MSCI World ESG Index: since 2010; MSCI ACWI ESG Indices: since 2010; based on MSCI ESG re-
search 

 PAX ellevate Global Women�s Index (PXWEX): since 2014; based on MSCI ESG research 
 STOXX ESG Leaders Index: since 2011 (launch year). The entirely rule-based and transparent STOXX 
rating model means that there is no conflict of interests; result of Sustainalytics rating: total score of 75 
(E: 78, S: 74, G: 73), ranking: 7th out of 248 companies 

 STOXX Sustainability Indices (Europe and eurozone): since 2001; the entirely rule-based and transpar-
ent STOXX rating model means that there is no conflict of interests; based on Bank Sarasin analyses 

 
Raising public awareness 
As Deutsche Börse Group is committed to sustainably empowering the non-profit sector, it founded 
Phineo gAG together with the Bertelsmann Foundation in 2009. Phineo is a charitable public limited 
company that provides advisory and analysis services to foundations, non-profit organisations and com-
panies. In 2015 Deutsche Börse renewed its status as principal shareholder of Phineo for another two 
years. Deutsche Börse decided to continue this cooperation with the goal of interlocking its core compe-
tences more closely with those provided by Phineo, to jointly develop solutions for social challenges. 
During the year under review, both houses were among those successfully applying to participate in the 
EU project �Establishing a new early-stage impact fund for social-tech ventures�, thereby establishing a 
thematic focus for their joint work in 2017.  
 
Key sustainability figures for Deutsche Börse Group  
Within the scope of so-called materiality analyses, Deutsche Börse regularly assesses which topics are of 
particular significance for the Group. The  �Sustainability: key figures for Deutsche Börse Group� table 
summarises the non-financial key performance indicators that characterise the Group�s sustainability 
profile according to these analyses. Key figures on transparency and security have been collected quar-
terly since 2013, and published in the yearly and half-yearly financial reports. 
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In July 2016, Deutsche Börse Group established its Group Sustainability Board to develop the Group-
wide sustainability strategy and advise the Executive Board on sustainability issues. Thanks to the new 
Board, Deutsche Börse Group has already included additional steps in its value creation chain and 
linked the key figures more clearly to its core business. 
 
Comparison with the forecast for 2016 
With regard to the development expected of its non-financial performance indicators for 2016, the Group 
succeeded in maintaining a very high level of systems availability whilst adhering to the highest security 
standards. In specific terms, the availability of the T7® trading system rose from 99.93 to 99.96 per 
cent, while Xetra® availability remained at a very high level of 99.99 per cent. 
 
It was in 2010 that the Executive Board adopted a voluntary commitment to increase the share of 
women holding management positions to 20 per cent by 2020. These numbers cover Deutsche Börse 
Group in its entirety, on a global basis. During the year under review, the share of women in senior and 
middle management remained at 15 per cent, and rose to 28 per cent in junior management.  
 
Deutsche Börse Group diligently complies with the Gesetz für die gleichberechtigte Teilhabe von Frauen 
und Männern an Führungspositionen in der Privatwirtschaft und im öffentlichen Dienst (German Act on 
Equal Participation of Women and Men in Leadership Positions in the Private and Public Sectors), speci-
fying target quotas for the parent company, Deutsche Börse AG. For details, please see the  �Target fig-
ures for women in management positions� section in the corporate governance declaration.  
 

  

  

Sustainability: key figures for Deutsche Börse Group 

   2016 2015
  

ESG criteria   

Assets under management in ESG index-related products1) �m 12.5 �

Transparency      

Proportion of companies reporting in accordance with maximum transparency 
standards2) % 91 91

Number of indices calculated   11,975 11,403

Number of sustainable index concepts   100 35

Security and reliability    

Availability of cash market trading system (Xetra®) % 99.999 99.999

Availability of derivatives market trading system (T7®) % 99.962 99.930

Market risk cleared via Eurex Clearing (gross monthly average)  � trillion 14.8 16.7

Compliance     

Punished cases of corruption   0 0

Proportion of business units reviewed for corruption risk % 100 100

Number of employees trained in anti-corruption measures3)   47 976

Number of justified customer complaints relating to data protection   0 0

1) Comprising FlexShares STOXX® Global ESG Impact Index and FlexShares STOXX® US ESG Impact Index, which are used as basis for two ETFs launched in 2016.
2) Ratio of the market capitalisation of companies listed in the Prime Standard to the market capitalisation of all companies listed on the Frankfurter Wertpapierbörse 

(FWB®, the Frankfurt Stock Exchange) 
3) In the fourth quarter of 2016, seven mandatory training modules were planned for implementation. Among these, one completely redesigned module is focused 

on anti-bribery and corruption. Since December 2016, this module has been successively rolled out for all employees of Deutsche Börse Group; the roll-out will 
continue into 2017. As of the reporting date, 31 December 2016, the roll-out included 504 employees, with a participation rate of 9 per cent. It will be ensured 
that all Group employees complete the mandatory trainings in 2017. 
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Risk report 

Deutsche Börse Group�s core area of expertise includes solutions that enable its customers to effi-
ciently manage risk and collateral. It is therefore all the more important for the Group to protect itself 
against risk. This section of the combined management report shows how the company deals with 
risks and threats. Despite the continuing tensions in the financial system and the regulatory develop-
ments, the Group�s risk profile remained largely stable. Overall operational risk declined, although the 
threat of cyber crime increased. 
 
The first section of this risk report explains the enhanced risk strategy and demonstrates how the 
Group manages its risk. In the second section of this risk report, the Group outlines approaches and 
methods employed for monitoring risk. In the third section, the various types of risks the Group is ex-
posed to are described, and how the Group manages them. The fourth section provides a summary of 
the risk situation, together with an outlook on future developments for Deutsche Börse Group�s risk man-
agement. Supplementing the risk report, senior management sets out what it believes the Group�s future 
prospects are, in the  report on opportunities. 
 
Deutsche Börse Group includes, among other companies, Clearstream Banking S.A. and Clearstream 
Banking AG, which form part of the Clearstream Holding group (hereinafter �Clearstream�), and Eurex 
Clearing AG. These institutions are subject to the banking supervision regime and its corresponding 
statutory requirements, and therefore already meet the strictest requirements for risk management. In 
addition, European Commodity Clearing AG, Eurex Bonds GmbH and Eurex Repo GmbH are  
also subject to the regulatory requirements set out in EMIR, CRD IV and MiFID (for details on the  
requirements, see  note 20 to the consolidated financial statements). Rules and regulations directly af-
fect the Group�s institutions, Clearstream and Eurex Clearing AG, especially the Mindestanforderungen 
an das Risikomanagement (MaRisk, Minimum Requirements for Risk Management) issued by the Bun-
desanstalt für Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht (BaFin, German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority), as 
well as Circular 12/552 (Central Administration) issued by the Commission de Surveillance du Secteur 
Financier (CSSF, Luxembourg Financial Supervisory Authority). The so-called second pillar of Basel III 
contains requirements on how banks must manage their risks; accordingly, this applies to Clearstream 
and Eurex Clearing AG. Moreover, pursuant to the Gesetz zur Abschirmung von Risiken und zur Planung 
der Sanierung und Abwicklung von Kreditinstituten und Finanzgruppen (RiskAbschG, German Act on 
Ringfencing and Recovery and Resolution Planning for Credit Institutions and Financial Groups), which 
was amended to implement the EU Banking Recovery and Resolution Directive (BRRD), Clearstream and 
Eurex Clearing AG have prepared recovery plans. Over and above this requirement, Deutsche Börse Group 
has also voluntarily prepared a Group-wide recovery plan � in particular, in the event that a restructuring 
might become necessary for Clearstream and/or Eurex Clearing AG. At the request of the national super-
visory authorities, Clearstream and Eurex Clearing AG made a substantial contribution to the resolution 
plans to be developed by the supervisory authorities. Management expects this work to continue in 
2017. All other companies in the Group comply with best-in-class standards for comparable companies. 
As a result, risk management across the Group aims to meet the highest standards. 
 
With its range of risk management services, Deutsche Börse Group strives to make a sustainable contri-
bution � primarily through its role as an organiser of capital markets, securing market integrity and secu-
rity; and also by enhancing market efficiency in distribution, through its price discovery function. On top 
of this, Deutsche Börse Group assumes key risk management functions for its clients � for example, 
through the centralised management of their market price risk exposure via the Group�s clearing house, 
Eurex Clearing AG. In this way, Deutsche Börse Group contributes to the efficiency and systematic stabil-
ity of the capital markets. 
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Risk strategy and risk management 

Deutsche Börse Group�s risk strategy is aligned with its business model and business strategy. The 
Group provides the infrastructure for reliable and secure capital markets, assists constructively in their 
regulation and plays a leading role in all of the areas in which it does business. Deutsche Börse Group�s 
risk strategy is based on three core principles:  
 
1. Risk limitation � protecting the company against liquidation and ensuring its continued operation  
�Capital exhaustion should not occur more than once in 5,000 years and an operating loss may not 
be generated more than once every hundred years.� This means that one goal is to ensure a proba-
bility of 99.98 per cent or more that the total capital will not be lost within the next twelve months. 
Another objective is to guarantee for a probability of 99.0 per cent or more that Deutsche Börse will 
at least break even, expressed in terms of its EBIT. In other words, this principle establishes how 
much risk the Group must be able to withstand while also determining its risk appetite. 
 
2. Support for growth in the various business segments  
�Risk management supports the business areas in expanding their business by working together to 
comprehensively identify and communicate risks.� This principle aims to permit the Group to make 
informed strategic decisions within the scope of the risk appetite that it has defined. 
 

Interlocking business strategy and risk strategy 
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3. Appropriate risk/return ratio  
�The return on equity should exceed the cost of equity.� Deutsche Börse Group has set itself the goal 
of ensuring that risk and return should be reasonably balanced, both for specific business are-as in 
general and for individual regions, products and customers.  
 
Internal risk management is based on the Group-wide detecting and managing of risk, which is fo-
cused on its risk appetite, see the  �Interlocking business strategy and risk strategy� chart. Deutsche 
Börse AG�s Executive Board has overall responsibility, and defines the framework, for risk manage-
ment throughout the Group. Under these Group-wide risk management requirements, each business 
segment and each regulated company is responsible for managing its own risk. This coordinated pro-
cess ensures, for example, that the Group and its companies can act just as quickly and effectively 
in the event that several systems fail simultaneously as if a single system fails.  
 
Implementation in the Group�s organisational structure and workflow 
The risk strategy applies to the entire Deutsche Börse Group. Risk management functions, processes 
and responsibilities are binding for all Group employees and organisational units. To ensure that all 
employees are risk-aware, risk management is firmly anchored in the Group�s organisational struc-
ture and workflows and is flanked by measures such as risk management training. The Executive 
Board is responsible for risk management overall, whereas within the individual companies it is the 
responsibility of the management. The boards and committees given below regularly receive compre-
hensive information on risks.  
 
Deutsche Börse AG�s Supervisory Board evaluates the effectiveness of the risk management system, 
its continuing development and oversees the monitoring of risks. The Supervisory Board has dele-
gated the regular evaluation of the appropriateness and the effectiveness of the risk management 

Risk management � organisational structure and reporting lines 
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system to the Risk Committee. The Risk Committee reviews the risk management system, its contin-
uing improvement and oversees the monitoring of risks. In addition, it examines the risk strategy and 
risk appetite on an annual basis. 
 
Deutsche Börse AG�s Executive Board determines the Group-wide risk strategy and risk appetite and 
allocates the latter to the company�s individual business segments and business units, respectively. 
It ensures that the Group�s risk appetite is and remains compatible with its short- and long-term 
strategy, business and capital planning, risk-bearing capacity and remuneration systems. It also de-
termines what parameters are used to assess risks, how risk capital is allocated and what procedures 
apply. It ensures that all business units comply with these requirements for the risk strategy, risk ap-
petite and risk limits.  
 
The Group Risk Committee (GRC) reviews the risk position of the Group every two months and in-
volves the Executive Board in all decisive questions. The GRC is an internal Group committee, 
chaired by the Chief Financial Officer. In addition, the GRC regularly checks the levels of all parame-
ters for appropriateness and, where necessary, makes recommendations to the Chief Risk Officer 
(CRO) or the Executive Board, as to any adjustments that should be made.  
 
Group Risk Management (GRM) is headed by the CRO. This unit prepares the proposals to be 
adopted for risk levers, i.e. the Group�s risk strategy, appetite, parameters, capital allocation and pro-
cedures. GRM continuously analyses and evaluates risks and produces quantitative and qualitative 
reports. These are submitted six times a year to the GRC, once a month to the Executive Board, once 
a quarter to the Risk Committee of the Supervisory Board and twice a year to the Supervisory Board. 
This system means that the responsible bodies can regularly check whether the defined risk limits 
are being adhered to consistently. In addition, GRM recommends risk management measures. 
 
The Group�s regulated subsidiaries act in the same way, always ensuring that they meet the require-
ments of the Group. In particular, they adhere to the risk appetite framework allocated to them by 
Deutsche Börse Group. The relevant supervisory boards and their committees are involved in the pro-
cess, as are the executive boards and the risk management functions within the various business ar-
eas. Clearstream and Eurex Clearing AG, the Group�s institutions, implement customised versions of 
the risk strategy, using parameters and reporting formats that are compatible with the  
higher-level, Group-wide structure. At Clearstream, responsibility lies with the executive boards of 
Clearstream Holding AG and Clearstream Banking S.A., which are supervised by their supervisory 
boards; at Eurex Clearing AG, responsibility lies with the executive board, which is also monitored by 
the supervisory board. 
 
Centrally coordinated risk management � a five-stage process 
Risk management is implemented in a five-stage process. The objective is to identify all potential 
losses in good time, to record them centrally and to evaluate them in quantitative terms as far as 
possible; if necessary, management measures must then be recommended and their implementation 
monitored (see the  �The five-stage risk management system� chart). The first stage identifies the 
risks and the possible causes of losses or operational hitches. In the second stage, the business ar-
eas regularly � or immediately, in urgent cases � report to GRM the risks that they have identified 
and quantified. In the third stage, GRM assesses the risk exposure, while in the fourth stage, the 
business areas manage the risks by avoiding, mitigating or transferring them, or by actively accepting 
them. The fifth and final stage involves, for example, monitoring different risk metrics and, where 
necessary, informing the responsible Executive Board members and committees of significant risks, 
their assessment and possible emergency measures. In addition to its regular monthly and quarterly 
reports, GRM compiles ad hoc reports for members of the executive and supervisory boards. The risk 
management functions at Clearstream and Eurex Clearing AG report to the respective executive 
boards and supervisory boards. Internal Auditing is responsible for monitoring compliance with the 
risk management system. 
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Approaches and methods for risk monitoring 
 
Deutsche Börse Group uses quantitative and qualitative approaches and methods for risk monitoring, 
with the objective of providing as complete a picture as possible of its risk situation at all times. To this 
end, the Group continuously reviews internal events with regard to their risk properties, whilst also con-
sidering regional as well as global developments. The Group is thus able to recognise and analyse exist-
ing risks; at the same time, it is able to swiftly and adequately respond to emerging risks, as well as to 
changes in the market and the business environment. 
 
Existing risks 
Deutsche Börse Group employs a range of tools to monitor and evaluate its operational, financial and 
business risks on a continuous basis. Applying the liquidation principle, the going-concern principle, and 
the regulatory capital requirements of the Group�s credit institutions, risks are aggregated at a Group 
level and quantified using the concept of value at risk (VaR). Moreover, so-called stress tests are carried 
out in order to simulate extreme, yet plausible, events and their impact upon the Group�s risk-bearing 
capacity. Risk metrics, which are used as an early-warning system for quantified [internal] risks, repre-
sent an additional risk monitoring method. 
 
Aggregate risk measurement 
The purpose of the VaR model is to determine the amount of capital � given a confidence interval de-
fined ex ante � required to cover potential losses incurred within one year. In this context, economic cap-
ital (EC) in accordance with the liquidation principle, as well as regulatory capital (RC) for credit institu-
tions within Deutsche Börse Group are calculated. Conversely, the going-concern principle is based on 
earnings at risk (EaR). 
 
1. Liquidation principle: what risk can the capital cover? 
The first part of Principle 1 of its risk strategy specifies that Deutsche Börse Group is not expected to 
exhaust its risk-bearing capacity in more than 0.02 per cent of all years. For Clearstream and Eurex 
Clearing AG, EC calculated in this manner also complies with the requirements of the second pillar of 
Basel III. Deutsche Börse Group determines its risk-bearing capacity on the basis of its reported eq-
uity in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). It adjusts this figure for 
precautionary reasons, for example to take into account the fact that it may not be possible to dis-
pose of intangible assets at their carrying amounts in cases of extreme stress. Clearstream and Eurex 
Clearing AG determine their risk-bearing capacity on the basis of their regulatory capital (for details, 
see  note 20 to the consolidated financial statements).  
 

The five-stage risk management system 

Î»°±²·¾·´·¬§

Û¨»½«¬·ª» Þ±¿®¼

Ù®±«° Î·µ Ý±³³·¬¬»»

Ù®±«° Î·µ Ó¿²¿¹»³»²¬

Þ«·²» ¿®»¿

Î·µ ³¿²¿¹»³»²¬ ¬®¿¬»¹§ ¿²¼ ¿°°»¬·¬»

Î·µ °®±B ´» ³±²·¬±®·²¹ ¿²¼ ³¿²¿¹»³»²¬

Î·µ ³¿²¿¹»³»²¬ °®±½»

ïò ×¼»²¬·º§ îò Ò±¬·º§ ìò Ý±²¬®±´

íò ß» ëò Ó±²·¬±® ¿²¼ ®»°±®¬



 

 

 
 

  

62  

  

For management purposes, GRM regularly determines the ratio of the EC to the risk-bearing capacity. 
This indicator is known as the utilisation of risk-bearing capacity and it answers a key risk management 
question: how much risk can the Group afford and what risk is it currently exposed to? The ratio of EC to 
risk-bearing capacity remained within the stipulated maximum risk throughout the reporting period. If 
this were not the case, the Group would in a worst-case scenario exhaust its entire risk-bearing capacity 
and would have to be liquidated (�gone concern�). The liquidation concept therefore assumes that the 
Group will not have to be liquidated. 
 
2. Going-concern principle: what risks can be absorbed by earnings? 
Deutsche Börse Group employs the going-concern principle that assumes an orderly continuation of the 
Group in the event of a crisis, and that uses EaR as an indicator. This indicator corresponds to the sec-
ond part of Principle 1 of the Group�s risk strategy, i.e. that an operating loss may occur no more than 
once in a hundred years. In other words, there should be a probability of 99.0 per cent or more that 
Deutsche Börse should at least break even (net profit/loss expressed in terms of earnings before interest 
and taxes (EBIT)). Under the going-concern principle, EaR determined in this way is compared with the 
Group�s risk appetite � which is, in turn, measured in terms of projected EBIT. 
 
3. Regulatory capital requirements 
In addition, Clearstream and Eurex Clearing AG must calculate their capital requirements for various 
risk types (see the  �Deutsche Börse Group�s risk profile� chart) in line with the Pillar I requirements 
under Basel II and Basel III. In addition, Eurex Clearing AG must fulfil European Market Infrastructure 
Regulation (EMIR) requirements. A standardised approach is used for analysing and evaluating credit 
and market risk; risk weightings are applied on the basis of the relevant counterparty ratings.  
 
The approach taken for operational risk is different: Clearstream has used the significantly more com-
plex advanced measurement approach (AMA) for this in all business units since 2008. This means 
that it meets the regulatory capital requirements for operational risk set out in the EU�s Capital Re-
quirements Regulation (CRR). Similar to EC calculations, the model employed was fundamentally re-
vised and improved during 2016. The method � which has been approved and is regularly tested by 
BaFin � allows required capital to be allocated to the regulated units. In contrast, Eurex Clearing AG 
employs the basic indicator approach in order to calculate regulatory capital requirements (for details, 
see  note 20 to the consolidated financial statements).  
 
  

Deutsche Börse Group�s risk profile 
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Stress tests 
Stress tests are being carried out in order to simulate extreme, yet plausible, events for all material types 
of risk. Using both hypothetical as well as historical scenarios, stress tests simulate the occurrence of 
extreme losses, or an accumulation of large losses, within a single year. In addition, liquidity risk is eval-
uated by way of liquidity stress tests as well as so-called inverse stress tests; the latter analyse which 
loss scenarios would exceed the risk-bearing capacity.  
 
Risk metrics 
Risk metrics are used to quantify the exposure to the most important internal operational risks against 
set limits. Any breach of these limits serves as an early warning signal, which is reported to the Execu-
tive Board and other boards and committees on a monthly basis. Furthermore, any such breach will im-
mediately trigger the requisite risk mitigation processes.  
 
Emerging risks 
With regard to risk management, Deutsche Börse Group pursues a sustainable, long-term strategy by 
also evaluating risks beyond a twelve-month horizon. For this purpose, the Group has developed so-
called risk maps covering impending regulatory requirements, business risks, as well as IT and infor-
mation security risks. Risk maps classify risks by their probability of occurring � and by their financial 
impact, should they materialise. This is based on a five-year planning horizon, which is equivalent to the 
development cycle for the operational risks relevant to Deutsche Börse Group: regulation and IT. Typi-
cally, regulatory requirements evolve over a period of up to five years, from the first draft to implementa-
tion. This horizon is also appropriate for the evaluation of IT risks, given that technology is subject to on-
going change.  
 
Long-term developments 
For Deutsche Börse Group, risks that prevail throughout longer consideration periods mainly comprise 
the failure to respond to global changes in, or mega-trends on, the financial markets and the business 
environment, or a late response to such developments. In order to compensate for such risks, Deutsche 
Börse Group aspires to think ahead, and to set standards applicable throughout the industry. The Group 
pursues its targets by promoting mutual exchange with regulators and market participants (e.g. White 
Paper). A further trend worth noting is the potential of start-up companies to come up with innovations 
that may have a disruptive effect upon markets. Deutsche Börse Group not only actively invests in such 
enterprises, through its DB1 Ventures subsidiary � it also offers them a platform. Deutsche Börse Venture 
Network provides an opportunity to exchange ideas and experience, and also to find investors.  
 
 
Risk description 

The following section describes the types of risk that Deutsche Börse Group generally has to manage 
and presents the risks it actually faces. It also explains the measures that Deutsche Börse Group 
uses to reduce the loss event and to minimise their financial effects. Firstly, however, what follows is 
a brief explanation of the risk profile, which differs from most other financial services providers, since 
financial risk plays a significantly smaller role for Deutsche Börse Group. 
 
Risk profile 
Deutsche Börse Group differentiates between the three standard types of risk: operational, financial 
and business risk. Project risks also exist but the Group does not specifically quantify these as their 
impact is already reflected in the three traditional risk types. 
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Low level of typical bank risk  
The risks faced by Deutsche Börse Group�s institutions differ fundamentally from those of other fi-
nancial service providers. Clearstream and Eurex Clearing AG have a structurally lower risk in com-
parison with other banks because they act as intermediaries rather than, for example, having an own 
distinct business area that trades on the financial markets. Consequently, Deutsche Börse Group�s 
institutions do not bear the associated market price risks. On the contrary, they offer market partici-
pants services such as collateral and risk management to reduce their risk from trading activities. 
The Group�s banking business mainly consists of providing reliable clearing, settlement and custody 
services, as well as collateral management.  
 
The regulatory capital requirements for Clearstream and Eurex Clearing AG are primarily due to  
operational risk (see the  �Regulatory capital requirements for Clearstream and Eurex  
Clearing AG� chart). Information on the additional capital requirements under EMIR for Eurex Clearing 
AG and European Commodity Clearing AG is provided in  note 20 to the consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
Operational risk greater than financial and business risk 
Utilisation of risk-bearing capacity in the liquidation principle and of risk appetite in the going con-
cern principle are used as internal management indicators throughout Deutsche Börse Group (see 
the  �Approaches and methods for risk monitoring� section for an explanation of these terms). In 
addition to the financial and operational risk already mentioned, business risk is also identified and 
assessed. This relates in particular to potential threats to revenue such as price pressure or loss in 
market share as well as cost risks. Under the liquidation principle, financial risk amounts to approxi-
mately 23 per cent of Deutsche Börse Group�s total risk, while business risk represents 14 per cent 
of the total. This makes the third typical risk type all the more important for Deutsche Börse 
Group: at 63 per cent, operational risk accounts for more than half of the total risk (see the  �Re-
quired economic capital for Deutsche Börse Group, by risk type� chart).  
 
A larger part of the risk is associated with the Clearstream and Eurex segments (see the  �Required 
economic capital by segment� chart), in keeping with the proportion of sales revenue and earnings 
accounted for by this business. In contrast to the regulatory capital requirements, this calculation 
also includes business areas that are not covered by banking regulations.  

Regulatory capital requirements for Clearstream and 
Eurex Clearing AG as at 31 December 2016 

 
Required economic capital for Deutsche Börse 
Group, by risk type as at 31 December 2016 
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A similar split can be seen for EaR. Here, too, the business segments with the largest proportions of 
revenues and earnings � Clearstream and Eurex � have the largest shares of earnings at risk (see the 

 �Earnings at risk by segment� chart). 
 
Deutsche Börse Group assigns indicators to each risk exposure to estimate how likely it is to occur and 
what financial effect it could have. It distinguishes four probability levels (very low, low, medium and 
high) and four financial impact levels (low, medium, substantial and a risk to the company as a going 
concern). However, none of the risks assessed reach the fourth impact level either individually or in to-
tal; in other words, none jeopardises the existence of the entire Group as a going concern.  
 
These categories can be used to assess the risk types given below as examples. The estimated prob-
abilities of the risks occurring are categorised as follows:  
 

 very low (the probability of the risk occurring is less than 1 per cent) 
 low (the probability of the risk occurring is equal to or greater than 1 per cent but less than 10 per cent) 
 medium (the probability of the risk occurring is equal to or greater than 10 per cent but less than 
50 per cent) 

 high (the probability of the risk occurring is equal to or greater than 50 per cent) 
 
The estimated financial effects can be classified into the following four categories: 
 

 low (the financial loss could be up to 10 per cent of EBIT) 
 medium (the financial loss could be up to 50 per cent of EBIT) 
 substantial (the financial loss could be up to 100 per cent of EBIT) 
 risk to the business as a going concern (the financial loss of Deutsche Börse AG could be up to the 
available risk cover amount) 

  

Required economic capital by segment  
as at 31 December 2016 

 
Earnings at risk by segment 
as at 31 December 2016 
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In the following, the risk types are first illustrated with specific examples and then explained in detail.  
 
1 Operational risk 

 failure of a trading system 
 cyber attacks 
 incorrect processing of client instructions (e.g. corporate actions) 
 incorrect handling of the default of a large customer 
 losses from ongoing legal disputes  
 conflicting laws of different jurisdictions 

 
2. Financial risk 

 default of a credit counterparty 
 losses arising from the impairment of pension fund assets 
 default by a customer and an associated liquidity squeeze 

 
3. Business risk 

 market share loss in European trading markets 
 the return of the European government debt crisis 
 implementation of a financial transaction tax 

 
Risks which could jeopardise the Group�s continued existence could arise only from a combination of 
extreme events that have a very low probability: 
 

 failure of a trading system for several days in a highly volatile market environment  
 simultaneous failure of several large systemically important banks 
 deliberate breaches of sanctions 

 
These extreme events that could lead to a loss corresponding to more than 100 per cent of annual 
EBIT are rated as having a probability of less than 0.1 per cent. Such extreme events, also known as 
�tail risks�, have not occurred to date. Tail risks may represent going concern threats for certain sub-
sidiaries, for example if sanctions were to be deliberately contravened. Group Risk Management 
(GRM) assesses these risks continuously and reports regularly to the Executive Board of Deutsche 
Börse Group on the results. 
 
Operational risk 
Operational risk for Deutsche Börse Group relates to availability, processing, material goods, litiga-
tion and business practice (see the  �Operational risks at Deutsche Börse Group� chart). Human 
resources risks are quantified just like other operational risks. Operational risk accounts for 63 per cent 
of the total Group risk. 
 
System availability 
Operational resources such as the Xetra® and T7® trading systems are essential for the services of-
fered by Deutsche Börse Group. They should never fail, in order to ensure that market participants 
can trade securities or derivatives at any time and without delay. The Group therefore calculates the 
availability of these systems as an important risk indicator. In line with the Group�s risk strategy, the 
business areas are responsible for monitoring the indicators. 
 
The longer the downtime for one of these systems, the larger the potential loss. An outage could be 
caused by software or hardware issues, or in unlikely cases, the availability of the systems could be 
affected by acts of cyber crime or terrorist attack. In the past, only limited failures have occurred both  
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with Xetra and with T7 and its predecessor system. In practice, there has never been a system fail-
ure lasting longer than one day. Deutsche Börse Group has taken a number of measures to further 
minimise the risk of failure lasting an entire day or longer. This supports the view that the probability 
of a system failure lasting longer than a week in an extremely volatile market is very low. However, 
the potential financial effect of such an event could be significant if claims are justified and asserted.  
 
In general, availability risk represents the largest operational risk for Deutsche Börse Group. The 
Group therefore subjects it to regular stress tests, which check not only what happens when its own 
systems fail but also when suppliers fail to deliver.  
 
Service deficiency 
Risks can also arise if a service provided to a customer is inadequate and this leads to complaints or 
legal disputes. One example would be errors in the settlement of securities transactions due to defec-
tive products and processes or mistakes in manual entries. A second example is errors in handling 
the default of a large clearing customer. To date, defaults are rare, no such handling errors have oc-
curred and related processes are tested at least annually, which is why the probability is considered 
to be very low. The potential financial loss is put at medium.  
 
Other sources of error may be attributable to suppliers or to product defects or mistakes that may 
lead to the loss of client assets or mistakes in accounting processes. The Group registers all com-
plaints and formal objections as a key indicator of processing risk. 
 
Damage to physical assets 
Natural disasters, accidents, terrorism or sabotage are other operational risks that could, for example, 
cause the destruction of, or severe damage to, a data centre or office building. Business continuity 
management (BCM) aims at averting significant financial damage (see the  �Business continuity 
management� chart).  

Operational risks at Deutsche Börse Group 
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Legal offences and business practice 
Losses can also result from ongoing legal proceedings. Deutsche Börse judges the probability that 
this operational risk will occur to be medium, although the losses involved could be substantial. As a 
result, GRM continually monitors ongoing legal proceedings. These can be brought if Deutsche Börse 
Group breaches laws or other requirements, enters into inadequate contractual agreements or fails to 
monitor and observe case law to a sufficient degree. Legal risk also includes losses due to fraud and 
labour law issues. This could entail, for example, losses resulting from insufficient anti-money laun-
dering controls or breaches of competition law or of banking secrecy. Such operational risks can also 
arise if government sanctions are not observed, e.g. in case of conflicting laws of different jurisdic-
tions, or in the event of breaches of other governmental or higher-order regulations.  
 
In its  2012 corporate report, Deutsche Börse Group informed about proceedings, Peterson vs 
Clearstream Banking S.A., the first Peterson proceeding, initiated by various plaintiffs seeking turno-
ver of certain customer positions held in Clearstream Banking S.A.�s securities omnibus account with 
its US depository bank, Citibank NA, and asserting direct claims against Clearstream Banking S.A. 
for damages of US$250 million. That matter was settled between Clearstream Banking S.A. and the 
plaintiffs and the direct claims against Clearstream Banking S.A. were abandoned. 
 
In July 2013, the US court ordered turnover of the customer positions to the plaintiffs, ruling that 
these were owned by Bank Markazi, the Iranian central bank. Bank Markazi appealed, and the deci-
sion was affirmed on 9 July 2014 by the Second Circuit Court of Appeals, and then by the US Su-
preme Court on 20 April 2016. Once the process of distribution of funds to the plaintiffs is complete, 
a related case, Heiser vs Clearstream Banking S.A., also seeking turnover of the same assets, should 
be dismissed. 
 
On 30 December 2013, a number of US plaintiffs from the first Peterson case, as well as other US 
plaintiffs, filed a complaint targeting restitution of certain assets that Clearstream Banking S.A. holds 
as a custodian in Luxembourg. In 2014, the defendants in this action, including Clearstream Bank-
ing S.A., moved to dismiss the case. On 19 February 2015, the US court issued a decision granting 
the defendants� motions and dismissing the lawsuit. On 6 March 2015, the plaintiffs appealed the 
decision to the Second Circuit Court of Appeals, which heard oral arguments in the case on 8 June 
2016. 
 
On 14 October 2016, a number of US plaintiffs filed a complaint naming Clearstream Banking S.A. 
and other entities as defendants. The complaint in this proceeding, Havlish vs Clearstream Banking 
S.A., is based on similar assets and allegations as in the Peterson proceedings. The complaint seeks 
turnover of certain assets that Clearstream Banking S.A. holds as a custodian in Luxembourg. The 
complaint also asserts direct claims against Clearstream Banking S.A. and other defendants and pur-
ports to seek damages of up to approximately US$6.6 billion plus punitive damages and interest. 
 
On 2 April 2014, Clearstream Banking S.A. was informed that the United States Attorney for the 
Southern District of New York has opened a grand jury investigation against Clearstream Banking 
S.A. due to Clearstream Banking S.A.�s conduct with respect to Iran and other countries subject to 
US sanction laws. Clearstream Banking S.A. is cooperating with the US attorney. 
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A dispute has arisen between MBB Clean Energy AG (MBB), the issuer of a bond eligible in Clear-
stream Banking AG, and end investors. MBB issued a first tranche of the bond in April 2013 and a 
second tranche of the bond in December 2013. The global certificates for the two tranches of the 
bond were delivered into Clearstream Banking AG by the paying agent of the issuer. The dispute re-
lates to the non-payment of the second tranche of the bond with a nominal value of �500 million 
and the purported lack of validity of the bond. Clearstream Banking AG�s role in the dispute on the 
purported lack of validity of the MBB Clean Energy AG bond is primarily to safekeep the global note, 
deposited by the paying agent of the issuer, as national central securities depository. At this stage, it 
is unclear if and to what extent potential damages exist and if so who would ultimately be responsi-
ble. Provisional insolvency proceedings have meanwhile been opened in respect of the issuer, MBB 
Clean Energy AG. 
 
Measures to mitigate operational risk 
Deutsche Börse Group takes specific measures to reduce its operational risk. Among them are emer-
gency and contingency plans, insurance policies, measures concerning information security and the 
physical safety of employees and buildings as well as precautions to ensure that the applicable rules are 
observed (compliance). 
 
Emergency and contingency plans 
It is essential for Deutsche Börse Group to provide its products and services as reliably as possible. 
The Group has to maintain its business operations and safeguard against emergencies and disasters. 
If its core processes and resources are not available, this represents not only a substantial risk for the 
entire Group but also even a potential systemic risk for the financial markets in general. As a result, 
Deutsche Börse Group has set up a system of emergency and disaster plans covering the entire  
Group (business continuity management, BCM). This covers all processes designed to ensure conti-
nuity of operations in the event of a crisis and significantly reduces availability risk. Measures in-
clude precautions relating to all important resources (systems, workspaces, employees, suppliers), 
including the redundant design of essential IT systems and the technical infrastructure, as well as 
emergency measures designed to mitigate the unavailability of employees or workspaces in core 
functions at all important locations. Examples of such precautions are listed in the  �Business con-
tinuity management� chart.  
 
 
  

Business continuity management 
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Preparations for emergencies and crises 
The Group has introduced and tested a management process for emergencies and crises that enables 
it to respond quickly and in a coordinated manner. This is intended to minimise the effects on busi-
ness processes and on the market and to enable a quick return to regular operations. All business 
segments have appointed emergency managers to act as central contacts and take responsibility dur-
ing emergencies and crises. The emergency managers inform the Executive Board or raise the alarm 
with them in the case of severe incidents. In the event of a crisis, the Executive Board member re-
sponsible acts as the crisis manager. The emergency and contingency plans are tested regularly by 
realistically simulating critical situations. Such tests are generally carried out unannounced. The test 
results are evaluated based on the following criteria: 
 

 Functionally effective: the measures must be technically successful.  
 Executable: the employees must be familiar with the emergency procedure and be able to execute 
it. 

 Timely: emergency measures must ensure that operations restart within the intended time period. 
 
Information security 
Information security attacks and cybercrime represent operational risks for Deutsche Börse Group. 
Cybercrime is increasingly becoming a focus for organised crime and now features high on the list of 
crime statistics year after year. It is a threat to all financial services providers, to credit institutions 
and to Deutsche Börse Group. Due to the growing danger from cyber criminals and increasing regu-
latory requirements, the Group is focused on mitigating these specific risks and expanding its infor-
mation security measures. Besides mitigating availability risks, these serve in particular to reduce the 
risk of loss of confidential information and hence, to preserve Deutsche Börse Group�s integrity as a 
transaction services provider. In this connection, the Group has extended its procedures to quantify cyber 
risks and has specified them in more detail, in order to facilitate implementation of targeted counter-
measures. 
 
The Group operates a situation centre (Computer Emergency Response Team, CERT), which detects 
and assesses threats from cybercrime in cooperation with national and international financial intelli-
gence units at an early stage and coordinates risk mitigation measures in cooperation with the busi-
ness areas. Moreover, procedures based on industry standards ISO 27001 and NIST 800-53 were es-
tablished in order to bring Deutsche Börse Group�s information security measures continuously into line 
with growing � and permanently changing � requirements, and to anticipate regulatory requirements at 
an early stage. In 2015, Group Information Security launched an extensive Group-wide programme de-
signed to raise staff awareness for the responsible handling of information and to improve staff conduct 
in this aspect. Furthermore, Deutsche Börse Group has been a full member of national associations 
since 2016 (Cyber Security Sharing and Analytics, CSSA) and international networks (Financial Services 
Information Sharing and Analysis Center, FS-ISAC) which contribute significantly towards a forward-look-
ing stance vis-à-vis cyber threats, and the development of strategies to fend off such threats. 
 
Physical security 
Deutsche Börse Group places great importance on physical security issues. Corporate Security has devel-
oped an integral security concept to protect the company, its employees and values from external at-
tacks. A highly qualified security staff assess the security situation permanently and are in close contact 
with local authorities and security departments of other companies. 
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In an increasingly competitive global market environment, know-how and confidential company infor-
mation bear the potential of a major financial advantage to outsiders or competitors. Deutsche Börse ap-
plies state-of-the-art technology to prevent its knowledge from being obtained illegally, e.g. through wire-
tapping. Furthermore, Corporate Security is tasked with providing support to employees while they are 
travelling or on foreign assignment. In this context, a world-wide travel security programme was estab-
lished, supported by a travel-tracking system. 
 
Insurance policies 
Operational risks that Deutsche Börse Group cannot or does not wish to bear itself are transferred to 
insurance companies, if this is possible at a reasonable price. The insurance policies are checked 
individually and are approved by Deutsche Börse AG�s Chief Financial Officer. 
 
Compliance  
The compliance function, in cooperation with the individual business segments, has the task of protect-
ing the Group against a variety of monetary and nonmonetary risks, such as reputational damage in the 
markets it serves, in the view of supervisors, or the general public. While endowed with appropriate au-
tonomy from the business units, the compliance function nonetheless fulfils its mandate as an enabler of 
business to focus on the customers and markets the Group wishes to serve, while taking informed steps 
to mitigate compliance risks.  
 
Deutsche Börse Group pursues an enterprise-wide approach to its compliance function, ensuring that 
applicable laws and regulatory requirements are followed with respect to individual legal entities, while 
aligning dedicated legal entity compliance and regulatory personnel through a common reporting struc-
ture to the Group Chief Compliance Officer. Wherever efficient and practical, the Group pursues the de-
velopment of common compliance policies and supporting tools. As an example of adopting to evolving 
requirements, policies and procedures were revised in 2016 to implement provisions of the EU Market 
Abuse Regulation, which are of natural interest to the Group as a provider of reliable financial market 
infrastructures. 
 
As a further step in the enhancement of Group compliance over the past few years, in the course of 
2016, the Group significantly increased its dedicated compliance personnel in major offices around the 
world. The compliance officers closely align their work with the business areas and other control func-
tions to form a solid second line of defence. Further investments continue to be made into compliance IT 
systems that provide for a more consistent and data driven approach to risk mitigation, with a current 
focus on review of trends and patterns as well as statistical anomalies that could be indicators of compli-
ance risk.   
 
Deutsche Börse Group has significantly enhanced its due diligence procedures with respect to its cus-
tomers, members and counterparties, and in 2016, completed an enhanced review of all pre-existing 
relationships. In connection with evolving regulatory expectations, in particular the pending implementa-
tion of the EU 4th Anti-Money Laundering Directive, the Group is developing, where practicable, more 
centralised approaches to compliance risk management of customers served by multiple Group legal en-
tities. 
 
Since its products and services as a provider of financial market infrastructures are often focused on 
other financial intermediaries at the wholesale level, its cooperative approach seeks to raise the stand-
ards throughout the industry and enhance the integrity of financial markets for all participants. Among 
the notable efforts that continue to be championed by Deutsche Börse Group and Clearstream is the de-
velopment by the International Securities Services Association (ISSA) of the Financial Crime Compliance 
Principles for Securities Custody and Settlement together with practical guidance for implementation. 
Senior Group Compliance officers are active participants in national and international industry groups 
such as this seeking to define and promote adoption of consistent industry standards. 
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The compliance function will continue its efforts to strengthen the compliance culture throughout the 
Group. It pursues a best-in-class approach and contributes to the business strategy through an advisory 
role to develop solutions for our customers in the ever evolving financial regulatory environment. 
 
Financial risks 
Deutsche Börse Group classifies its financial risk into credit, market and liquidity risk (see the  �Fi-
nancial risks at Deutsche Börse Group� chart). At Group level, these risks account for about 23 per 
cent of the entire risk profile (this information only includes credit and market risk; liquidity risk is 
not quantified as part of the EC; see  note 36 to the consolidated financial statements). They pri-
marily apply to the Group�s institutions. As a result, the following explanation focuses on Clearstream 
and Eurex Clearing AG. 
 
Credit risk 
Credit risk describes the danger that a counterparty might not meet its contractual obligations, or not 
meet them in full. Measurement criteria include the degree to which the credit line has been utilised, 
the collateral deposited and concentration risk. Although Clearstream and Eurex Clearing AG often 
have short-term claims against counterparties totalling several billion euros overall, these are secured 
in most cases by collateral deposited by the market participants. Moreover, the Group regularly evalu-
ates the reliability of its emergency plans at Clearstream and Eurex Clearing AG in the event of client de-
faults, and the resulting credit risk. 
 
Furthermore, Clearstream Banking S.A. is exposed to credit risk arising from its strategic securities 
lending transactions (ASLplus). Only selected banks act as borrowers. All borrowing transactions are 
fully collateralised. Only selected bonds may be used as collateral; these must be rated at least A+ 
by the Standard & Poor�s rating agency or the equivalent from other agencies. In the case of short-
term securities without individual ratings, the issuers must be rated at least A�1.  
 
Clearstream grants credits to its customers in order to make settlement more efficient. This type of 
credit business is, however, fundamentally different from the classic lending business. First, credit is 
extended solely on a very short-term basis, normally for less than a day. Second, it is largely collater-
alised and granted to clients with high creditworthiness. Furthermore, the credit lines granted can be 
revoked at any time. 
 
  

Financial risks at Deutsche Börse Group 
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Under its terms and conditions, Eurex Clearing AG only enters into transactions with its clearing 
members. Clearing mainly relates to defined securities, rights, derivatives and emission allowances 
that are traded on specific stock exchanges. Eurex Clearing AG also offers this service for some over-
the-counter (OTC) products such as interest rate swaps and forward rate agreements. As a central 
counterparty, it steps in between transactional counterparties. Through offsetting mutual claims and re-
quiring clearing members to post collateral, Eurex Clearing AG mitigates its clients� credit risk exposure. 
 
To date, no default by a borrower with a secured credit line has resulted in material financial losses. 
Deutsche Börse Group continues to view the probability that one of its counterparties could become 
insolvent and that this could lead to losses for the Group as low. It considers the impact of such an 
event to be low if the credit line in question is collateralised and medium if it is uncollateralised. The 
probability of a counterparty to an uncollateralised credit defaulting is considered to be very low. If 
several large, systemically relevant banks were to default simultaneously, the financial impact might be 
significant. The probability of this scenario is considered to be very low. 
 
Credit risk can also arise from cash investments. The Treasury department is responsible here, and 
has Group-wide authority. Treasury largely makes collateralised investments of funds belonging to 
Group companies as well as Clearstream and Eurex Clearing AG customers. To date, counterparty 
default has not led to any material loss for the Group. The probability that the default of a counter-
party to an uncollateralised cash investment could lead to a loss is considered to be low, the finan-
cial loss itself could have a medium impact.  
 
Investment losses on currencies for which Eurex Clearing AG has no access to the respective central 
banks will be borne, on a pro-rata basis, by Eurex Clearing AG and by those clearing members active 
in the currency where losses were incurred. The maximum amount which each clearing member will 
have to contribute in this manner is the total amount such clearing member has pledged with Eurex 
Clearing AG as cash collateral in this currency. The maximum amount to be borne by Eurex Clearing 
AG is �50 million.  
 
Reducing credit risk 
Clearstream and Eurex Clearing AG assess the creditworthiness of potential customers or counterpar-
ties to an investment before entering into a business relationship with them. The companies do this 
in the same way: they determine the size of individual customers� credit lines based on regular cre-
ditworthiness checks, which they supplement with ad hoc analyses if necessary. They define hair-
cuts for securities posted as collateral depending on the risk involved, and continually review their 
appropriateness. They include all relevant risk factors when determining the haircut and allocates a 
specific deduction to each. The total haircut is calculated by adding together the individual margins 
for the risk factors concerned. 
 
In addition, in order to identify potential concentration risks from individual counterparties, Clear-
stream analyses the VaR at the level of the Clearstream Holding group. For this purpose, a credit risk 
VaR is calculated at the level of individual counterparties and compared with the overall credit risk 
VaR. Due to its business model, Clearstream focuses almost exclusively on financial sector custom-
ers. However, there is no material concentration of credit risk either on individual counterparties or 
on individual countries.  
 
Given the size and volatility of its clients� liabilities, Eurex Clearing AG has developed a leading-edge 
collateral management system, which is described in detail in the following section. 
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Safety for both participants and the clearing house  
Each clearing member must prove that it has capital equal to at least the amounts that Eurex Clearing 
AG has defined for the different markets. The amount of capital for which evidence must be provided de-
pends on the risk. To mitigate Eurex Clearing AG�s risk that clearing members might default before set-
tling open transactions, members are obliged to deposit collateral in the form of cash or securities (mar-
gins) on a daily basis and, if required, to meet additional intraday margin calls.  
 
Eurex Clearing AG only permits securities with a high credit quality to be used as collateral. It continually 
reviews what collateral it will accept and uses haircuts with a confidence level of at least 99.9 per cent 
to cover market risk. It applies an additional haircut to collateral from issuers in high-risk countries or 
excludes them from being furnished as collateral altogether. Risk inputs are checked regularly and the 
safety margins are calculated daily for each security. In addition, a minimum safety margin applies to all 
securities.  
 
Margins are calculated separately for clearing member accounts and client accounts. Gains and losses 
resulting from intraday changes to the value of financial instruments are either settled in cash by the 
counterparties (variation margin) or deposited with Eurex Clearing AG as collateral by the seller due to 
the change in the equivalent value of the item (premium margin). In the case of bond, repo or equity 
transactions, the margin is collected from either the buyer or the seller (current liquidating margin), de-
pending on how the transaction price performs compared to the current value of the financial instru-
ments. The purpose of these margins is to offset gains and losses.  
 
In addition, Eurex Clearing AG uses additional collateral to protect itself in the case of default by a clear-
ing member against any risk that the value of the positions in the member�s account will deteriorate in 
the period before the account is settled. This additional collateral is known as the initial margin. The tar-
get confidence level here is at least 99.0 per cent (with a minimum two-day holding period) for ex-
change-traded transactions, or 99.5 per cent (with a five-day holding period) for OTC transactions. Eurex 
Clearing AG checks regularly whether the margins match the requested confidence level: initial margin is 
currently calculated using the legacy risk-based margining method, and the new Prisma method, which 
is already available for all derivative contracts traded. The new method takes the clearing member�s en-
tire portfolio � as well as historical and stress scenarios � into account when calculating margin require-
ments. The objective is to cover market fluctuations for the entire liquidation period until the account is 
settled. At present, the risk-based margining method is still used for cash market products, physical de-
liveries, as well as for securities lending and repo transactions. The Prisma method is set to fully replace 
risk-based margining in the future. 
 
In addition to the margins for current transactions, each clearing member contributes to a clearing fund, 
with the contributions based on its individual risk profile. This fund is jointly liable for the financial con-
sequences of a default by a clearing member to the extent that this cannot be covered by the member�s 
individual margin, and its own and Eurex Clearing AG�s contributions to the clearing fund. Eurex Clearing 
AG uses regular stress tests to check whether its clearing funds match the risks. This involves subjecting 
all current transactions and their collateral to market price fluctuations at a confidence level of at least 
99.9 per cent. In order to be able to determine potential losses in excess of a clearing member�s individ-
ual margins, the impact on the clearing fund of a potential default is simulated. Eurex Clearing AG has 
defined limits which, when exceeded, trigger an immediate adjustment to the size of the clearing fund if 
necessary. The following lines of defence are available for the case that a clearing member is unable to 
meet its obligations to Eurex Clearing AG due to a delay in performance or a default:  
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 First, the relevant clearing member�s outstanding positions and transactions can be netted and/or 
closed from a risk perspective by entering into appropriate back-to-back transactions, or they can 
be settled in cash.  

 Any potential shortfall that might be incurred in connection with such a closing or cash settlement, 
as well as the associated costs, would be covered in the first instance by the collateral provided by 
the clearing member concerned. As at 31 December 2016, collateral amounting to �49,431.6 mil-
lion had been provided for the benefit of Eurex Clearing AG (after haircuts).  

 After this, the relevant clearing member�s contribution to the clearing fund would be used to cover 
the open amount. Contributions ranged from �1 million to �432 million as at 31 December 2016. 

 Any remaining shortfall would initially be covered by a contribution to the clearing fund by Eurex 
Clearing AG. Eurex Clearing AG�s contribution amounted to �100 million as at 31 December 2016. 

 Only then would the other clearing members� contributions to the clearing fund be used proportion-
ately. As at 31 December 2016, aggregate clearing fund contribution requirements for all clearing 
members of Eurex Clearing AG amounted to �3,002.7 million. After the contributions have been used 
in full, Eurex Clearing AG can request additional contributions from each clearing member, which 
can be maximum twice as high as their original clearing fund contributions. In parallel to these ad-
ditional contributions, Eurex Clearing AG provides additional funds of up to �300 million, provided via 
a Letter of Comfort from Deutsche Börse AG (see below). These additional funds will be realised to-
gether with the additional clearing member contributions, on a pro-rata basis. 

 Next, the portion of Eurex Clearing AG�s equity which exceeds the minimum regulatory equity would be 
realised. 

 Finally, the remaining minimum regulatory equity of Eurex Clearing AG would be drawn upon. 
 In addition, Deutsche Börse AG has issued a Letter of Comfort in favour of Eurex Clearing AG. With this 
Letter of Comfort, Deutsche Börse AG commits to provide the funds to Eurex Clearing AG required to 
fulfil its duties � including the duty to provide additional funds of up to �300 million, as mentioned be-
fore. The maximum amount to be provided under the Letter of Comfort amounts to �600 million, in-
cluding the payments made already. Third parties are not entitled to any rights under the Letter of 
Comfort.  

 
As at 31 January 2017, Eurex Clearing AG increased its contribution to the clearing fund by �50 mil-
lion, to �150 million.  
 
In the event of default by a clearing member, Eurex Clearing AG triggers the Default Management 
Process (DMP). Its purpose is to rebalance the CCP, and thus to protect the non-defaulting partici-
pants from any negative consequences resulting from the default. Every product cleared by Eurex 
Clearing AG is clearly assigned to a so-called liquidation group. Products within a single liquidation 
group share similar risk characteristics, and can be liquidated using the same process if a clearing mem-
ber defaults. The DMP is conducted at liquidation group level; all positions held by the defaulted 
clearing member and belonging to the same liquidation group are jointly transferred to other partici-
pants via an auction or an independent sale. The clearing fund is segmented along these liquidation 
groups, based on their respective margin requirements. Should the cost of liquidation exceed the de-
faulter�s resources, Eurex Clearing AG will always make a contribution itself before the mutual clear-
ing fund is utilised. During the DMP, Eurex Clearing AG can convene committees of market experts 
(default management committees) to advise on and support all liquidation activities. 
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Eurex Clearing AG has dealt with four defaults of clearing members to date: Gontard & MetallBank 
(2002), Lehman Brothers (2008), MF Global (2011) and Maple Bank (2016). In all cases, the non-
defaulters were fully protected, as the liquidation costs were met without resort to Eurex Clear-
ing AG�s own capital or the clearing fund. A substantial portion of the defaulters� margin remained 
unused and was returned to them. 
 
Deutsche Börse Group reduces its risk when investing funds belonging to Group companies and client 
funds by distributing investments across multiple counterparties, all with a high credit quality, by de-fin-
ing investment limits for each counterparty and by investing funds primarily in the short term and in col-
lateralised form if possible. Investment limits are established for each counterparty on the basis of regu-
lar credit checks and using ad hoc analyses, as necessary. Since extending its licence as an investment 
and credit institution under the Kreditwesengesetz (German Banking Act), Eurex Clearing AG can also 
use Deutsche Bundesbank�s permanent facilities. 
 
Clearstream and Eurex Clearing AG run stress tests to analyse scenarios such as the default of their larg-
est counterparty. The figures determined in this way are compared with the limits defined as part of the 
companies� risk-bearing capacity. In addition, the impact of several clearing counterparties defaulting at 
the same time is calculated for Eurex Clearing AG. A special stress test examines Clearstream Bank-
ing S.A.�s credit risk exposure from the settlement procedure with Euroclear. Moreover, inverse stress 
tests are calculated to determine the number of counterparties that would have to default for losses to 
exceed the risk cover amount. In the course of the stress tests run in financial year 2016, the identified 
risks have been further analysed and appropriate measures to reduce risk have been implemented. 
 
Deutsche Börse Group tracks a variety of risk indicators in addition to its risk measures (EC, EaR and 
the credit risk stress tests performed). These include the extent to which individual clients utilise 
their credit lines, and credit concentrations. 
 
Market risk 
Market risk in the operating business results from interest rate or currency fluctuations. Deutsche 
Börse Group measures this risk using earnings-based sensitivity analyses for extreme interest rate or 
exchange rate fluctuations. It avoids open currency positions whenever possible. Additional market  
risk could result from Deutsche Börse Group�s ring-fenced pension plan assets (Contractual Trust 
Agreement, Clearstream pension plan in Luxembourg). The Group reduced its market risk exposure by 
deciding to invest a predominant proportion of the pension fund on the basis of a value preservation 
mechanism. The probability of a significant market risk occurring in this context is low, and the 
Group also considers the impact to be low.  
 
Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk applies if a Deutsche Börse Group company is unable to meet its daily payment obliga-
tions or if it can only do so at a higher refinancing cost. Operational liquidity requirements are met 
primarily internally by retaining funds generated. The aim is to maintain enough liquidity to meet op-
erating costs for one quarter (currently between �150 million and �250 million). An intra-Group 
cash pool is used to pool surplus cash from subsidiaries on a Deutsche Börse AG level, as far as reg-
ulatory and legal provisions allow. Liquid funds are invested exclusively in the short term in order to 
ensure that they are available. Short-term investments are also largely secured by liquid bonds from 
first-class issuers. Deutsche Börse AG has access to short-term external sources of financing, such as 
agreed credit lines with individual banks or consortia, and a commercial paper programme. In recent 
years, Deutsche Börse AG has leveraged its access to the capital markets to issue corporate bonds in 
order to meet its structural financing needs. 
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Since Clearstream�s investment strategy aims to be able to repay customer deposits at all times, li-
quidity limits are set carefully. In addition, extensive sources of financing are available at all times, 
such as ongoing access to the liquidity facilities at Deutsche Bundesbank and Banque Centrale du 
Luxembourg.  
 
Due to its role as a central counterparty, Eurex Clearing AG has strict liquidity guidelines and its in-
vestment policy is correspondingly conservative. Regular analyses ensure the appropriateness of the 
liquidity guidelines. In addition, Eurex Clearing AG can use Deutsche Bundesbank�s permanent facili-
ties. 
 
The key liquidity risk for Deutsche Börse Group lies in customer default. If a clearing member of Eurex 
Clearing AG defaults, its member position is liquidated. If a Clearstream customer defaults, the � gener-
ally collateralised and intraday � credit line granted to increase settlement efficiency would be called in, 
and the collateral provided by the client could then be liquidated. Deutsche Börse Group estimates 
the probability of this liquidity risk to be low, with the possibility of medium financial losses. A de-
cline in market liquidity, following a counterparty default, would further increase Deutsche Börse Group�s 
liquidity risk exposure. On a daily basis, Clearstream and Eurex Clearing AG calculate their liquidity 
needs which would result from a default of their two biggest clients, and maintain sufficient liquidity in 
order to cover the liquidity needs determined. 
 
To consider different scenarios, regular stress tests are being carried out to examine the liquidity risk ex-
posure of Clearstream and Eurex Clearing AG. Risks identified in the course of stress tests carried out 
during the 2016 financial year were analysed further, and corresponding risk-reduction measures initi-
ated. 
 
Business risk 
Business risk reflects the fact that the Group depends on macroeconomic developments and is influ-
enced by other external events, such as changes in the competitive environment or regulatory initia-
tives. It therefore expresses the risks associated with the Group�s business environment and sector. It 
also includes business strategy risk, i.e. the impact of risks on the business strategy and possible ad-
justments to it. These business risks are represented as variance analyses of planned and actual 
EBIT, and are monitored constantly by the divisions. Their weighting for the Group accounts for 
about 14 per cent of the total risk. Business risk may result in revenues lagging budget projections or 
in costs being higher.  
 
Business risk includes the risk that competitors, such as the CurveGlobal, Chicago Mercantile Ex-
change (CME) and Intercontinental Exchange (ICE) derivatives exchanges or the Nasdaq OMX stock 
exchange or Euronext, might increase their market shares on the European trading markets (both on- 
and off-exchange). Deutsche Börse Group estimates the probability of a minor loss in market share 
as medium but the resulting impact to be relatively low. 
 
If a state were to leave the eurozone or if a state were to become insolvent, this could mean that gov-
ernment bonds would not be redeemed or only would be redeemed in part. This might have a nega-
tive influence on Deutsche Börse Group�s customers and reduce their trading volume in the future. 
Currently, the Group still views the probability of this risk occurring as low, and the possible conse-
quences as medium.  
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Additional business risk may arise from regulatory requirements, or from the economic environment. For 
example, the introduction of a financial transaction tax, which continues to be supported by ten Euro-
pean states, might have a negative impact upon Deutsche Börse AG�s business activities. Moreover, the 
UK�s exit from the European Union might negatively affect our customers� trading activity. A sustained 
period of weak trading activity on the market also represents a risk to the Group. Deutsche Börse Group 
simulates different scenarios in stress tests. These take into account the simultaneous occurrence of dif-
ferent business risks, such as the negative effects of stronger competition combined with a simultaneous 
loss of business due to new regulations. 
 
Project risk 
Project risk could result from the implementation of ongoing projects (such as the launch of new 
products, processes or systems) and could have a material impact on one or more of the three other 
risk categories (operational, financial and business risk). Project risk is not broken down further. 
Such risks are evaluated by the project owner and GRM and are already taken into account in the 
initial phase of substantial projects. For example, the implementation of the TARGET2-Securities set-
tlement system is an important project for Clearstream at present. The realisation of the projected rev-
enue synergy potential identified with the acquisition of 360T, the migration of equity trading onto the 
T7 market architecture as well as the activities in connection with regulatory changes, especially Mi-
FID II, are other important projects. Ultimately, project risk has an operational, financial or business 
impact, which is why it is quantified as part of these risk types. Ongoing monitoring and controls en-
sure that project delivery risks are continually analysed and evaluated.  
 
 
Overall assessment of the risk situation by the Executive Board 

Deutsche Börse AG�s Executive Board is responsible for risk management throughout the Group and reg-
ularly reviews the entire Group�s risk situation. Its summary of the situation in 2016 is given here, and is 
followed by a brief look at the coming financial year.  
 
Summary  
Additional external risk factors emerged for Deutsche Börse Group�s business in the past financial year. 
Despite the increasing threat of cyber crime, overall operational risk declined, given that availability risks 
decreased. All in all, the Group�s risk profile remained stable. Deutsche Börse Group�s risks were covered 
by sufficient risk-bearing capacity at all times during the reporting period, i.e. the allocated risk appetite 
limits were complied with.  
 
As at 31 December 2016, the Group�s EC amounted to �2,056 million, a 5 per cent decrease year-on-
year (31 December 2015: �2,159 million). In contrast, the available risk-bearing capacity increased by 
27 per cent to �3,810 million year-on-year (31 December 2015: �2,999 million). EaR as at 31 De-
cember 2016 were �678 million, while risk appetite was �1,230 million, based on the adjusted budg-
eted EBIT in 2016.  
 
Deutsche Börse AG�s Executive Board is convinced that the risk management system is effective. The 
Board continues to strengthen the system and the control function responsible for it. The Group-wide 
strategy to capture and manage risk, which focuses on risk appetite, forms the basis for internal risk 
management. It is codified in the three principles described in the  �Risk strategy and risk manage-
ment� section. 
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Outlook  
The Group continually assesses its risk situation. Based on stress tests, on the required EC, which 
was calculated, and on the risk management system, Deutsche Börse AG�s Executive Board con-
cludes that the available risk cover amount is sufficient. Furthermore, it cannot identify any risk that 
could endanger the Group�s existence as a going concern.  
 
In 2017, the aim is to further strengthen Group-wide risk management. For instance, the Group plans to 
concentrate on the digitisation of information in order to improve quality and efficiency. In addition, the 
data made available with these efforts will be used to identify risks and opportunities, and to improve 
our services. Moreover, the Group launched an initiative aimed at a streamlined cooperation between the 
different control functions through the Group-wide standardisation of documentation and control pro-
cesses. The Group also plans to extend its business continuity measures in the event of emergencies (or 
crises), to include additional functions over and above business-critical units. 
 
 
Report on opportunities 

Organisation of opportunities management 

Deutsche Börse Group�s opportunities management aims to identify, evaluate and assess opportuni-
ties as early as possible and to take appropriate measures in order to transform opportunities into 
business success. 
 
Deutsche Börse Group evaluates organic growth opportunities both on an ongoing basis throughout 
the year in the individual business areas and systematically at Group level as part of its annual 
budget planning process. Suggestions from the Group�s business areas for new products, services or 
technologies serve as the starting point. The process begins with a careful analysis of the market en-
vironment: this considers both customer wishes and factors such as market developments, competi-
tors and regulatory changes.  
 
Ideas for growth initiatives are developed further using uniform, Group-wide templates and subjected 
to a profitability analysis. Qualitative aspects are documented in a business plan, and expenses and 
revenues are projected in detail for multiple years.  
 
Once a business plan and profitability analysis have been prepared for a specific growth initiative, 
the Executive Board of Deutsche Börse AG decides on its implementation. This decision is taken as 
part of the annual budget planning process. The initiatives that, after taking into consideration the 
associated risks, add the most value and that can be financed from the budget allocated are selected 
by the Executive Board and included in the budget.  
 
Budgeting for growth initiatives involves reserving a full-year budget comprising expenditures and ex-
penses for each selected growth initiative included in the investment portfolio. The Group Project 
Committee (GPC) monitors progress of growth initiatives throughout the year, checking and overseeing 
projects on a regular basis. In this context, the GPC focuses on whether defined milestones have been 
reached, on the potential impact of changes in the competitive environment on commercial perfor-
mance, and on the utilisation of budgets compared to planning. 
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Where budget adjustments are required during the course of the year, project management must first 
submit a corresponding application to the GPC. Following a discussion of the application, the GPC will 
submit a recommendation for a resolution to the Group Management Committee (GMC), which also 
comprises the members of Deutsche Börse AG�s Executive Board. On this basis, the GMC will decide 
upon whether to increase the budget. The GPC may also recommend adjustments to full-year budgeted 
funds, to bring them into line with general business developments. Where needed, this also provides for 
the opportunity to approve new growth initiatives during the course of the year.  
 
Furthermore, supervision of growth initiatives is supported by regular reporting. GPC and GMC receive a 
monthly report on the status and progress of initiatives that are currently being implemented. This 
report is coordinated by central functions and created in cooperation with the individual projects from 
the business areas and compares planned costs with actual budget utilisation. In addition, the finan-
cial planning is adjusted, forecasts are updated and changes to the scope of the project are made 
transparent. Checks are made to establish whether milestones have been reached and project-spe-
cific risks, and the countermeasures taken are described.  
 
 
Organic growth opportunities 

When assessing organic growth opportunities, Deutsche Börse Group makes a basic distinction be-
tween structural and cyclical opportunities. Structural opportunities arise, for example, as a result of 
regulatory changes or new customer requirements, and can be influenced directly by the company. 
Cyclical opportunities, which cannot be influenced directly by the company and are driven by macro-
economic changes. 
 
Structural growth opportunities 
The focus of Deutsche Börse Group�s structural growth potential is on product- and service-driven initia-
tives designed to satisfy new client needs as well as regulatory requirements. In order to ensure the 
Group is optimally positioned and in order to explore new opportunities, the Group has gradually rea-
ligned its organisational structure since announcing the �Accelerate� growth programme in 2015. Moreo-
ver, it regularly examines options for growth in high-potential asset classes, products or services � organ-
ically or through external acquisitions and cooperations.  
 
Organisational measures supporting the Group�s growth ambitions include the global coordination of 
sales activities, as well as cross-divisional product development. In addition, Deutsche Börse AG rea-
ligned the distribution of responsibilities in its Group Executive Board at the beginning of 2016 � placing 
client focus at the heart of its organisation, as announced upon the launch of �Accelerate�. With the 
steps taken, Deutsche Börse Group has bundled related areas in Executive Board portfolios, thus accel-
erating process flows and simplifying them � in the interest of the Group�s clients. Within the framework 
of �Accelerate� and the related organisational changes, the Group anticipates realising potential for addi-
tional new business � especially through bundling Group-wide product development as well as sales ac-
tivities. These opportunities will develop over time, which is why they have not been quantified in ex-
pected additional revenue. 
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Overall, the Group anticipates the strongest revenue increases in its Eurex segment. Besides the initia-
tives of the �Accelerate� programme, this includes clearing of over-the-counter (OTC) derivatives and fur-
ther growth in the trading of power and gas products. 360 Treasury Systems (360T) will also provide a 
contribution to net revenue growth in this segment. In the Clearstream segment, the focus is on develop-
ing the investment funds business, cross-border securities settlements via TARGET2-Securities (T2S), as 
well as collateral and liquidity management. The growth focus in the MD+S segment is on the expan-
sion of the index business. While building its business in growth regions, Deutsche Börse continues to 
focus on Asia; developments there will impact all reporting segments. The business potential of the 
above-mentioned initiatives are described in more detail below. 
 
Clearing of OTC derivatives 
The liquidity problems experienced by major market participants during the financial crisis were trig-
gered by the failure to settle bilateral OTC transactions that were mainly entered into on an unse-
cured basis. In light of this, the leading industrialised nations (G20) agreed to create an effective reg-
ulatory environment to make off-exchange derivatives transactions more transparent and more 
secure. In response, the European Union developed the European Market Infrastructure Regulation 
(EMIR), which is aimed at regulating OTC trading in derivatives. EMIR includes the following regula-
tory requirements: 
 

 an obligation to clear standardised OTC derivatives transactions using a central counterparty 
 special risk management requirements for transactions in non-standardised derivatives 
 an obligation to report the transactions to a trade repository 

 
The obligation for market participants to comply with EMIR requirements kicked in on 21 June 2016, 
with the first of four phases. Preparing for mandatory clearing, Eurex Clearing AG has developed  
a central counterparty to clear OTC derivatives. The offering, which may later be extended to other asset 
classes, is aimed primarily at institutional customers and the interest rate swaps they enter into. It espe-
cially focuses on security and efficiency, allowing customers to gain the full benefit of Eurex Clearing�s 
risk and collateral management services for their OTC transactions as well. The majority of transactions 
entered into by these clients has been subject to mandatory clearing since the start of phase 2 on 
21 December 2016.   
 
Trading and clearing of power and gas products (EEX) 
With the acquisition of a majority stake in the European Energy Exchange AG (EEX), based in Leip-
zig, Deutsche Börse Group expanded its product range to include trading and clearing of spot and 
derivatives contracts on power and gas as well as emission certificates � in order to benefit from 
markedly higher demand for energy trading and clearing services. The double-digit growth rates 
which the Group has achieved since then have been the result of external growth but also reflect 
structural organic growth which Deutsche Börse Group has been able to exploit, thanks to its good 
position. For instance, EEX has evolved into the central marketplace for energy, energy-related and com-
modities products in Continental Europe; its product range includes the markets in Germany, France, the 
Netherlands, Belgium, Italy and Spain. EEX also generated organic growth, especially in the power and 
gas business. Whilst this growth momentum is based on the changing importance of renewable energy 
sources � wind power in particular � for power generation, the resulting gains are difficult to predict, also 
due to the strong fragmentation of the European energy market, and the fact that market participants 
predominantly trade off-exchange. Given this high degree of fragmentation, as well as the inefficiency of 
OTC markets, demand for on-exchange trading and clearing solutions for such transactions has been 
growing over recent years. Whilst OTC trading clearly continues to be the bigger market, EEX was able to 
significantly increase market share, to around 30 per cent in 2016. EEX continues to anticipate strong 
demand for efficient trading and clearing solutions for the energy markets, and resulting structural 
growth. 
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Expansion into foreign exchange trading (360T) 
Deutsche Börse AG successfully explored a new asset class � foreign-exchange trading � with the full 
acquisition of 360T. 360T® is a leading, globally active foreign-exchange trading platform which has 
generated double-digit annual growth rates since its inception in 2000. The broad client base of 360T 
includes corporate and buy-side clients as well as banks. The acquisition of 360T by Deutsche Börse is 
expected to further boost the company�s organic growth momentum. On a medium-term horizon, the 
combination offers the potential for revenue synergies in a double-digit million euro amount, with 360T 
using Deutsche Börse Group�s international sales network and expertise for growing business, especially 
through the introduction of electronic trading in order to further improve liquidity and transparency. To 
date, regulatory obligations such as EMIR have not yet been expanded to cover the foreign exchange 
market. If this were to happen, Deutsche Börse Group would be able to tap further growth opportunities 
from its extensive portfolio of products and services it offers in the context of regulatory requirements. 
For instance, the Group plans to establish a foreign exchange clearing house in order to service the fun-
damental demand for capital-efficient solutions. Thanks to its leading position, 360T further benefits 
from a structural trend. Even though, at present, the vast majority of daily foreign-exchange trading vol-
umes are executed off-exchange, demand for transparent, electronic multi-bank trading platforms such 
as 360T is rising. By combining the skills and experience of 360T in foreign-exchange trading with 
Deutsche Börse�s IT competence, the Group will be able to explore the resulting revenue potential.  
 
Cross-border settlement of investment funds  
Clearstream completed the integration of the hedge fund custody business, acquired from Citco. This en-
ables clients of Deutsche Börse Group to use Clearstream�s settlement and custody services for their en-
tire fund portfolio � covering traditional investment funds, exchange-traded index funds (ETFs) as well as 
hedge funds. Given that regulatory authorities demand more efficient settlement and custody solutions in 
order to achieve a maximum safety level for customer assets, the Group anticipates that it will acquire 
additional client portfolios. 
 
Cross-border securities settlement (T2S)  
Initiated by the ECB, the purpose of the T2S project is to harmonise cross-border securities settlement 
using central bank funds across Europe. Clearstream has undertaken substantial investments over recent 
years to bring its systems into line with the new settlement structure. For Deutsche Börse Group, this 
holds the opportunity of winning new clients for Clearstream�s innovative services, such as global liquid-
ity management. Furthermore, the Group expects higher custody volumes and new services from T2S, 
which can only be provided through Clearstream via its integrated international central depository 
(ICSD). Clearstream has been connected to T2S within the scope of the fourth migration wave in Febru-
ary 2017. Once this connection is in place, clients will be able to use Clearstream as a central point of 
access for domestic and international settlements, both in central bank and commercial bank funds. Na-
tional central securities depositories (CSDs) � Clearstream in Germany and LuxCSD S.A. in Luxembourg 
� will offer their clients T2S settlements at ECB terms, without any mark-up. Full interoperability be-
tween national and international CSDs will enhance liquidity and collateral management. 
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Collateral and liquidity management 
Clearstream�s collateral and liquidity management offering, developed as part of its Global Liquidity 
Hub growth initiative, helps customers cope with the structural changes they are facing, such as 
those resulting from the additional liquidity requirements under Basel III and the clearing obligations 
under EMIR which came into force in December 2015. The Global Liquidity Hub allows banks to 
use the assets held in custody by Clearstream on their behalf more efficiently across different plat-
forms and countries.  
 
Expansion of the index business 
Deutsche Börse Group�s objective in its index business is to re-position its established European index 
provider STOXX with a global profile, in order to develop further indices (on top of its DAX® and STOXX® 
index families) and to market them on a worldwide basis. The goal is to acquire new client groups, both 
within Europe as well as in Asia and the Americas, through diversification. In addition, we will position 
our index business to better exploit the structural trend towards passive investment products (ETFs). An 
increasing number of private clients and asset managers now follow this trend; not only are the costs 
lower, but many active investment strategies have been returning under-average performance.  
 
Expansion in Asia 
In addition to growth in its core markets and products, the Group is focusing on expanding its busi-
ness in growth regions. A particular emphasis is on Asia, where the Group is already successfully 
represented by Clearstream subsidiaries in particular. Among other things, Clearstream has been op-
erating a permanent establishment with its own banking licence in Singapore since 2009. The China 
Europe International Exchange (CEINEX) commenced trading in November 2015, initially with cash 
market products such as ETFs based on Chinese underlyings, and renminbi-denominated bonds. 
CEINEX is a joint venture between Deutsche Börse and the Shanghai Stock Exchange (holding 40 per 
cent each) and the Chinese Financial Futures Exchange (holding a 20 per cent stake). CEINEX provides 
international investors with access to investment products based on Chinese underlying instruments. The 
marketplace is the first regulated and authorised trading platform outside China for financial products 
denominated in renminbi, the Chinese currency. CEINEX thus offers investors new opportunities for 
efficiently trading Chinese securities; at the same time, it effectively promotes the renminbi�s 
internationalisation. 
 
Other structural growth opportunities 
In addition to these initiatives, the Group has identified a number of other structural factors that 
should have a positive impact on its business success. 
 

 In January 2014, agreement was reached at a European level on the MiFID II Directive: among 
other things, OTC derivatives transactions will in future have to be settled via organised trading fa-
cilities, a requirement that is expected to benefit Eurex. In addition, a decision was taken to limit 
the volume of equities traded in dark pools. The Group expects this restriction to have a positive 
impact on the volumes traded on Xetra®. The Group will apply MiFID II as from January 2018. 

 Risk management is becoming more important in the wake of the financial crisis. The company ex-
pects market participants to make greater use of Eurex Clearing�s clearing services to net out trans-
actions in different asset classes and hence to eliminate counterparty risk.  

 In line with the European legal and administrative framework governing certain undertakings for 
collective investment in transferable securities (UCITS V), the company expects that traditional in-
vestment funds will increasingly include derivatives in their portfolio strategies. This could result in 
additional business for the Eurex segment. 

 With respect to Clearstream�s post-trade activities, the company anticipates a long-term increase in 
capital raising through equity and debt financing on the capital markets. This ties in with the higher 
capital and liquidity requirements for banks and the resulting negative impact on the total volume 
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of available credit. For Clearstream, this could have a positive effect on custody volumes, especially 
in the international bond segment. In addition, given the growing internationalisation of the capital 
markets, the company is continuing to expect a sharper rise in the bond volume issued internation-
ally compared with national bond issues. 

 
Cyclical opportunities 
In addition to its structural growth opportunities, Deutsche Börse Group has cyclical opportunities, 
for instance as a result of positive macroeconomic developments. Although the company cannot in-
fluence these cyclical opportunities directly, they could lift Deutsche Börse Group�s net revenue and 
net profit for the period attributable to Deutsche Börse AG shareholders significantly in the medium 
term: 
 

 In the cash and derivatives market segments (Xetra and Eurex), sustained positive economic devel-
opment, a lasting rise in investor confidence in the capital markets leading to a renewed rise in risk 
appetite among market participants and a sustained increase in market volatility could again stimu-
late trading activity by market participants and boost trading volumes.  

 The volumes of interest rate derivatives traded on the Group�s derivatives markets could rise if spec-
ulation on trends in long-term yields on German and other European government bonds grows, and 
if the spread between the various European government bonds continues to narrow.  

 While the company does not expect the ECB to change its low interest rate policy during the fore-
cast period, the US Federal Reserve could incrementally continue to raise interest rates. Among 
other things, this would positively impact Clearstream�s net interest income from banking business 
as some 49 per cent of its daily cash balances are denominated in US dollars. A rise in key interest 
rates of one basis point affecting all customer cash deposits could lift income by some �100 mil-
lion. 

 In the market data business, an increase in the number of employees at companies active on the 
financial markets could lead to growing demand for data packages. 

 
 
External growth opportunities 

In addition, the company regularly explores external growth opportunities, which are subject to the 
same kind of stringent analysis as its organic growth initiatives. For this reason, only a small number 
of the opportunities analysed are ultimately realised. Examples of external growth in the past few 
years include the takeover of Citco�s hedge fund custody business, the majority interests in EEX and 
Powernext, the full acquisition of the joint ventures STOXX including Indexium, as well as the full ac-
quisition of 360T. Furthermore, the planned merger with London Stock Exchange Group plc was pur-
sued in 2016 (see the  �Planned merger with London Stock Exchange Group� section for details).  
 
 
Report on expected developments 

The report on expected developments describes Deutsche Börse Group�s expected performance in fi-
nancial year 2017. It refers to the Group�s standalone business operations. It does not refer to either the 
new HoldCo established in the context of the merger with London Stock Exchange Group (LSEG), nor 
does it refer to Deutsche Börse AG as a subsidiary of the new HoldCo. It contains statements and infor-
mation on events in the future and is based on the company�s expectations and assumptions at the 
time of publication of this corporate report. In turn, these are subject to known and unknown oppor-
tunities, risks and uncertainties. Numerous factors influence the Group�s success, its business  
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strategy and its financial results, many of them outside the company�s control. Should opportunities, 
risks or uncertainties materialise or should one of the assumptions made turn out to be incorrect, the 
Group�s actual performance could deviate either positively or negatively from the expectations and 
assumptions contained in the forward-looking statements and information contained in this report on 
expected developments. 
 
 
Developments in the operating environment 

Macroeconomic environment 
Deutsche Börse Group anticipates that the global economy will grow moderately during the forecast  
period. In the case of the emerging markets, the Group expects that countries with a current account 
surplus will expand at an above-average rate. Due to cyclical as well as structural factors, these coun-
tries will no longer be able to match the high growth rates seen in the past. Furthermore, the Group ex-
pects the economies of industrialised nations to recover slowly following a series of challenging years in 
the aftermath of the financial crisis, with economic growth picking up slightly over the previous years. 
Looking at Europe, the Group expects an improvement of the economic situation, driven by develop-
ments in Germany and France, the two largest economies. Against this generally positive background, 
we are assuming that market participants will have more confidence in the capital markets compared to 
the previous year, which was marked events, such as the Brexit referendum and the US presidential 
elections. However, current uncertainties could once again unsettle the markets. These include geopoliti-
cal crises, the development of commodity prices, monetary policy moves by the Fed in the US and the 
ECB in Europe, or a crisis of confidence in the growth of certain emerging market countries, especially in 
Asia. Regarding interest rate trends, the Group does not expect to see any fundamental departure from 
the current low interest rate policy in Europe. While the monthly volumes of the ECB�s bond-buying pro-
gramme will be slightly reduced, the deposit rate is expected to remain at �0.4 per cent. Now that the 
positive effects during 2016 of this monetary policy on cash and derivatives markets trading volumes 
have largely run their course, the Group does not expect any such stimulus for 2017. The turnaround in 
US interest rates continued at the end of 2016, and we expect further hikes in 2017 � provided that the 
economy (and inflation) accelerate further. 
 
In its economic development forecast for 2017 published in January 2017, the International Mone-
tary Fund (IMF) predicts an increase of around 1.6 per cent in the euro zone and growth of around 
1.5 per cent in Germany. Expectations for the United States are slightly higher than for the euro 
zone: the US economy is forecast to grow by around 2.3 per cent. The highest growth by far in 2017 
� approximately 6.5 per cent � is again expected in Asian countries (and especially China), due to 
expected high domestic demand. Given the extremely varied estimates for the different economic re-
gions, global economic growth is projected to be around 3.4 per cent in 2017. 
 
Regulatory environment 
Governments and central banks are currently working to enhance regulation of the financial markets 
so as to stabilise the financial sector and prevent future crises of the magnitude experienced. The 
measures planned, and in some cases already initiated, range from revising the legal framework for 
banking business and capital adequacy requirements through rules for clearing over-the-counter 
(OTC) derivatives transactions down to improving financial market supervision (for more information, 
please see the  �Regulatory environment� section of the report on economic position). For Deutsche 
Börse Group�s customers, the ultimate impact of these far-reaching regulatory reform projects on 
market structures and business models is difficult to gauge accurately at present. Deutsche Börse an-
ticipates that this uncertainty will continue to weigh on market participants� business activities during  
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the forecast period. For the Group itself, the various regulatory projects will have both positive and 
negative consequences. Overall, however, the Group sees the changing regulatory environment as an 
opportunity to expand its business further; see the  report on opportunities for further details.  
 
In addition to the structural opportunities arising from regulation, the Group expects to see further 
debate in the forecast period on the potential introduction of a financial transaction tax. The intro-
duction of a financial transaction tax will continue to be pursued in 2017 by a number of EU Mem-
ber States, which have formed an alliance to achieve greater cooperation. The introduction of such a 
tax would negatively impact Deutsche Börse Group�s business performance. Since the ten Member 
States concerned have been unable to date to reach agreement on the tax base, tax rates and tech-
nical collection and remittance methods, it is not possible to gauge the concrete impact on the 
Group�s business. 
 
 
Future development of results of operations 

Given its diversified business model and multiple sources of revenue, Deutsche Börse Group contin-
ues to consider itself very well positioned and expects to see a positive trend in its results of opera-
tions over the medium and long term. This expectation is based on, among other things, the growth 
opportunities that the company intends to exploit over the same period. The Group expects net reve-
nue to increase further in the forecast period. This assumption is based on two main factors. Firstly, a 
further slight increase in economic growth could improve investor confidence, and motivate US investors 
to return to European markets. Against the background of the UK�s exit from the EU, the general elec-
tions to be held in a series of European countries, and the development of US policies, we anticipate ele-
vated stock market volatility in 2017, at least temporarily. Both of these factors, i.e. returning US inves-
tors and elevated equity market volatility, would have positive effects on trading volumes in equities and 
equity index derivatives. Moreover, market speculation on interest rate developments in the US and Eu-
rope may boost trading activity in interest rate derivatives at Eurex derivatives exchange � whilst higher, 
or increasing US interest rates could lead to a further increase in net interest income from the banking 
business in 2017. Secondly, the Group expects a further increase of the contribution from its struc-
tural growth initiatives as well as from new growth opportunities being explored within the scope of 
its �Accelerate� growth programme launched in 2015 (for details, please refer to the  report on op-
portunities).  
 
Depending on developments in the operating environment, the impact of both cyclical and structural 
growth drivers and the success of new products and functionalities, Deutsche Börse Group expects 
net revenue to increase by approximately 5 per cent to 10 per cent during the forecast period. Net 
revenue growth expected during the forecast period is based on net revenue of around �2,389 mil-
lion achieved in 2016. 
 
Even if, contrary to expectations, the operating environment turns out to be worse than described 
above, and clients were to scale back their business activities, particularly in the Group�s business 
divisions which depend upon trading, Deutsche Börse Group believes it is in a position to continue 
to do business profitably thanks to its successful business model and its cost discipline.  
 
Within the scope of its �Accelerate� growth strategy, in 2015 Deutsche Börse Group introduced prin-
ciples for managing operating costs. The core element of these principles is to ensure the scalability 
of the Group�s business model. To this end, the Group continuously manages operating costs ad-
justed for non-recurring effects relative to the development of net revenue. Accordingly, the lower end 
of the net revenue growth range during the forecast period and the following years, of approximately 
5 per cent, would imply stable operating costs compared to the previous year. If net revenue reaches  
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the upper end of the growth range, at around 10 per cent, operating costs would be permitted to rise by 
up to 5 per cent per annum during the period under review and the following years � for instance, for 
the purpose of increasing investment in growth initiatives. Operating costs expected during the forecast 
period are based on adjusted operating costs of �1,174.2 million in 2016. 
 
Essentially, the Group achieves the necessary flexibility in managing operating costs through two dif-
ferent initiatives designed to enhance operating efficiency. Firstly, the Group has implemented a con-
tinuous process to improve operating efficiency by focusing even more on client needs in order to fur-
ther enhance quality and efficiency of the services offered. At the same time, Group-internal processes 
are simplified, generating costs savings. Secondly, the Group resolved a series of structural cost reduc-
tion measures during the reporting period, and has already commenced implementation. For instance, 
we started to reduce the number of external service providers. This included the shift of tasks from exter-
nal to internal staff, or the hiring of external service providers as internal staff. As at the publication date 
of this combined management report, the company expects that operating costs will be affected by non-
recurring effects of some �80 million. The majority of these is due to mergers and acquistions (excluding 
performance-related components) but also due to efficiency measures and costs incurred in connection 
with criminal proceedings against Clearstream Banking S.A. in the US.  
 
Given the expected increase in net revenue of approximately 5 to 10 per cent, with operating costs 
rising by between 0 and 5 per cent as a result, the Group anticipates a growth rate of between ap-
proximately 10 and 15 per cent (excluding non-recurring effects) for net profit for the period attribut-
able to Deutsche Börse AG shareholders during the forecast period. This assumption is based on an 
adjusted figure of �810.8 million for 2016. 
 
With regard to the cyclical environment and structural growth initiatives, Deutsche Börse AG�s ex-
pected business development is based on the same factors that influence the expected business de-
velopment of Deutsche Börse Group as a whole. These are described in this report on expected de-
velopments. For 2017, the company expects sales revenue to be above the 2016 level (2016: 
�1,300.2 million) and to rise by approximately 5 to 10 per cent depending on how the factors de-
scribed above develop.  
 
Given the expected increase in sales revenue of approximately 5 to 10 per cent, with operating costs 
rising by between 0 and 5 per cent as a result, the Group anticipates a growth rate of between ap-
proximately 10 and 15 per cent (excluding non-recurring effects) for adjusted net profit for the period 
attributable to Deutsche Börse AG shareholders (2016: �553.2 million) for the forecast period.  
 
Eurex segment 
In the past year, cyclical factors (see the  �Future development of results of operations� section for 
details) led to an overall rise in derivatives trading volumes. Higher stock market volatility since the 
end of 2014 resulted in a significant rise in trading volumes, especially in equity index derivatives. 
Deutsche Börse Group believes that structural growth factors will remain the dominant feature over 
the long term, and that they will positively influence trading volumes in all product segments (see 
the  report on opportunities for further details). In the short term, a positive economic environment 
would result in increasing trading volumes, in particular for equity index derivatives � whilst the present 
direction of monetary policy, especially in the US, would have positive effects on interest rate derivatives 
trading. 
 
Eurex will continue to invest systematically in expanding its product offering in the forecast period in or-
der to take advantage of structural factors, such as regulation or changing customer needs. The focus of 
our efforts will be on the acquisition of new business, which is currently not settled through an exchange  
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or clearing house. We are expecting positive developments along these lines due to regulatory require-
ments determining that OTC derivative transactions must be settled via central counterparties. This re-
quirement has entered into force during 2016. Consequently, the Group expects this initiative to deliver 
additional net revenue for the first time in the 2017 financial year, and significant net revenue in the 
medium to long term. Looking at the once again very positive development of EEX group�s trading vol-
umes during the year under review and the continued positive market environment for trading in power 
and gas products, the Group expects further structural growth in business activity during the forecast pe-
riod, e.g. by gaining additional market share at the expense of OTC energy markets. Moreover, the Group 
expects rising demand for multi-bank platforms to further boost business activity at the foreign-exchange 
(FX) platform 360T®. In addition, we plan to include clearing services in the value chain of fully elec-
tronic FX trading during the 2017 financial year, in order to realise the revenue synergies projected in 
the context of this acquisition. 
 
Xetra segment 
As in the past, net revenue in the Xetra cash market segment will continue to depend heavily on stock 
market cyclicality and volatility. Trading volumes could rise during the forecast period, driven by a grad-
ual improvement in economic growth as well as a rise in investor confidence. Furthermore, the company 
expects stock market volatility to increase, at least temporarily, making further positive contribution to 
business development. 
 
As well as enhancing its cash market offering, the company will continue to closely track changes in 
the competitive environment for the European cash markets. As in the past, it considers itself well 
positioned to retain its status as the market leader for trading German blue chips and to offer its cus-
tomers across the globe an attractive range of products and services for cash trading in German and 
European equities, and for equities clearing. However, the stronger competition in the cash market 
means that further shifts in the market shares of all competitors cannot be ruled out. 
 
Clearstream segment 
The Clearstream segment�s main net revenue driver is the settlement and custody of international 
bonds � a business that is much more stable than the trading business and only subject to less sig-
nificant capital market fluctuations. The Group anticipates a structurally driven increase in demand 
for collateral and liquidity management services due to regulatory requirements. In the medium to 
long term, Clearstream expects its attractive collateral and liquidity management and its strong posi-
tion in the TARGET2-Securitites (T2S) network to result in increased business activity and hence in 
significant additional net revenue. As Clearstream did not migrate to T2S until February 2017, the 
Group anticipates only a moderate contribution to net revenue for 2017. Another factor to impact Clear-
stream�s business in the forecast period will be central bank monetary policy, as it has been in the past. 
Transaction activity is expected to increase in the medium term, as a result of the ECB�s ongoing com-
mitment (at least for 2017) to the programme for purchasing government and corporate bonds. At the 
same time, however, the continuation of the programme could have a dampening effect on securities is-
suance and liquidity management. If, contrary to expectations, monetary policy becomes more restric-
tive, this would have positive consequences for securities issuance, the use of collateral and liquidity 
management services, as well as for net interest income in the banking business. As a significant por-
tion of customer balances are denominated in US dollars, the turnaround in US interest rate policy � ini-
tiated at the end of 2015 and continued in December of 2016 � will cause a rise in net interest income 
in 2017, at steady cash balance levels. 
 
With regard to its customer structure, the company continues to expect that consolidation in the fi-
nancial sector will persist and that customers in Clearstream�s domestic and international business 
will merge. These larger customers would benefit from greater discounts, which would lead to a  
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decline in average fees. Although Deutsche Börse faces especially intense competition in the settle-
ment and custody of international bonds, the company does not expect this to have a major impact 
on its net revenue or to result in a loss of market share during the forecast period. 
 
Market Data + Services segment 
This segment aims to accelerate expansion of Deutsche Börse�s technology leadership and expertise 
in the area of market data by pooling all relevant resources within the company in a dedicated, mar-
ket-driven business unit. The goal is to open up untapped growth opportunities in the medium to 
long term. 
 
The company anticipates that net revenue in the Market Data + Services segment will increase 
slightly during the forecast period. This expectation is based on the continuous expansion of the 
product range in all areas and greater marketing of these products in growth regions. The Group�s 
index business is set to benefit from this development in particular. Moreover, the Group considers 
the significant structural growth in the market for passively managed assets as an additional growth 
driver that is expected to further strengthen demand for index licences for exchange-traded funds. In 
addition to distributing index licences, the Group also benefits from the growing investment volumes 
in these products. In light of this, the Group believes it is well placed to increasingly extend the posi-
tioning of its globally focused range of indices to the Asian market as well. 
 
Changes in pricing models 
Deutsche Börse anticipates sustained price pressure in some of its business areas during the forecast 
period. The company�s objective is to cushion this price pressure by continually improving its prod-
ucts and services and by offering selective incentives for price-elastic business.  
 
Over the long term, the average net revenue per unit (e.g. trading or clearing fees per transaction, or 
fees for custody services) is expected to decline slightly in all areas of the Group. This is a result of 
laddered pricing models that lead to a decline in income per unit as customers� business activities 
increase.  
 
 
Trends in non-financial performance indicators  

Initiatives to promote the transparency and security of the markets will continue to be a key focus 
during the forecast period, ensuring that Deutsche Börse Group adds value to society. Against this 
backdrop, the company expects to maintain the availability of the different trading systems Xetra® 
and T7® at the very high level seen in previous years throughout the forecast period.  
 
Responsible management that focuses on long-term value creation is of considerable importance for 
Deutsche Börse Group as a service company. Given demographic change and the resulting shortage 
of specialist staff, the company aims to continue to position itself adequately and among other things 
to increase the number of women in management positions. The Executive Board already set a volun-
tary target in 2010 for Deutsche Börse Group to increase the proportion of women in middle and senior 
management to 20 per cent and in junior management to 30 per cent by 2020. These targets remain in 
place. They relate to Deutsche Börse Group worldwide, including subsidiaries. 
 
In accordance with the Gesetz für die gleichberechtigte Teilhabe von Frauen und Männern an Führungs-
positionen in der Privatwirtschaft und im öffentlichen Dienst (German Act on the Equal Participation of  
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Women and Men in Leadership Positions in the Private and Public Sectors), the Supervisory and Execu-
tive Boards of Deutsche Börse AG additionally resolved to maintain the existing quotas of women on the 
two management levels below the Executive Board, i.e. 6 per cent on the first and 10 per cent on the 
second management level. These target quotas relate to Deutsche Börse AG (excluding subsidiaries) and 
will be valid until 30 June 2017. 
 
 
Future development of the Group�s financial position  

The company expects operating cash flow, which is Deutsche Börse Group�s primary funding instru-
ment, to remain clearly positive in the forecast period. The Group expects that two significant factors 
will influence changes in liquidity. Firstly, the company plans to invest some �150 million per year 
in intangible assets and property, plant and equipment at Group level during the forecast period. 
These investments will be included in cash flows from investing activities, and will serve primarily to 
develop new products and services in the Eurex and Clearstream segments and to enhance existing 
ones. The total amount mainly comprises investments in trading infrastructure and in risk manage-
ment functionalities. Secondly, the Executive Board and Supervisory Board of Deutsche Börse AG 
will propose a dividend of �2.35 per share to the Annual General Meeting to be held in May 2017. 
This would correspond to a liquidity outflow of about �440 million. Apart from the above, no other 
material factors were expected to impact the Group�s liquidity at the time the management report was 
prepared. As in previous years, the Group assumes that it will have a sound liquidity base due to its 
positive cash flow, adequate credit lines (see  note 36 to the consolidated financial statements for 
details), and flexible management and planning systems.  
 
Within the framework of a programme to optimise its capital structure, Deutsche Börse Group generally 
aims to distribute dividends equivalent to between 40 and 60 per cent of adjusted net profit for the pe-
riod attributable to Deutsche Börse AG shareholders. In recent years (where the Group�s net profit was 
lower), the dividend payout ratio was kept at the upper end of this range, in order to distribute stable 
dividends to shareholders. Given that the Group�s profit targets were raised in July 2015, in connection 
with the announcement of the �Accelerate� growth strategy, the company aims for a dividend payout ra-
tio in the middle of the range between 40 and 60 per cent going forward. 
 
Moreover, until 2012 the company distributed a part of freely available funds to shareholders, via share 
buy-backs. Since 2013, these funds have been used predominantly to support the company�s develop-
ment, as well as to fulfil credit rating and regulatory capital requirements. Against the background of the 
growth strategy announced in 2015, the company anticipates that in future, freely available funds will 
increasingly be applied not only to support the Group�s organic growth, but also to complementary exter-
nal growth options. 
 
To maintain its strong credit ratings at Group level, the company aims at a ratio of interest-bearing 
gross debt to EBITDA of no more than 1.5. The Group expects to reach or slightly come below this 
figure in 2017, depending on net revenue developments.  
 
The parent company, Deutsche Börse AG, plans to invest some �30 million in intangible assets and 
property, plant and equipment during the forecast period. 
 
 
Overall assessment by the Executive Board 

The Executive Board of Deutsche Börse AG believes that the company continues to be in a very good  
position compared with the international competition thanks to its comprehensive offering along the  
securities trading value chain and its innovative strength. Against this background, it therefore expects to  
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see a positive trend in its results of operations in the long term. The purpose of the measures resolved � 
and mostly implemented � in 2015, as part of the �Accelerate� programme, is to further accelerate the 
Group�s growth. In this context, the Group aims to act in a more agile and effective manner, and with  
increased client focus, to turn Deutsche Börse into the global market infrastructure provider of choice,  
being top-ranked in all its activities. However, for the forecast period, the uncertainty as to how capital 
market participants will react to the economic and regulatory situation makes it difficult for the Executive 
Board to make a specific forecast. Deutsche Börse Group�s goal for the forecast period is to ensure the 
scalability of its business model. To this end, the Executive Board will actively manage operating costs  
in a way that net profit for the period attributable to Deutsche Börse AG shareholders will grow at a 
stronger rate than net revenue. Specifically, annual growth rates of approximately 10 to 15 per cent (ex-
cluding non-recurring effects) are projected for the forecast period. Overall, the Executive Board assumes 
on this basis that cash flow from operating activities will be clearly positive and that, as in previous 
years, the liquidity base will be sound. The overall assessment by the Executive Board is valid as at the 
publication date for this combined management report.  
 
 
Deutsche Börse AG (Disclosures based on the HGB) 

In contrast to the consolidated financial statements, the single-entity financial statements of 
Deutsche Börse AG are not prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs) but with the German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch, HGB) and the supplementary 
provisions of the German Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz, AktG). 
 
Deutsche Börse AG compiled its annual financial statements for the 2016 financial year pursuant to the 
Bilanzrichtlinie-Umsetzungsgesetz (German Accounting Directive Implementation Act, BilRUG), which 
called for changes in particular to the definitions of revenue and other operating income. To ensure com-
parability, the BilRUG has also been applied to the previous year�s figures for these two items as re-
ported in the following. 
 
 
Business and operating environment 

General position  
Deutsche Börse AG is the parent company of Deutsche Börse Group. Its business activities primarily 
comprise its cash and derivative markets as well as IT and Market Data + Services. The performance 
of the Clearstream segment is primarily reflected in Deutsche Börse AG�s business performance via 
the profit and loss transfer agreement with Clearstream Holding AG. In view of this, Deutsche Börse 
AG�s business and operating environment is essentially the same as that of Deutsche Börse Group. 
These are described in detail in the  �Macroeconomic and sector-specific environment� section. 
 
Deutsche Börse AG�s course of business in the reporting period 
Revenue for the 2016 financial year remained within the company�s guidance. At the same time, total 
costs increased only slightly, thanks to continuous enhancements in operating efficiency due to the �Ac-
celerate� programme launched in 2015. Net profit increased significantly, due, among others, to the di-
vestment of International Securities Exchange Holdings, Inc. (ISE), and exceeded the company�s expec-
tations. Against this background, Deutsche Börse AG's Executive Board considers the company�s 
performance during the 2016 financial year as satisfactory. The 2016 financial year was largely charac-
terised by plans for the merger of Deutsche Börse with London Stock Exchange Group (LSEG). 
 
 



 

 

 
 

  

92  

  

Results of operations of Deutsche Börse AG 

Deutsche Börse AG�s revenue for the 2016 financial year rose by 1.5 per cent, to �1,300.2 million 
(2015: �1,280.5 million). The  �Sales revenue by segment� table provides a breakdown of revenue 
by company segment. 
 
The lion�s share of revenue was generated in the Eurex segment, with �799.4 million (2015: 
�700.9 million). Regarding the performance of the Eurex derivatives market segment, general reference 
is made to the  �Eurex segment� section. Any divergence from the statements in that segment are es-
sentially due to the fact that developments of the energy market (EEX group) and the foreign exchange 
market (360T group) do not directly impact upon the business of Deutsche Börse AG. The financial per-
formance of the Market Data + Services segment is described, in general, in the  �Market Data + Ser-
vices segment� section. It is worth noting that the business development of the STOXX Ltd. subsidiary 
does not directly impact the business performance of Deutsche Börse AG. Details concerning the busi-
ness development in the Xetra segment are largely provided in the  �Xetra segment� section. Revenue 
attributable to the Clearstream segment is generated from IT services that Deutsche Börse AG provides to 
entities within the Clearstream Holding AG subgroup.  
 
Other operating income rose to �149.1 million during the year under review (2015: �70.3 million). 
This increase was attributable in particular to the �99.0 million in sales proceeds recognised from the 
sale of ISE. 
 
Total costs (comprising staff costs, amortisation of intangible assets and depreciation of property, plant 
and equipment, as well as other operating expenses) were �946.1 million, up 2 per cent on the previ-
ous year (2015: �927.0 million). They also include expenses of �65.8 million related to the proposed 
merger with LSEG; adjusted for these, total costs were down by 5 per cent compared with the previous 
year. For a breakdown, please refer to the  �Overview of total costs� table. Staff costs rose by 4 per 
cent compared to the previous year, to �201.8 million (2015: �194.2 million) mainly due to expenses 
related to bonus payments of �43.0 million (2015: �26.8 million), and lower expenses for the �Acceler-
ate� growth programme, of �6.3 million (2015: �21.3 million). 
 
Amortisation of intangible assets and depreciation of property, plant and equipment remained nearly un-
changed and amounted to �24.3 million in the year under review (2015: �24.4 million). Other operat-
ing expenses were up by 2 per cent year-on-year, to �720.0 million (2015: �708.4 million). The  
  

      

Performance figures for Deutsche Börse AG 

 2016 2015 Change
 �m �m %

 
Sales revenue 1,300.2 1,280.51) 2

Total costs 946.1 927.0 2

Net profit from equity 
investments 289.9 123.9 134

EBIT 697.5 543.9 28

Profit before tax from 
ordinary activities (EBT) 603.2 443.9 36

Net profit for the period 553.2 315.9 75

Earnings per share (�) 2.962) 1.712) 73
   

1) Calculation based on the definition of revenue pursuant to the BilRUG 
2) Calculation based on weighted average of shares outstanding 

 
 

Sales revenue by segment 

 2016 2015  Change
 �m �m %

  
Eurex 799.4 700.9 14

Market Data + 
Services 275.8 281.3 �2

Xetra 175.8 185.4 �5

Clearstream 49.2 14.3 244

Total 1,300.2 1,181.91) 10

1) Calculation based on the definition of revenue not pursuant to the BilRUG 
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increase was largely attributable to higher expenses for advisory services, incurred in particular in con-
nection with the planned merger with LSEG. 
 
Deutsche Börse Group�s result from equity investments for the 2016 financial year totalled �289.9 mil-
lion (2015: �123.9 million). In particular, this rise reflects the increase in income from the disposal of 
equity investments, to �99.0 million (2015: �5.7 million), and the higher profit transfer from Clear-
stream Holding AG of �167.2 million (2015: �147.1 million). Income from dividends was �37.3 mil-
lion in the year under review (2015: �18.2 million), of which the largest part of �34.5 million was at-
tributable to distributions made by STOXX Ltd. (2015: �16.6 million). 
 
Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) increased to �697.5 million (2015: �543.9 million). Net in-
come for the period totalled �553.2 million, a 75 per cent increase year-on-year (2015: �315.9 mil-
lion), among others due to the proceeds from the disposal of ISE.  
 
Profit from ordinary activities rose by 36 per cent year-on-year, to �603.2 million (2015: �443.9 mil-
lion). The profit margin before taxes (the ratio of profit from ordinary activities to revenue) increased from 
35 per cent to 46 per cent.  
 
Profitability 
Deutsche Börse AG�s return on equity expresses the ratio of net income after taxes to average equity 
available to the company during the course of 2016. Due to the better results, return on equity rose to 
21 per cent, compared to 13 per cent in 2015. 
 
 
Financial position of Deutsche Börse AG 

Cash and cash equivalents on the 31 December 2016 balance sheet date amounted to �935.4 million 
(2015: �172.3 million), comprising cash on hand, current account balances with banks and term de-
posits. 
 
The company received dividends totalling �37.3 million (2015: �18.2 million). The main reason for 
this increase is a higher dividend distributed by STOXX Ltd. 
 
Deutsche Börse AG has available external credit lines in the amount of �605.0 million (2015: 
�605.0 million), which were not drawn upon as at 31 December 2016. Moreover, the company has a 
Commercial Paper programme in place, which allows for flexible and short-term financings of up to 
�2.5 billion, in various currencies. At the end of the year, there was no Commercial Paper outstanding 
(2015: �95.0 million). 
 
Through a Group-wide cash-pooling system, Deutsche Börse AG ensures an optimum allocation of li-
quidity throughout Deutsche Börse Group; in this way, the parent entity makes sure that all subsidiaries 
are in a position to honour their payment obligations at any time.  

    

Overview of total costs 
  

 2016 2015 Change
  �m �m %

   
Staff costs 201.8 194.2 4

Write-offs 24.3 24.4 0

Other operating expenses 720.0 708.4 2

Total 946.1 927.0 2
    

 
 

Cash flow statement (condensed) 
 

 2016 2015 
  �m �m 

  
Cash flows from operating activities 156.4 372.8 

Cash flows from investing activities 141.4 �1,444.9 

Cash flows from financing activities �697.9 841.9 

Cash and cash equivalents as at 
31 December �1,006.8 �606.7 
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Deutsche Börse AG has issued three corporate bonds with a nominal value of �600 million each and 
one corporate bond with a nominal value of �500 million. For more details concerning these bonds, 
please refer to the  �Financial position� section. Moreover, as part of Group-internal restructuring 
measures in 2014, the company raised loans from associates, in a total amount of �375.6 million, 
which will fall due during the 2017 financial year.  
 
Deutsche Börse AG generated �156.4 million (2015: �372.8 million) in cash flow from operating activ-
ities during the 2016 financial year. The decline was especially attributable to higher receivables from 
affiliated entities and a decrease in medium- and short-term provisions. 
 
Cash flow from investing activities amounted to �141.4 million (2015: ��1,444.9 million). This in-
crease is strongly correlated with a decline in investments in financial assets. In 2015, cash flow from 
investing activities had been largely influenced by the acquisition of an additional stake in STOXX Ltd., 
and the acquisition of 360T Group, resulting in a cash outflow of �1,403.5 million. 
 
Cash flow from financing activities amounted to ��697.9 million in the year under review (2015:  
�841.9 million). In addition to �420.1 million in dividends paid for the 2015 financial year, the com-
pany raised loans of �400.0 million and repaid loans of �683.1 million. Cash and cash equivalents 
amounted to ��1,006.8 million on the balance sheet date of 31 December 2016 (2015: ��606.7 mil-
lion), comprising liquid funds of �935.4 million (2015: �172.3 million) less cash-pooling liabilities of 
�1,942.2 million (2015: �779.0 million).  
 
 
Net assets of Deutsche Börse AG 

Deutsche Börse AG�s property, plant and equipment amounted to �6,141.2 million on 31 December 
2016 (2015: �6,220.7 million). The lion�s share of this figure was attributable to investments in  
affiliated companies of �6,001.8 million (2015: �6,092.8 million), mainly comprising investments  
in Clearstream Holding AG and Eurex Frankfurt AG. Investments in affiliated companies declined to 
�91.0 million, mainly due to the sale of the ISE stake (�81.9 million). 
 
At �41.6 million (2015: �21.5 million), Deutsche Börse AG�s investments in intangible assets and 
property, plant and equipment were higher than the amount of �30.0 million expected at the end of 
2015. Amortisation, depreciation and impairment amounted to �24.3 million (2015: �24.4 million).  
 
Receivables from and liabilities to affiliated companies include settlements for intra-Group services and 
amounts invested by Deutsche Börse AG within the scope of cash-pooling arrangements. Receivables 
from affiliated companies of �167.2 million (2015: �147.1 million) mainly related to the existing profit 
transfer agreement with Clearstream Holding AG. Liabilities to affiliated companies predominantly re-
sulted from cash pooling (�1,942.2 million � 2015: �779.0 million); short-term loans (�375.6 million 
� 2015: �375.6 million); and trade liabilities (�82.1 million � 2015: �59.3 million). 
 

Non-current assets (condensed) 
 

 2016 2015
 �m �m

 
Intangible assets 12.3 11.3

Tangible assets 66.3 51.9

Financial assets 6,062.6 6,157.5

Non-current assets as at 
31 December 6,141.2 6,220.7
  

 

Employees per country/region 

 31 Dec 2016 %
  

Germany 1,098 97.0

United Kingdom 22 1.9

France 7 0.6

Rest of Europe 4 0.4

Total Deutsche Börse AG  1,132 100.0
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Deutsche Börse AG collects fees for a large part of services provided immediately after each month-end; 
accordingly, trade receivables totalled �157.1 million at the year-end (2015: �131.0 million). 
 
Working capital amounted to ��2,064.0 million during the year under review (2015: ��1,158.1 mil-
lion). The change was mainly attributable to an increase in liabilities to affiliated companies. 
 
 
Deutsche Börse AG employees 

In the reporting period, the number of people employed by Deutsche Börse AG decreased by 21 to  
total 1,132 as at 31 December 2016 (31 December 2015: 1,153). On average, 1,118 people 
worked for Deutsche Börse AG during financial year 2016 (2015: 1,131). 
 
In the course of financial year 2016, 31 employees left Deutsche Börse AG, resulting in a fluctuation 
rate of 2.8 per cent. 
 
Deutsche Börse AG employed staff at six locations throughout the world as at 31 December 2016. 
Details on the countries/regions concerned, the employee age structure and the length of service of 
the company�s employees are given in the following tables and those on the previous page.  
 
As at 31 December 2016, 75 per cent of Deutsche Börse AG�s employees were graduates. This fig-
ure is calculated on the basis of the number of employees holding a degree from a university, a uni-
versity of applied sciences or a university of cooperative education, and employees who have com-
pleted comparable studies abroad. In total, the company invested an average of 5.9 days per 
employee in staff training in 2016.  
 
 
Remuneration report of Deutsche Börse AG 
 
As the structure and design of the remuneration system correspond to those of Deutsche Börse 
Group, please refer to the latter�s  remuneration report.  
 
  

 
    

Employee age structure 

 31 Dec 2016 %
  

Under 30 years 105 9

30 to 39 years 283 25

40 to 49 years 386 34

50 years and older 358 32

Total Deutsche Börse AG  1,132 100
    

 
 

Employee length of service 
 

 31 Dec 2016 % 
  

Less than 5 years 384 34 

5 to 15 years 320 28 

Over 15 years 428 38 

Total Deutsche Börse AG  1,132 100 
  



 

 

 
 

  

96  

  

Corporate governance declaration in accordance with section 289a HGB 
 
The corporate governance declaration in accordance with section 289a HGB applies to Deutsche 
Börse Group and Deutsche Börse AG, please refer to the  corporate governance declaration made 
on behalf of the Group.  
 
 
Opportunities and risks facing Deutsche Börse AG 

As the opportunities and risks facing Deutsche Börse AG and the measures and processes for dealing 
with them are essentially the same as for Deutsche Börse Group, please refer to the  risk report and 
the  report on opportunities for more information. As a matter of principle, Deutsche Börse AG�s 
share of the opportunities and risks of its equity investments and subsidiaries is proportionate to the 
size of its shareholdings. Risks that threaten the existence of the Eurex Clearing AG subsidiary have a 
direct impact on Deutsche Börse AG as it has issued a letter of comfort (�Patronatserklärung�). Fur-
ther information on the letter of comfort issued to Eurex Clearing AG is available in the  �Other fi-
nancial obligations and transactions not included in the balance sheet� section in the notes to the 
annual financial statements of Deutsche Börse AG. 
 
The description of the internal control system (ICS) required by section 289 (5) HGB is given in the 

 �Internal management� section. 
 
 
Report on expected developments at Deutsche Börse AG 

The expected developments in Deutsche Börse AG�s business are largely subject to the same factors 
as those influencing Deutsche Börse Group. The relevant disclosures and quantitative information on 
Deutsche Börse AG are provided in the  report on expected developments.  
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Remuneration report

This remuneration report outlines the principles of the remuneration system for members of 
Deutsche Börse AG’s Executive Board, and describes the structure and amount of Executive Board 
remuneration. Furthermore, it describes the principles applicable to, and the amount of Supervisory 
Board remuneration. The remuneration report is part of the combined management report; it follows 
the requirements of the Handelsgesetzbuch (HGB, German Commercial Code), the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and the German Accounting Standard No. 17. In addition, it 
largely follows the recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code (GCGC). For details, 
see the  corporate governance declaration. The remuneration report is structured in two parts:

1. Remuneration system and aggregate Executive Board remuneration 
2. Supervisory Board remuneration

Remuneration system and aggregate Executive Board remuneration  

Principles and targets 
The Supervisory Board resolved to adopt a new remuneration system for the Executive Board, to come 
into effect on 1 January 2016. The system was approved by the Annual General Meeting on 11 May 2016, 
in accordance with section 120 (4) of the Aktiengesetz (AktG, German Stock Corporation Act).

-
tion – with a more differentiated appraisal through ambitious internal and external targets – ensures that 
the focus is on the company’s above-average growth. Secondly, various assessment bases extending 
over several years, sustainability elements, and the deferral of disbursements over time discourage 
excessive risk-taking. Thirdly, the new remuneration system promotes a strong equity culture, and 
thereby contributes to aligning the interests of shareholders, senior management and other stakeholders.

The Executive Board remuneration is determined by the entire Supervisory Board. The Personnel 
Committee is responsible for preparing the Supervisory Board’s decision. The Supervisory Board 
reviews the appropriateness of the Executive Board remuneration on a regular basis – at least every 

managers and the workforce as a whole, as well as the development of the various salary levels over 
time. The remuneration system applies equally to all members of the Executive Board.
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Structure and remuneration components
The remuneration system for the members of the Executive Board consists of four components: 

performance-related remuneration components 

pension and retirement commitments

In addition, Share Ownership Guidelines apply, according to which Executive Board members are 

by the Supervisory Board in 2015.

(SBP) for members of the Executive Board was determined as at 31 December 2015; the SBP was 
prematurely terminated by way of a settlement process.

The individual components of the Executive Board’s remuneration are laid out in detail below.

Composition of the total target remuneration

30 % 45 % 25 %

Non-performance- 
related remuneration 

Performance-related remuneration components Pension and 
retirement 
commitments

Ancillary 
contractual 

Performance bonus Performance shares 

Cash Shares

% = Proportion of the total target remuneration

Non-performance-related component (cash component)

Performance-related component (cash component) 

Performance-related component (share-based payment) 

Annual payment Long-term incentive components (3–5 years) 



99 Executive and Supervisory Boards  Financial statements  Notes Governance Management report

 Remuneration report

This non-performance-related remuneration comprises approximately 30 per cent of the total target 
remuneration for one year.

Performance-related remuneration components
Performance-related remuneration accounts for approximately 70 per cent of the total target remunera-
tion for one year. This variable remuneration element comprises a performance bonus as well as per-
formance shares. 

Performance bonus
The performance bonus is measured using the Performance Bonus Plan (PBP). It amounts to approxi-
mately two-thirds of the performance-related remuneration, and to approximately 45 per cent of the 
total target remuneration. It consists of a share-based component (the share-based performance 
bonus) and a cash component, in equal proportions.

Performance shares
Performance shares are measured and granted within the framework of the Performance Share Plan 

period (the vesting period), they are disbursed after the year under review. Performance shares amount 
to approximately one-third of the performance-related remuneration, and to approximately 25 per cent of 
the total target remuneration.

The criteria which the Supervisory Board uses to assess target achievement of individual Executive 
Board members are described below. These criteria are used to determine the respective performance 
bonus, as well as the number and value of performance shares.

Principles governing the PBP and assessment of target achievement for the performance bonus

concerned attributable to Deutsche Börse AG shareholders (hereinafter referred to as net income) 
with a weighting of two-thirds, and the Executive Board member’s individual performance with a 
one-third weighting. 

Once the Supervisory Board has determined the overall target achievement level from these two 

Executive Board members, but also for the entire Executive Board. The total performance bonus will 
be disbursed in cash, no later than the regular salary payment for the calendar month following 
approval of Deutsche Börse AG’s consolidated financial statements. Executive Board members are 
obliged to invest 50 per cent of the total disbursement amount after tax in Deutsche Börse AG shares, 
which they will have to hold for at least three years.
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Overview of the performance bonus

Assessment of net income growth for the performance bonus
Net income is derived – independently of the budget – by comparing the net income for the remunera-

Where net income remains stable (i.e. unchanged year-on-year), this is deemed a 75 per cent target 
achievement; a 7.5 per cent increase is equivalent to a 100 per cent target achievement. An increase 
in net income of 15 per cent or more means a 200 per cent target achievement (cap). Accordingly, 
a stronger incentive is provided for net income growth rates between 7.5 per cent and 15 per cent, via 
a steeper slope of the target achievement curve (please refer to the  chart “Assessment of net income 
for the performance bonus”). 

100 per cent  
target value

Performance 
multiplier

Total payment=++

Consolidated net  

2 / 3

Individual objectives

1 / 3

Cash

50 %

Shares
3 years holding period

50 %
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Assessment of net income for the performance bonus

Target achievement (%)

200
Cap

 
133

100

75

0
Floor

–30 –20 –10 0  +7.5 +10 +15 +20 +30

Net income growth (%) Double-digit growth

Assessment of individual target achievement

Executive Board member – taking into account general targets regarding the company’s strategy as well 
as those with particular importance for the individual Executive Board portfolios (e.g. on financial 
indicators, clients, employees and control systems). The Supervisory Board assesses target achievement 
for each member of the Executive Board after the end of the respective remuneration year. In a similar 
manner to the assessment of net income growth, a range from a lower limit of 0 per cent to an upper 
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Determining a performance multiplier
The performance multiplier for the performance bonus enables the Supervisory Board to account for 
a dilution of equity, or to incorporate achievement of qualitative or quantitative targets (especially 

acquisitions or divestments. The performance multiplier may be set in a range between at least 
0.8 and at most 1.2; it is multiplied by the performance assessment for the performance bonus, taking 
the 200 per cent cap into account.

Principles governing the PSP and assessment of target achievement for performance shares
-

mance shares to be allotted to each member of the Executive Board. The number of initial (phantom) 
performance shares is determined by dividing the amount of individual target remuneration (in euros) by 
the average Xetra ® closing price of Deutsche Börse shares over the last calendar month prior to the start 
of the performance period (fair value of the performance shares). A claim on allocation of phantom perfor-

total shareholder return (TSR) compared to the TSR of the industry benchmark STOXX ® Europe 600 

by the average Xetra closing price of Deutsche Börse shares in the last calendar month prior to the end of 
the vesting period. The result of this calculation is the disbursement amount to be used for the purchase 
of tradeable shares (taking into account the dividends per share paid out during the vesting period). The 
disbursement takes place no later than the regular salary payment for the calendar month following 

period. The members of the Executive Board are obliged to invest the disbursement amount after tax in 
Deutsche Börse AG shares.
 
Therefore, the PSP is variable in two dimensions: 

income and from the TSR of Deutsche Börse shares relative to the TSR of the reference index, each 
over a five-year period. In this context, the maximum number of performance shares is capped at 
250 per cent of performance shares determined at the beginning of the vesting period. 
The second set of variables is the development of share price and dividends during the vesting 
period, with no cap applied to the share price.
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Structure of the Performance Share Plan (PSP)

Absolute KPI

Relative KPI

1) Of the last calendar month before the start of the vesting period

2) Cap at 250 per cent of the number granted

3) Of the last calendar month prior to the end of the vesting period, including the dividends from the entire vesting period

Assessment of net income for performance shares

in terms of net income growth and determines it for the Executive Board members accordingly. The target 
achievement level at the end of the respective performance period is calculated as the sum of the annual 

range between 0 and 250 per cent. If net income declines, or remains unchanged year-on-year, this 
-

lent to a 100 per cent target achievement. An increase in net income of 15 per cent or more means 
a 250 per cent target achievement (cap). The target achievement level increases more strongly for growth 
rates between 10 and 15 per cent, compared to single-digit growth rates, providing a stronger incen-
tive to Executive Board members to strive for double-digit net income growth. Please also refer to the 

 chart “Assessment of net income growth for performance shares”. 
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Number of 
(phantom) 
performance  
shares granted 

Final number  
of (phantom) 
performance 
shares 2)

Final  
payment for 
the purchase  
of shares

net income growth 

TSR Deutsche Börse  
vs index companies

 closing 
price 
Deutsche 
Börse shares 3)

Individual target 
remuneration

 closing price 
Deutsche Börse 
shares 1)

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Performance period (vesting period) 

50 %

50 %
=+
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Assessment of TSR performance of Deutsche Börse shares
The TSR performance of Deutsche Börse shares is derived from Deutsche Börse AG’s ranking, relative 
to the constituents of the STOXX Europe 600 Financials index. Executive Board members’ target 

i.e. being lower than that of at least half of index constituents. Where Deutsche Börse AG’s TSR has 
outperformed 60 per cent of index constituents, this represents a target achievement of 100 per cent. 
A target achievement of 175 per cent is reached if Deutsche Börse AG’s TSR has outperformed 
75 per cent of index constituents. The 250 per cent target achievement cap is reached if 
Deutsche Börse AG’s TSR ranks amongst the top 20 per cent of index constituents – in other words, if 
it is ranked in the 80th percentile of the index or higher. Please also refer to the  chart “Assessment 
of the Total Shareholder Return (TSR) of the Deutsche Börse share for performance shares”. 

Assessment of net income for performance shares

Target achievement (%)

300

250
Cap

200

150
133

115 
100

50

0
Floor

–10 –5 0 +5  +7.5 +10 +15 +20

Net income growth (%) Double-digit growh
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Assessment of the Total Shareholder Return (TSR) of the Deutsche Börse share for performance shares

Target achievement (%)

300

250

200

175

150

100

50

0

     50th 60th 70th 75th 80th

Relative TSR vs index (percentile rank) 

Performance-related remuneration for Executive Board members is predominantly share-based. 
Furthermore, it is largely calculated on the basis of long-term performance, with various target criteria 

-
mance bonus: annual disbursement and three-year holding period for shares to be invested), respec-
tively (see also the  section “Share Ownership Guidelines”). The cash component of the performance 
bonus (annual disbursement) is the only short-term component within variable remuneration.
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Basic remuneration as well as annual and long-term incentive components

% = Proportion of the total target remuneration

Performance-related component (share-based payment) 

Performance-related component (cash component) 

Non-performance-related component (cash component) 

1) Unlimited share price performance

-
sion of an appropriate company car for business and personal use (with tax being payable by the 

taxable contributions towards private pensions. The company has also taken out insurance cover for 

Pension and retirement commitments

Ms Stars after reaching the age of 62, and Mr Preuss after reaching the age of 63, provided that they 
are no longer in the employment of Deutsche Börse AG in each case at that time. As a matter of 
principle, the Supervisory Board reviews and determines the pensionable income from which retire-

existing pension commitments as at 31 December 2016 are presented in the  table “Retirement 
.

Target achievement  
(annual calculation,  
5-year holding period)

Share target achievement 
(annual payment, 3-year 
holding period)

Cash target achievement  
(annual payment)

Basic remuneration 
(monthly payment) 

Maximum achievable  
total remuneration 1)

Performance shares

Shares

Cash

Basic remuneration

Target remuneration

Performance 
bonus

Lever for the incentive components: 
0 to 250% per year

Lever for the incentive components: 
0 to 200% 
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 After reaching the contractually agreed retirement age, members 

to the Executive Board member in question having served on the Executive Board for at least three 
years, and having been reappointed at least once. Pensionable income is determined and regularly 
reviewed by the Supervisory Board. When the term of office began, the replacement rate was 
30 per cent. It rose by 5 percentage points with each reappointment, up to a maximum of 50 per cent. 

-
tion pension system applies, the company makes a contribution in the form of a capital component in 
each calendar year they serve on the Executive Board. This contribution is determined by applying an 

pensionable income is determined and regularly reviewed by the Supervisory Board. The annual capital 

contribution pension system apply to Messrs Kengeter and Pottmeyer, and to Ms Stars.

Early retirement pension

pension if the company does not extend their contract, unless the reason for this is attributable to the 

contract. The amount of the early retirement pension is calculated in the same way as the retirement 

to the Executive Board member having served on the Executive Board for at least three years, and 
-

In the event of the permanent occupational incapacity of a member of the Executive Board, the 
company is entitled to retire the Executive Board member in question. Permanent occupational 
incapacity exists if an Executive Board member is unable to perform his or her professional activi-
ties for more than six months, and if it is not expected that his or her occupational capacity will be 
regained within a further six months. In such cases, Executive Board members who have a defined 
benefit pension plan receive the amount calculated by applying the relevant replacement rate to the 
pensionable income. Executive Board members with a defined contribution pension plan receive 
the benefit assets acquired when the benefits fall due, plus an allocated amount. The allocated 
amount corresponds to the full annual pension contribution that would have been due in the year of 
leaving service, multiplied by the number of years between the benefits falling due and the Execu-
tive Board member reaching the age of 60, 62, or 63, respectively.

In the event of the death of an Executive Board member, his or her spouse receives 60 per cent of the 
above amount and each dependent child receives 10 per cent (25 per cent for full orphans), up to 
a maximum of 100 per cent of the pension contribution.
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Transitional payments

above. The amount of this payment corresponds to the target amount of the variable remuneration 

the two subsequent years. In the case of the death of an Executive Board member, his or her spouse 
receives 60 per cent of the transitional payment. 

Severance payments
In the event of early termination of an Executive Board member’s contract of service other than for 
good cause, any payments made to the Executive Board member may not exceed the remuneration for 
the residual term of the contract of service and may also not exceed the value of two total annual 
remuneration payments (severance payment cap). The payment is calculated based on the total 

cases. Performance shares granted will lapse where the company has good cause to terminate employ-
ment or where a member of the Executive Board terminates his or her contract before the end of the 
performance period without good cause and without a mutual agreement.

Change of control
If an Executive Board member is asked to stand down within six months of a change of control, he or 
she is entitled to a severance payment equal to two total annual remuneration payments or the value of 
the residual term of his or her contract of service, where this is less than two years. This entitlement 
may be increased to 150 per cent of the severance payment. If an Executive Board member resigns 
within six months of the change of control because his or her position as a member of the Executive 

Board may decide at its discretion whether to grant a severance payment of the above-mentioned 
amount. In case of a change of control, all performance periods ongoing at that time shall end with the 
day the contract of service is terminated. The respective performance shares will be accounted for 
prematurely.

Share Ownership Guidelines
Under the Share Ownership Guidelines, members of the Executive Board are obliged to continuously 

Executive Board members. This pertains to a relevant period between 1 January 2016 and 31 Decem-
ber 2018. Shares of the following three categories will be considered to assess compliance with the 
Share Ownership Guidelines: (i) shares purchased from the performance bonus, during the holding 
period; (ii) shares from allocation of performance shares; and (iii) shares held in private ownership. 
Such shareholdings must be built up over a three-year period ending on 31 December 2018.
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Co-Performance Investment Plan (CPIP)

the Supervisory Board in 2015. In December 2015, he used private funds to invest an amount 
of �4,500,000 in Deutsche Börse AG shares (investment shares) within the investment period 
provided for in the Co-Performance Investment Plan. These shares must be held at least until the 

criteria as performance shares. Performance shares are explained in the  section “Principles govern-
ing the PSP and assessment of target achievement for performance shares”. The performance of the 
co-performance shares is based on (i) the growth in Deutsche Börse AG’s net income and (ii) the ratio 
of the Deutsche Börse shares’ total shareholder return (TSR), relative to the TSR of companies included 
in the STOXX Europe 600 Financials index.

The performance period for the co-performance shares commenced on 1 January 2015 and will end 

one-third of the expected amount to be disbursed.
Prepayment on the disbursement amount as at 31 March 2020 (second prepayment): the amount of 
the second prepayment will be one-third of the disbursement amount determined.

prepayments.

Supercession of the previous Share Bonus Plan (SBP)

for Executive Board members was calculated as at 31 December 2015 and settled during 2016. For 
the tranches 2014 and 2015, retention periods shall apply until 31 December 2016 and 31 Decem-
ber 2017, respectively. Where not restricted by takeover legislation, with regard to the intended merger 
with London Stock Exchange Group plc, or other legal provisions, the stock bonuses had to and have 
to be invested in shares of Deutsche Börse AG.

 Executive and Supervisory Boards  Financial statements  Notes Governance Management report

 Remuneration report



110

Miscellaneous
Post-contractual non-compete clause
A post-contractual non-compete clause applies to members of the Executive Board of Deutsche Börse AG 
who were appointed or reappointed to the Board on or after 1 October 2014. This means that the 
respective members of the Executive Board are contractually prohibited from acting for a competing 
company, or from undertaking competing activities, for a period of one year from the end of the employ-
ment relationship. The compensation payable during the non-compete period amounts to 75 per cent 
of the member’s final fixed remuneration and 75 per cent of the final cash bonus; it is payable for the 

-
pete clause before termination of the contract of service. 

Secondary employment
Additional appointments or sideline activities entered into by individual members of the Executive 
Board require the approval of the entire Executive Board and the Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
or, in certain cases, the entire Supervisory Board, which has delegated granting such approval to the 
Personnel Committee. If a member of the Executive Board is remunerated for an office performed 
at an affiliate of Deutsche Börse AG, this is offset against the Executive Board member’s entitlement 
to remuneration from Deutsche Börse AG.

Loans to Executive Board members
The company did not grant any loans or advances to members of the Executive Board during the 

Executive Board.

Payments to former members of the Executive Board
Former members of the Executive Board or their surviving dependents received payments of �4.5 mil-
lion in the year under review (2015: �2.3 million). The actuarial present value of the pension obliga-
tions as at the balance sheet date was �74.2 million in the year under review (2015: �71.8 million).
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Amount of Executive Board remuneration

awarded to each Executive Board member in accordance with No. 4.2.5 (3) of the GCGC is shown in 
the  tables “Granted contributions” and . Details disclosed in accordance with section 314 of 

Pensionable 
income Replacement rate

 
Pension expense

2016
� thous.

as at  
31 Dec 2016

%

as at  
31 Dec 2015

%

as at  
31 Dec 2016

� thous.

as at  
31 Dec 2015

� thous.
2016

� thous.
2015

� thous.

 
system

Andreas Preuss 800.0 50.0 50.0 11,241.2 10,082.6 1,331.7

Jeffrey Tessler 577.8 45.0 40.0 5,550.2 4,756.8 403.8

Total 1,377.8 16,791.4 14,839.4 1,735.5 1,166.3

system

Carsten Kengeter 1,000.0 40.0 40.0 548.2 436.0

Gregor Pottmeyer 500.0 48.0 48.0 2,711.5

Hauke Stars 500.0 36.0 36.0 652.5

Total 2,000.0 4,679.5 3,111.2 1,037.1 935.3
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2016 total expense for share-based payments

(total)
� thous.

the balance sheet date 
(total)

� thous.

Carsten Kengeter 1) 3,011.7
(2,550.2) (2,550.2)

Andreas Preuss 164.2 164.2
(4,578.1)

Gregor Pottmeyer 131.1
(3,422.8)

131.1

Hauke Stars
(3,184.1)

Jeffrey Tessler 130.3
(3,261.8)

130.3
(3,645.4)

Total 2) 3,558.2
(16,023.5)

4,637.8
(17,845.7)

1) Includes the expense recognised for the Co-Performance Investment Plan as well as the Performance Share Plan
 

in the previous year.



113

Number of phantom shares

Number of  
phantom shares  

on the 

Adjustments of  
number of phantom 

shares since  

Number of  
phantom shares  

as at  
31 Dec 2016

Carsten Kengeter Tranche 2016
Tranche 2015 1)

3,320
50,437 

Total 2015 to 2016 tranches 154,442

Andreas Preuss Tranche 2016
Tranche 2015
Tranche 2014

10,743 
0 
0 

Total 2014 to 2016 tranches 10,743

Gregor Pottmeyer Tranche 2016
Tranche 2015
Tranche 2014

7,148 
10,752 
12,045 

1,430 
–10,752 
–12,045 

8,578 
0 
0 

Total 2014 to 2016 tranches 8,578

Hauke Stars Tranche 2016
Tranche 2015
Tranche 2014

1,320 
0 
0 

Total 2014 to 2016 tranches 7,915

Jeffrey Tessler Tranche 2016
Tranche 2015
Tranche 2014

7,105
10,154 
11,512 

1,422 
–10,154 
–11,512 

8,527 
0 
0 

Total 2014 to 2016 tranches 8,527

Total 2014 to 2016 tranches 190,205
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Granted contributions

CEO (since 1 June 2015,  
appointed as at 4 Apr 2015)

 
2016 

� thous.

2016  
(min)

� thous.

2016
(max)

� thous.

 
2015 

� thous.

Fixed remuneration 1,500.0 1,500.0 1,500.0

76.4

Total 1,629.3 1,629.3 1,629.3 896.1

One-year variable remuneration 1,100.0 0 2,200.0

variable cash remuneration (individual targets) 1) – – –

cash component performance bonus (50 %) 2) 1,100.0 0 2,200.0 –

Multi-year variable remuneration 2,400.0 0 no max. 1,614.6

variable cash component (net income target, 3-year term) 1) – – –

SBP (3-year term) 1) – – –

share component performance bonus (50 %, 3-year holding period) 2) 3) 1,100.0 0 no max. –

performance shares (5-year term) 2) 4) 1,300.0 0 no max. –

Total 5,129.3 1,629.3 no max. 2,908.1

Service cost 548.2 548.2 548.2 436.0

Total remuneration 5,677.5 2,177.5 no max. 3,344.1

1)  Remuneration components under the remuneration system which was applicable until the end of 2015
2)  Remuneration components under the remuneration system which has been applicable since 2016

(no max.). For further information, please refer to the  corporate governance declaration.
4)  Target achievement levels for net income and total shareholder return as well as for the maximum number of performance shares are all capped at 

250 per cent. As there is no cap on the development of the share price, no maximum amount can be stated (no max.). For further information, please refer 
to the  corporate governance declaration.

Hauke Stars

 
2016 

� thous.

2016  
(min)

� thous.

2016 
(max)

� thous.

 
2015 

� thous.

Fixed remuneration 650.0 650.0 650.0 650.0

24.5 24.5 24.5 24.6

Total 674.5 674.5 674.5 674.6

One-year variable remuneration 516.7 0 1,033.4 300.0

variable cash remuneration (individual targets) 1) – – – 300.0

cash component performance bonus (50 %) 2) 516.7 0 1,033.4 –

Multi-year variable remuneration 1,033.4 0 no max. 1,250.0

variable cash component (net income target, 3-year term) 1) – – – 600.0

SBP (3-year term) 1) – – – 650.0

share component performance bonus (50 %, 3-year holding period) 2) 3) 516.7 0 no max. –

performance shares (5-year term) 2) 4) 516.7 0 no max. –

Total 2,224.6 674.5 no max. 2,224.6

Service cost

Total remuneration 2,433.6 883.5 no max. 2,433.9
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Andreas Preuss
Deputy CEO

 
2016

� thous.

2016 
(min)

� thous.

2016 
(max)

� thous.

 
2015 

� thous.

 
2016 

� thous.

2016
(min)

� thous.

2016 
(max)

� thous.

 
2015 

� thous.

800.0 800.0 800.0 800.0 720.0 720.0 720.0 720.0

31.7 31.7 31.7 31.5 28.5 28.5 28.5 28.4

831.7 831.7 831.7 831.5 748.5 748.5 748.5 748.4

701.4 0 1,402.8 418.0 560.0 0 1,120.0 320.0

– – – 418.0 – – – 320.0

701.4 0 1,402.8 – 560.0 0 1,120.0 –

1,402.8 0 no max. 1,686.1 1,120.0 0 no max. 1,360.0

– – – 836.0 – – – 640.0

– – – 850.1 – – – 720.0

701.4 0 no max. – 560.0 0 no max. –

701.4 0 no max. – 560.0 0 no max. –

2,935.9 831.7 no max. 2,935.6 2,428.5 748.5 no max. 2,428.4

1,331.7 1,331.7 1,331.7

4,267.6 2,163.4 no max. 3,932.9 2,708.4 1,028.4 no max. 2,718.4

Jeffrey Tessler

 
2016 

� thous.

2016
(min)

� thous.

2016 
(max)

� thous.

 
2015 

� thous.

761.6 761.6 761.6 761.6

18.2 18.2 18.2

779.8 779.8 779.8 780.8

556.7 0 1,113.4 330.0

– – – 330.0

556.7 0 1,113.4 –

1,113.4 0 no max. 1,340.0

– – – 660.0

– – – 680.0

556.7 0 no max. –

556.7 0 no max. –

2,449.9 779.8 no max. 2,450.8

403.8 403.8 403.8

2,853.7 1,183.6 no max. 2,619.8
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CEO  
(since 1 June 2015, 
appointed as  
at 4 Apr 2015)

Andreas Preuss
Deputy CEO

2016 
� thous.

2015 
� thous.

2016 
� thous.

2015
� thous.

Fixed remuneration 1,500.0 800.0 800.0

2) 76.4 31.7 31.5

Total 1,629.3 896.1 831.7 831.5

  

One-year variable remuneration 2,200.0 1,363.0 477.0

variable cash remuneration (individual targets) 3) – – 477.0

cash component performance bonus (50 %) 4) 2,200.0 – 1,363.0 –

Multi-year variable remuneration 3,670.6 2,047.2

variable cash component (consolidated net income target, 3-year term) 3) – –

variable share component (SBP tranches 2013–2015 / 2012) 3) 5) 1,470.6 – 4,578.1

share component performance bonus (50 %, 3-year holding period) 4) 2,200.0 – 1,363.0 –

performance shares (5-year term) 4) – – – –

Total 7,499.9 2,326.9 8,135.8 3,355.7

  

Service cost 548.2 436.0 1,331.7

Total remuneration (GCGC) 8,048.1 2,762.9 9,467.5 4,353.0

  

plus SBP tranche for the remuneration year 6) – – 850.1

plus performance shares 4) 1,300.0 – 701.4 –

less variable share component 3) –1,470.6 – –4,578.1

less service cost –548.2 –436.0 –1,331.7

Total remuneration (section 314 of the HGB) 7,329.3 3,146.6 4,259.1 3,112.6

  

Number of phantom shares 7) 15,105 8)

previous year. 

travel arrangements, living allowances, and expenses for tax and legal consultations.
3)  Remuneration components under the remuneration system which was applicable until the end of 2015
4)  Remuneration components under the remuneration system which has been applicable since 2016

6)  Corresponds to a 100 per cent target achivement level for the 2015 phantom share bonus. For further information on the supercession of the previous SBP, 
please refer to the  section „Supercession of the previous Share Bonus Plan (SBP)“.

7)  The number of prospective performance shares for the performance period determined at the 2016 grant date is calculated by dividing the target number by 
the average share price (Xetra ® closing price) of Deutsche Börse shares in December 2015 (�78.35) 

8)  The average share price (Xetra closing price) of Deutsche Börse shares was �54.27 for the calculation of the number of phantom shares in the assessment 
period from August to September 2014.
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Hauke Stars Jeffrey Tessler Total

2016 
� thous.

2015 
� thous.

2016 
� thous.

2015
� thous.

2016 
� thous.

2015 
� thous.

2016 
� thous.

2015 1)

� thous.

720.0 720.0 650.0 650.0 761.6 761.6 4,431.6 3,751.3

28.5 28.4 24.5 24.6 18.2 232.2 180.1

748.5 748.4 674.5 674.6 779.8 780.8 4,663.8 3,931.4

    

682.0 327.3 851.7 376.6 6,048.7 2,017.6

– – 327.3 – 376.6 – 2,017.6

– 682.0 – 851.7 – 6,048.7 –

1,448.4 3,866.1 722.4 1,617.0 22,814.8

– – 654.7 – 753.1 – 4,035.3

728.8 3,184.1 67.7 3,645.4 16,766.1 2,753.6

– 682.0 – 851.7 – 6,048.7 –

– – – – – – – –

6,540.4 2,556.6 5,222.6 1,724.3 6,128.6 2,774.4 33,527.3 12,737.9

    

403.8 2,772.6 2,101.6

6,820.3 2,846.6 5,431.6 1,933.6 6,532.4 2,943.4 36,299.9 14,839.5

    

– 720.0 – 650.0 – 680.0 –

560.0 – 516.7 – 556.7 – 3,634.8 –

–728.8 –3,184.1 –67.7 –3,645.4 –16,766.1 –2,753.6

–403.8 –2,772.6 –2,101.6

3,212.5 2,547.8 2,555.2 2,306.6 3,039.9 2,590.5 20,396.0 13,704.1

    

7,148 10,752 7,105 10,154 58,410
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Supervisory Board remuneration

Chairman receives remuneration of �170 thousand and the Deputy Chairman receives �105 thousand. 

for each committee position they hold. This amount rises to �35 thousand for members of the Audit 
Committee. Committee Chairmen’s remuneration is �40 thousand, or �60 thousand for the Chairman 
of the Audit Committee. If a Supervisory Board member belongs to several Supervisory Board commit-
tees, only the work in a maximum of two committees is remunerated. The remuneration for the work 
in the two most highly remunerated committees is awarded. Supervisory Board members who only 

remuneration and, if applicable, of the remuneration for their committee membership, for each month 
or part-month of membership.

With the Annual General Meeting on 11 May 2016, an attendance fee was introduced. For every 
meeting of the Supervisory Board or one of its committees attended by a member of the Supervisory 
Board in person, be it as a member of the Board or committee or a guest, they will receive an attend-
ance fee of �1 thousand. Where two or more meetings are held on the same day or on consecutive 
days, the attendance fee will only be granted once.

Remuneration paid to members of the Supervisory Board for advisory and agency services
There were no further agreements in the reporting period for advisory and agency services with members 
of the Supervisory Board, or with companies that employ members of the Supervisory Board of 
Deutsche Börse AG, or in which Supervisory Board members hold an interest.
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Supervisory Board remuneration 1)

2016 2015 2016 2)

� thous.
2015 

� thous.

Joachim Faber (Chairman) full year full year 257.0 250.0 

Richard Berliand (Deputy Chairman as from 13 May 2015) full year full year 175.8 

Ann-Kristin Achleitner 3) 11 May – 31 Dec – –

Irmtraud Busch 4) – – 41.7 

Karl-Heinz Flöther full year full year 142.0 137.1 

Marion Fornoff full year full year 107.0 100.0 

Hans-Peter Gabe full year full year 106.0 100.0 

Richard M. Hayden 4) – – 54.2 

Craig Heimark full year full year 103.0 116.7 

David Krell 4) – – 41.7 

Monica Mächler full year full year 140.0 125.8 

Friedrich Merz 4) – – 56.3 

Thomas Neiße 4) – – 41.7 

Heinz-Joachim Neubürger † – – 22.5 

Gerhard Roggemann (Deputy Chairman until 13 May 2015) 5) full year 54.2 144.6 

Erhard Schipporeit full year full year 166.0 166.7 

Jutta Stuhlfauth full year full year 135.0 120.0 

Martin Ulrici 4) – – 41.7 

Johannes Witt full year full year 143.0 137.5 

Amy Yip 6) full year 132.0 86.7 

Total 1,764.9 1,960.7

1) The recipient of the remuneration is determined individually by the members of the Supervisory Board. 
2) Remuneration including individual attendance fee 
3) Elected to the Supervisory Board on 11 May 2016 
4) Left the Supervisory Board on 13 May 2015
5) Left the Supervisory Board on 11 May 2016 
6) Elected to the Supervisory Board on 13 May 2015
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Corporate governance declaration

The corporate governance declaration in accordance with section 289a of the Handelsgesetzbuch 
(HGB, German Commercial Code) is part of the combined management report. In this declaration, 
the Executive Board and Supervisory Boards of Deutsche Börse AG report on the following: the decla-
ration of conformity in accordance with section 161 of the Aktiengesetz (AktG, German Stock Corpora-
tion Act), relevant information on corporate governance practices, the Executive and Supervisory Boards’ 
working practices and the composition and working practices of their committees, and the quotas for 
women established in accordance with sections 76 (4) and 111 (5) of the AktG.

Declaration of conformity in accordance with section 161 of the AktG

On 8 December 2016, the Executive Board and Supervisory Board of Deutsche Börse AG issued the 
following declaration of conformity:

“Declaration of Conformity regarding the German Corporate Governance Code in accordance with 
section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act
The following declaration of conformity refers to the version of the German Corporate Governance Code 
(GCGC) as of 5 May 2015, published in the Federal Gazette on 12 June 2015.

The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board of Deutsche Börse AG declare that the recommendations 
of the GCGC have been met almost completely and will be met with only few deviations. For details, 
please see below:

1. Agreement of severance payment caps when concluding Executive Board contracts (no. 4.2.3 
(4) GCGC)
Severance payment caps agreed upon in all current contracts with the members of the Executive Board 
complied and will continue to comply with the recommendation no. 4.2.3 (4) GCGC. As in the past, 
however, the Supervisory Board reserves the right to deviate from no. 4.2.3 (4) GCGC in the future 
under certain circumstances. The Supervisory Board is of the opinion that a deviation may become 
necessary in extraordinary cases.

2. Cap on total amount of compensations (no. 4.2.3 (2) (sentence 6) GCGC) and disclosure in the 
compensation report (no. 4.2.5 (3) GCGC)
No. 4.2.3 (2) (sentence 6) GCGC recommends that the amount of management compensation shall 
be capped, both overall and for individual components. Deutsche Börse AG deviated and will deviate 
from this recommendation.

Effective as of 1 January 2016, a new compensation system was implemented for the Executive Board 
of Deutsche Börse AG. This was also approved by the Annual General Meeting on 11 May 2016. The 
long-term variable compensation elements within the framework of this new compensation system are 
share-based. Even though a cap is provided in relation to the number of shares which are allocated 
to the members of the Executive Board, no cap is foreseen on the maximum achievable bonus amount 
as the development of the share price remains uncapped. In our opinion, a cap on the achievable 
amount would be inconsistent with the rationale of a share-based compensation system which aims 
to achieve an adequate participation in the economic risks and chances of the company by the members 
of the Executive Board.
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No. 4.2.5 (3) (subitem 1) GCGC recommends, inter alia, to present the maximum achievable compen-
sation for variable compensation components in the remuneration report. As there will be no cap in 
relation to the share-based variable compensation components, the maximum achievable compensation 
cannot be presented as recommended in no. 4.2.5 (3) (subitem 1) GCGC. Therefore, the deviation from 
the Code results from the fact that there is no cap on the maximum achievable compensation.” 

The annual declaration of conformity in accordance with section 161 of the AktG is also available 
online at  www.deutsche-boerse.com / declconformity. The declarations of conformity for the previous 

Information on corporate governance practices

Conduct policies
Deutsche Börse Group’s global orientation means that binding policies and standards of behaviour 
must apply at all of its locations around the world. The main aims of our principles for cooperation 
are to ensure responsibility, respect and mutual esteem. We also adhere to these principles when 
implementing the Group’s business model. Communication with customers, investors, employees 
and the public is based on timely information and transparency. In addition to focusing on generating 
a profit, Deutsche Börse Group’s business is managed in accordance with recognised standards of 
social responsibility.

Group-wide code of ethics
Acting responsibly means having values that are shared by all employees throughout the Group. The code 
of ethics adopted by the Executive Board, which is applicable throughout the Group, lays the founda-
tions for this by setting minimum ethical and legal standards. It is binding both on members of the 
Executive Board and on all other executives and employees within the Group. In addition to specifying 
concrete rules, it provides general guidance as to how employees can contribute to putting the values 
it sets out into practice in the course of their daily work. The aim of the code of ethics is to provide 

to resolve ethical and legal challenges. The code of ethics for Deutsche Börse Group employees can be 
found at  www.deutsche-boerse.com > Sustainability > Set an example > Employees > Code of ethics.

Code of conduct for suppliers and service providers
Deutsche Börse Group demands that high standards are met not only by its management and its 
employees, but also by its suppliers. The Group’s code of conduct for suppliers and service providers 
requires them to respect human rights and employee rights, and to comply with minimum standards. 
It was amended in 2016 to implement a resolution of the Executive Board incorporating the requirements 
of the UK’s Modern Slavery Act, which applies to all companies doing business in the United Kingdom. 
Most suppliers have signed up to these conditions, and all other key suppliers have made voluntary 
commitments that correspond to or in fact exceed Deutsche Börse Group’s standards. Service providers 
and suppliers must sign up to the code or enter into an equivalent voluntary commitment before they 
can do business with Deutsche Börse Group. The code is regularly reviewed in the light of current devel-
opments and amended as necessary. The code of conduct for suppliers and service providers can be 
found online at  www.deutsche-boerse.com > Sustainability > Set an example > Procurement 
management.

http://www.deutsche-boerse.com
http://www.deutsche-boerse.com
http://www.deutsche-boerse.com
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especially sensitive data and facts, responsibly. A number of rules are in force in the Group to ensure 
that employees comply with this. These cover both legal requirements and special policies applicable 
to the relevant industry segments, such as the whistleblowing system and risk and control manage-
ment policies.

Whistleblowing system
Deutsche Börse Group’s whistleblowing system gives employees and external service providers an 
opportunity to report non-compliant behaviour. Deutsche Börse Group has engaged Deloitte & Touche 
to act as an external ombudsman and to receive any such information submitted by phone or e-mail. 
Whistleblowers’ identities are not revealed to Deutsche Börse Group.

Risk and control management policies
Functioning control systems are an important part of stable business processes. Deutsche Börse Group’s 
enterprise-wide control systems are embedded in an overarching framework. This comprises the legal 
requirements, the recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code, international regulations 
and recommendations, and other company-specific policies, among other things. The executives 
responsible for the different elements of the control system are in close contact with each other and with 
the Executive Board, and report regularly to the Supervisory Board or its committees. Equally, the 
Group has an enterprise-wide risk management system that covers, and provides mandatory rules for, 
functions, processes and responsibilities. Details of the internal control system and risk management 
at Deutsche Börse Group can be found in the  “Internal management” and “Risk report” sections.

Values
Deutsche Börse Group’s business activities are based on the legal frameworks and ethical standards 
of the different countries in which it operates. A key way in which the Group underscores the values 
which it considers important is by joining initiatives and organisations advocating generally accepted 
ethical standards. Relevant memberships are as follows:

United Nations Global Compact   www.unglobalcompact.org: 
This voluntary business initiative established by the United 
Nations aims to achieve a more sustainable and more equitable 
global economy. At the heart of the compact are ten principles 
covering the areas of human rights, labour, the environment and 
anti-corruption. Deutsche Börse Group has submitted annual 
progress reports on its implementation of the UN Global Compact 
since 2009.

Diversity Charter   www.diversity-charter.com: As a signatory 
to the Diversity Charter, the company has committed to acknowl-
edging, respecting and promoting the diversity of its workforce, 
customers and business associates – irrespective of their age, 
gender, disability, race, religion, nationality, ethnic background, 
sexual orientation or identity.

International Labour Organisation  www.ilo.org: This UN 
agency is the international organisation responsible for drawing 
up and overseeing international labour standards; it brings 
together representatives of governments, employees and employers 
to jointly shape policies and programmes. Deutsche Börse Group 
has signed up to the ILO’s labour standards and hence agreed 
to abide by them.

The German Sustainability Code  www.nachhaltigkeitsrat.de /  
 en / home: The German Council for Sustainable Development 
formally adopts the German Sustainability Code and recom-
mends that the political and business communities make exten-
sive use of this voluntary instrument. Deutsche Börse Group 
has published an annual declaration of conformity with the 
German Sustainability Code since 2011.

http://www.unglobalcompact.org
http://www.diversity-charter.com
http://www.ilo.org
http://www.nachhaltigkeitsrat.de
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Executive Board and Supervisory Board working practices

The German Stock Corporation Act enshrines the dual board system – which assigns separate, inde-
pendent responsibilities to the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board – as a fundamental principle. 
These responsibilities are set out in detail in the following sections.

Both boards perform their duties in the interests of the company and with the aim of achieving a sustain-
able increase in value. Their actions are based on the principle of good corporate governance. As 
a result, Deutsche Börse AG’s Executive Board and Supervisory Board work closely together in a spirit 
of mutual trust, with the Executive Board providing the Supervisory Board with comprehensive information 
on the course of business in a regular and timely manner. In addition, the Executive Board regularly 
informs the Supervisory Board of all issues relating to corporate planning, the company’s business 
performance, the risk situation and risk management, compliance, and the company’s control systems. 
The Chief Executive Officer (CEO) reports to the Supervisory Board without undue delay, orally or in 
writing, on matters that are of special importance to the company. The company’s strategic orientation 
is examined in detail with the Supervisory Board and agreed with it, and implementation of the relevant 
measures is discussed at regular intervals. In particular, the chairmen of the two boards are in regular 
contact and discuss the company’s strategy, business performance and risk management. The Supervisory 
Board can also request reports from the Executive Board at any time, especially on matters relating to 
Deutsche Börse AG and on business transactions at subsidiaries that could have a significant impact 
on Deutsche Börse AG’s position.

Deutsche Börse AG’s Executive Board
The Executive Board manages Deutsche Börse AG and Deutsche Börse Group. The Board had five 
members in the reporting period. The main duties of the Executive Board include defining the Group’s 
corporate goals and strategic orientation, managing and monitoring the operating units, and establishing 
and monitoring an efficient risk management system. The Executive Board is responsible for preparing 
the consolidated and annual financial statements of Deutsche Börse AG as well as for producing 
financial information during the year. In addition, it must ensure compliance with legal requirements 
and official regulations.

The members of the Executive Board are jointly responsible for all aspects of management. Irrespective 
of this collective responsibility, the individual members manage the areas of the company assigned 
to them in the Executive Board’s schedule of responsibilities independently, and are personally respon-
sible for them. In addition to the business areas, there are two functional areas of responsibility – that 
of the CEO and that of the Chief Financial Officer (CFO). The business areas cover the operating 
areas, such as the company’s cash market activities and the derivatives business, securities settlement 
and custody, information technology and the market data business. The responsibilities within the 
Executive Board were reorganised effective 1 January 2016 so as to bundle areas of responsibility and 
related issues, and to enhance client orientation. Apart from the existing CEO and CFO functions, the 
following three divisions were established: (1) Clients, Products & Core Markets, (2) IT & Operations, 
Data & New Asset Classes, and (3) Cash Market, Pre-IPO & Growth Financing. Details can be found 
in the  “Overview of Deutsche Börse Group – Organisational structure” section.
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Further details of the Executive Board’s work are set out in the bylaws that the Supervisory Board has 
resolved for the Executive Board. Among other things, these list issues that are reserved for the full 
Executive Board, special measures requiring the approval of the Supervisory Board, and other procedural 
details and the arrangements for passing resolutions. The Executive Board holds regular board meetings; 
these are convened by the CEO, who coordinates the Executive Board’s work. Any Executive Board member 
can require a meeting to be convened. In accordance with its bylaws, the full Executive Board normally 
takes decisions on the basis of resolutions passed by a simple majority of the members voting on them 
in each case. If a vote is tied, the CEO has the casting vote. The CEO also has a right of veto, although 
he cannot enforce a resolution against a majority vote.

More information on the Executive Board, its composition, and members’ individual appointments and 
biographies can be found at  www.deutsche-boerse.com / execboard.

Deutsche Börse AG’s Supervisory Board
The Supervisory Board supervises and advises the Executive Board in its management of the company. 
It supports the Executive Board in significant business decisions and provides assistance on strategi-

for the Executive Board. In addition, the Supervisory Board is responsible for appointing the members 
of the Executive Board, for deciding on their total remuneration and for examining Deutsche Börse AG’s 
consolidated and annual financial statements. Details of the Supervisory Board’s work in financial 
year 2016 can be found in the  report of the Supervisory Board.

The Supervisory Board consists of twelve members, two-thirds of whom are shareholder representa-
tives and one-third of whom are employee representatives. The term of office for shareholder and 
employee representatives on the current Supervisory Board is identical. It lasts three years, and ends 
at the Annual General Meeting in 2018. 

The Supervisory Board holds at least six regular meetings every year. In addition, extraordinary meetings 
are held as required. The committees also hold regular meetings. The Supervisory Board passes its 
resolutions by a simple majority. If a vote is tied, the Chairman has the casting vote. In addition, the 

-
ment, and resolves suitable measures where necessary.

The Supervisory Board has resolved a list of requirements for its composition along with concrete 
goals. Detailed information on the profile for the Supervisory Board’s composition can be found in 
the  corporate governance report.

http://www.deutsche-boerse.com
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Supervisory Board committees and their working practices
The Supervisory Board’s goal in establishing committees is to improve the efficiency of its work by 
examining complex matters in smaller groups that prepare them for the full Supervisory Board. Addi-
tionally, the Supervisory Board has delegated individual decision-making powers to the committees 
to the extent that this is legally permissible. The Supervisory Board had six committees during the 
reporting period. Their individual responsibilities are outlined in the Supervisory Board’s bylaws. The 
committees’ rules of procedure correspond to those for the full Supervisory Board. Details of the duties 
and members of the individual committees can be found online at  www.deutsche-boerse.com > 
Investor Relations > Corporate Governance > Supervisory Board > Committees. 

The individual committee chairs report to the plenary meeting about the subjects addressed, and 
resolutions passed, in the committee meetings. Information on the Supervisory Board’s concrete work 
and meetings in the reporting period can be found in the  report of the Supervisory Board.

More information on the Supervisory Board and its committees, the individual members and their 
appointments and biographies, can be found at  www.deutsche-boerse.com / supervboard. 

In accordance with the Gesetz für die gleichberechtigte Teilhabe von Frauen und Männern an Führungs-
positionen in der Privatwirtschaft und im öffentlichen Dienst (FührposGleichberG, German Act on 
the Equal Participation of Women and Men in Leadership Positions in the Private and Public Sectors), 

on these boards and for the two management levels directly beneath the Executive Board; these quotas 
apply in all cases to Deutsche Börse AG.

At the time when the targets for Deutsche Börse AG’s Supervisory Board and Executive Board were 

Board was 20 per cent. In view of this, the Supervisory Board resolved on 16 June 2015 that the current 
proportion of female members of the Supervisory Board (33.33 per cent) and the Executive Board 
(20 per cent) should be maintained as a minimum requirement until the end of the implementation 
period (30 June 2017). Following the end of the 2016 Annual General Meeting, the proportion 
of women members on the Supervisory Board exceeded this minimum requirement and amounted to 
41.67 per cent. The proportion of female Executive Board members remained unchanged, at 20 per cent.

The proportion of women in management positions at the two levels directly beneath Deutsche Börse AG’s 
Executive Board amounted to 6 per cent (level 1) and 10 per cent (level 2) on 15 September 2015, 
the date when the Executive Board defined the relevant targets. At that time, the Executive Board 
resolved that the then current proportions of women on these executive levels (i.e. 6 per cent for level 
1 and 10 per cent for level 2) should be maintained as a minimum requirement until 30 June 2017. 
As at 31 December 2016, women in management positions at these two levels accounted for 10 per cent 
and 11 per cent respectively. Please refer to the  
female quotas adopted” section for further information on Deutsche Börse AG’s targets for women in 
management 
indicators.

http://www.deutsche-boerse.com
http://www.deutsche-boerse.com
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Supervisory Board committees in 2016
Composition and responsibilities

Audit Committee

Members Composition

Erhard Schipporeit  
(Chairman)

Karl-Heinz Flöther

Monica Mächler

Johannes Witt

at least four members, who are elected by the Supervisory Board

prerequisites for the chair of the committee: the person concerned must be independent and must have 
specialist knowledge and experience of applying accounting principles and internal control processes 

persons who cannot chair the committee: the Chairman of the Supervisory Board; former members 
of the company’s Executive Board whose appointment ended less than two years ago

Responsibilities

capital management 

handles issues relating to the adequacy and effectiveness of the company’s control systems,  
and in particular to risk management, compliance and internal auditing

audit reports

handles accounting issues, including the oversight of the accounting and reporting process

management report, discusses the audit report with the auditor and prepares the Supervisory Board’s 
resolutions adopting the annual financial statements and approving the consolidated financial 
statements, as well as the resolution on the Executive Board’s proposal on the appropriation of the 
unappropriated surplus

prepares the Supervisory Board’s recommendation to the Annual General Meeting on the election 

half-yearly financial report, to the extent that the latter is audited or reviewed by an auditor, and 
makes corresponding recommendations to the Supervisory Board

ensures the obligatory independence of the external auditors

non-audit services provided by the auditor

issues the engagement letter to the auditor, including in particular the review or audit of half-yearly 

prepares the Supervisory Board’s resolution approving the declaration of conformity in accordance 
with section 161 of the AktG, and the corporate governance declaration in accordance with section 
289a of the HGB
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Nomination Committee

Members Composition

Joachim Faber  
(Chairman)

Ann-Kristin Achleitner 
(since 11 May 2016)

Gerhard Roggemann  
(until 11 May 2016)

Amy Yip

the Chairman of the Personnel Committee also chairs the Nomination Committee 

at least two other members (solely shareholder representatives who are also members of the Personnel 
Committee)

Responsibilities

proposes suitable candidates to the Supervisory Board for inclusion in the Supervisory Board’s election 
proposal to the Annual General Meeting

Personnel Committee

Members Composition

Joachim Faber  
(Chairman)

Ann-Kristin Achleitner 
(since 11 May 2016)

Marion Fornoff

Gerhard Roggemann  
(until 11 May 2016)

Amy Yip

chairman of the Supervisory Board as committee chairman

at least three other members, who are elected by the Supervisory Board and one of whom must be 
an employee representative

Responsibilities

handles issues relating to the contracts of service for Executive Board members, and in particular 
to the structure and amount of their remuneration

addresses succession planning for the Executive Board 

approves appointments of members of Deutsche Börse AG’s Executive Board to other executive boards, 
supervisory boards, advisory boards and similar boards, as well as honorary appointments and sideline 
activities, and approves any exemptions from the requirement to obtain approval

approves the grant or revocation of general powers of attorney

approves cases in which the Executive Board grants employees retirement pensions or other individually 

Risk Committee

Members Composition

 Richard Berliand  
(Chairman)

Monica Mächler

Erhard Schipporeit

Jutta Stuhlfauth

at least four members, who are elected by the Supervisory Board

Responsibilities

reviews the risk management framework, including the overall risk strategy and risk appetite,  
and the risk roadmap

takes note of and reviews the periodic risk management and compliance reports

Group entities, to the extent legally permissible
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Strategy Committee

Members Composition

 Joachim Faber  
(Chairman)

Ann-Kristin Achleitner 
(since 11 May 2016)

Richard Berliand

Hans-Peter Gabe 

Gerhard Roggemann  
(until 11 May 2016)

Jutta Stuhlfauth

Amy Yip 

chairman of the Supervisory Board as committee chairman

Responsibilities

addresses fundamental strategic and business issues, as well as important projects for 
Deutsche Börse Group

Technology Committee

Members Composition

Richard Berliand 
(Chairman)

Karl-Heinz Flöther

Craig Heimark

Johannes Witt

at least three members, who are elected by the Supervisory Board

Responsibilities

supports the Supervisory Board in meeting its supervisory duties with respect to the information 
technology used to execute the Group’s business strategy, and with respect to information security

advises on IT strategy and architecture

oversees monitoring of technological innovations, the provision of IT services, the technical perfor-
mance and stability of the IT systems, operational IT risks, and information security services and risks
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Auditor´s Report 

We have audited the annual financial statements, comprising the balance sheet, the 
profit and loss account and the notes to the financial statements, together with the 
bookkeeping system, and the combined management report of Deutsche Börse AG, 
Frankfurt/Main for the financial year from January 1 to December 31, 2016. The 
maintenance of the books and records and the preparation of the annual financial 
statements and combined management report in accordance with German 
commercial law and supplementary provisions of the shareholder agreement/articles 
of incorporation are the responsibility of the Company's executive board. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the annual financial statements, together 
with the bookkeeping system, and the combined management report based on our 
audit. 

We conducted our audit of the annual financial statements in accordance with 
Section 317 of the German Commercial Code [HGB] and German generally accepted 
standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the German Institute 
of Public Auditors [IDW]. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit 
such that misstatements materially affecting the presentation of the net assets, 
financial position and results of operations in the annual financial statements in 
accordance with German principles of proper accounting and in the combined 
management report are detected with reasonable assurance. Knowledge of the 
business activities and the economic and legal environment of the Company and 
expectations as to possible misstatements are taken into account in the 
determination of audit procedures. The effectiveness of the accounting-related 
internal control system and the evidence supporting the disclosures in the books and 
records, the annual financial statements and the combined management report are 
examined primarily on a test basis within the framework of the audit. The audit 
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
the executive board, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the annual 
financial statements and combined management report. We believe that our audit 
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Our audit has not led to any reservations. 
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In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the annual financial statements 
comply with the legal requirements and give a true and fair view of the net assets, 
financial position and results of operations of the Company in accordance with 
German principles of proper accounting. The combined management report is 
consistent with the annual financial statements, complies with the German statutory 
requirements, and as a whole provides a suitable view of the Company's position and 
suitably presents the opportunities and risks of future development. 

  

Frankfurt/Main, March 10, 2017  

KPMG AG 
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft 
[Original German version signed by:] 

 

  
Braun 
Wirtschaftsprüfer 
[German Public Auditor] 

Dielehner 
Wirtschaftsprüfer 
[German Public Auditor] 

 

 

 

 

 



Responsibility Statement by the Executive Board  

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable reporting principles, the 
financial statements of Deutsche Börse Aktiengesellschaft give a true and fair view of the assets, 
liabilities, financial position and profit and loss of the company, and the management report 
includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position of 
the company, together with a description of the principal opportunities and risks associated with 
the expected development of the company.  
 
 
Frankfurt/Main, 10 March 2017 

Deutsche Börse Aktiengesellschaft 

The Executive Board 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

 

Carsten Kengeter Andreas Preuß Gregor Pottmeyer 

   

 

 

 

Hauke Stars Jeffrey Tessler  
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